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This Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Form 10-K"), incling Managemers’ Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditionl &esult
of Operations in Part Il, ltem 7 below, includesWardlooking statements within the meaning of SectioA &7 the Securities Act of 1933,
amended, and Section 21E of the Securities ExchAngef 1934, as amended (the “Exchange AcRl).statements other than statement
historical facts contained in this Form KO-including statements regarding our future finah@osition, business strategy and plans
objectives of management for future operations,fareard-looking statements. The words “believaryidy,” “will,” “estimate,” “continue,
“anticipate,” “intend,” “should,” “plan,” “expect’and similar expressions, as they relate to us,irdended to identify forwardboking
statements. We have based these ford@olling statements largely on our current expeatatiand projections about future events
financial trends that we believe may affect ouafinial condition, results of operations, businesstegy and financial needs. These forware
looking statements are subject to a number of rigksertainties and assumptions described in “Risétors”in Part I, Item 1A below, at
elsewhere in this Form 1R; including, among other things: the future growtththe commercial business, retail, and broadbsemice
provider markets; speed of adoption of wirelesswoeting worldwide; our business strategies and bBgment plans; our success
introduction of new products and technologies; fataperating expenses and financing requirementscampetition and competitive fact
in the commercial business, retail, and broadb&ndce provider markets. In light of these riskacertainties and assumptions, the forwarc
looking events and circumstances discussed irFiim 10K may not occur and actual results could differeniatly from those anticipated
implied in the forward-looking statements. All faawd-looking statements in this Form KOare based on information available to us as €
date hereof and we assume no obligation to upagtsiach forwardeoking statements. The following discussion shdgdead in conjunctic
with our consolidated financial statements andatmmpanying notes contained in this Form 10-K.

Iltem 1. Business
General

We are a global networking company that deliversowrative products to consumers, businesses anécaegroviders. Our business
managed in three specific business units: retaitnroercial, and service provider. The retail businarit consists of high performan
dependable and easyiise home networking, home video security, storagedigital media products. The commercial business consist
of business networking, storage and security smstthat bring enterprise class functionality ddesismall and mediursized businesses at
affordable price. The service provider business comsists of made-to-order and refaibven whole home networking hardware and soft
solutions as well as 4G LTE hotspots sold to serpioviders for sale to their subscribers. We agamized into the following three geogray
territories: Americas, Europe, Middle-East and édri("EMEA") and Asia Pacific ("APAC"). For furthatetail, refer to Note 12Segmer
Information, Operations by Geographic Area and ©ustr Concentratiol, in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementiseim 8 of Part |
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We were incorporated in Delaware on January 8, 1@88 principal executive offices are located &b East Plumeria Drive, San Jc
California 95134, and our telephone number atltegtion is (408) 907-8000. Our website addressnsv.netgear.com.

In the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 , @hd 2we generated net revenue of $1.39 billiof.3% billion , and $1.27 billion
respectively.

Markets

Our mission is to be the innovative leader in cating the world to the Internet. This includes gaal of being the leading provider
innovative networking products to the consumer,jiimss, and service provider markets. A number cfofa are driving today's demand
networking products within these markets. As thenber of computing devices, such as smart phonptgda and tablets, has increase
recent years, networks - especially WiFi networkse being deployed more broadly in order to sh@@mation and resources among u
and devices. This information and resource shaoiccurs internally, through a local area networkeaternally, via the Internet. To te
advantage of complex applications, advanced comgation capabilities and rich multimedia contenterssare upgrading their Inter
connections by deploying higgpeed broadband access technologies. Users alsthgeeonvenience and flexibility of operating thieiptops
smart phones, tablets and related computing devitdle accessing their content in a more mobilewoeless, manner. In addition, mar
demand for Smart TV products has increased sigmiflg, where users seek to connect their televisitm the Internet for streami
entertainment. As the usage of networks, includiregInternet, has increased, users have become maih focused on the security of ti
connections and the protection of the data withairtnetworks. And finally, the connected homeeasdming a reality with smart devices s
as home security cameras that let users watchtbg@grhome from their smart phone.
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Consumers, businesses and service providers demanthplete set of wired and wireless networking br@hdband products that
tailored to their specific needs and budgets, wirileorporating the latest networking technologigfiese users require the contir
introduction of new and refined products and ofterk extensive IT resources and technical knowletdgerefore, they demand 'plug-apidy
or easy-tonstall and use products that require little ommaintenance, and customer service and support.alievb that these users also pr
the convenience of obtaining a networking solufimm a single company with whom they are familias;these users expand their netw:
they tend to be loyal purchasers of that brancddition, purchasing decisions of users in thesekets are also driven by the affordability
networking products. To provide reliable, easy-e-products at an attractive price, we believecaessful supplier must have a compavigie
focus on the unique requirements of these markeesational discipline and costficient infrastructure and processes that allowdfficien
product development, manufacturing and distribution

Sales Channels

We sell our products through multiple sales chasmebridwide, including traditional retailers, ordirretailers, wholesale distributc
direct market resellers ("DMRs"), value-added desel("VARs"), and broadband service providers.

Wholesale DistributionOur distribution channel supplies our productsdtaiters, esommerce resellers, DMRs, VARs and broad!
service providers. We sell directly to our disttims, the largest of which are Ingram Micro, IM@&H Distributing Company and Tech Di
Corporation.

Retailers. Our retail channel primarily supplies products tlaa¢ sold into the consumer market. We sell diyett] or enter int
consignment arrangements with, a number of ourttoadl and online retailers. The remaining trauh@l retailers, as well as our onl
retailers, are fulfilled through wholesale distiitms. We work directly with our retail channels mrarket development activities, such as cc
advertising, on-line promotions and video demonising, instant rebate programs, event sponsorstufsales associate training.

DMRs and VARsWe primarily sell into the commercial business negpkace through an extensive network of DMRs andR§AOu
DMRs include companies such as CDW and Insight. ¥Aftlude our network of registered Powershift ient, and resellers that are
registered in our Powershift partner program. DNMIRd VARs may receive sales incentives, marketipgast and other program benefits fr
us. Our DMRs and VARs generally purchase our prtsditcough our wholesale distributors.

Broadband Service Providerg/e also supply our products directly to broadbaentise providers in the United States and inteometily
providing cable, DSL and 4G LTE broadband. Serpiceviders supply our products to their businesstamde subscribers.

The largest portion of our net revenues was derfvech Americas sales in the year ended DecembeB314. Americas sales as
percentage of net revenue decreased from 57.7ke ipdar ended December 31, 2013 to 55.3% in theeyeked December 31, 201%e haw
continuously committed resources to expanding ot@rnational operations and sales channels. Aaogisdiwe are subject to a number of r
related to international operations such as maoru@oic and microeconomic conditions, geopoliticetability, preference for locally branc
products, exchange rate fluctuations, increasefitdlfy in managing inventory, challenges of staffiand managing foreign operations,
effect of international sales on our tax structamed changes in local tax laws. See NoteSEgment Information, Operations by Geogra
Area and Customer Concentrati, in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementseim 8 of Part Il of this Annual Report on Form KQfor
further discussion of net revenue by geographimoreg

None of our customers accounted for 10% or moreuofnet revenue for the years ended December 34, 2013 and 2012. See N
12, Segment Information, Operations by Geographic Axed Customer Concentrationin Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemen
Item 8 of Part Il of this Annual Report on Form KQfor further details on customer concentrations.
Product Offerings

Our product line consists of devices that creatkextend wired and wireless networks as well ascdsvthat provide a special funct
and attach to the network, such as network attast@dge, IP security cameras and home automativicels and services. These product:
available in multiple configurations to address tieeds of our customers in each geographic regiarhich our products are sold.

Commercial business networkinthese products are sold primarily in our commergiediness unit and include:
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» Ethernet switches, which are multiple port devigssd to network computing devices and peripheiial&thernet wiring

» Wireless controllers and access points, which ardcés used to manage and control multiple WiFebstations on a campus ¢
facility providing WiFi connections to smart phonéablets, laptops and other computing devices;

» Internet security appliances, which provide in&t access through capabilities such as anti-@ngsantispam; an

« Unified storage, which delivers file and block badskta into a single shared storage system, mettindemands of small enterpri:
education, hospitality and health markets througkasy-to-use interface for managing multiple gfenarotocols.

Broadband acces®Broadband access is a high speed transmission meslich as DOCSIS3, VDSL, ADSL, FTTx or LTE, use
connect to the Internet over public high speed ast&« We develop networking products that enaldermection to broadband networks
create whole home WiFi connectivity that are saldur service provider and retail business unitsianlude:

» Gateways, which are routers with integrated modéondnternet acces

» Hotspots, which are 3G and 4G LTE WiFi access pdinat enable people to access the internet ogahand/or for use at home
place of traditional wired broadband;

* |IP telephony products, used for transmitting va@iommunications over a network; ¢
» Media servers, which store files and multimediatenhfor access by tablets, laptops, smart phoné®ther Internet enabled devic

Smart Home Network Connectivigroducts that create and extend home networks madt svired and wireless devices that attac
those networks are sold in our service providerratail business units and include:

* Routers, which connect the home or office netwookthe Internet via broadband mode
* WiFirange extenders, which extend the range ofifei home network to eliminate dead zoi

* Media adapters, which connect TVs, audio playend, game consoles to a network or wirelessly disgi@ycontents of your sm
phone, laptop or tablet to a big screen TV;

» Powerline adapters and bridges, which enable devicbe connected to the network over existingtetad wiring;

» Multimedia over Coax Alliance standard (“MoCAddapters and bridges, which enable devices to beeobed to the network o\
existing coaxial wiring;

* Remote video security systems, which providesyiee security accessible by smart phone, tabl®f®and MAC
» Wireless network interface cards and adapters, iwdimable devices to be connected to the networdesisly; an
» Ethernet network interface cards and adapters,hwdm@ble devices to be connected to the networkEthernet wiring

We design our products to meet the specific neédiseoconsumer, business and service provider rntgrialoring various elements
the software interface, the product design, inclgdiomponent specification, physical charactesssiech as casing, design and coloration
specific user interface features to meet the neédeese markets. We also leverage many of oumtdolyical developments, high volu
manufacturing, technical support and engineerifigétructure across our markets to maximize busieéficiencies.

Our products that target the business market anerghly designed with an industrial appearanceluding metal cases and, for sc
product categories, the ability to mount the praduithin standard data networking racks. These petaltypically include higher port cour
higher data transfer rates and other performanagacteristics designed to meet the needs of a coorahbusiness user. For example, we ¢
data transfer rates up to ten gigabits per secondur business products to meet
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the higher capacity requirements of business uSensie of these products are also designed to supppnsmission modes such as fiber ¢
cabling, which is common in more sophisticated hess environments. Security requirements within maducts for commercial busin
broadband access include firewall, virtual privaggwork and content threat management capabithigisallow for secure interactions betw
remote offices and business headquarter locatizes the Internet. Our connectivity product offesnfpr the commercial business ma
include enhanced security and remote configurghiliten required in a business setting. Our ReadyRfamily of network attached store
products implements redundant array of independisks data protection, enabling businesses to stwdgorotect critical data easily, efficier
and intelligently.

Our vision for the home network is about intelliggrcontrolling and monitoring all devices connatte the home network at all tim
thus creating a Smart Home. Our focus is to costitauintroduce new products into growth areas fibiah the basis of Smart Homes, suck
the fastest WiFi standards with broadest coveragdatest technology (802.11ac) WiFi routers amketers; home network storage prod
with an easy to use user interface and remote cmedss, higher capacity and resilience; high spg@@SIS 3.0, xDSL and fiber gatew:
with more integrated functions; 4G LTE gateways aim€ard hotspots; and home security cameras ataheation devices such as our /£
Smart Home security cameras. We continue to anreoand introduce new products in these growth market

Our vision for the commercial network is about gased effectiveness and efficiency of the hybraidlaccess network. We belis
small and medium-sized enterprises will continuentwve into cloudsased applications, such as: Salesforce.com, Remgrél, LifeSize vide
conferencing, SuccessFactors, Workday, and othersddition, we believe these enterprises will mowe utility-like on demand computil
power supplied by third party data centers. Alsaréasingly more enterprises are enabling the BYrihg your own device) environme
allowing smart phones, tablets, and netbooks tthbebusiness computing devices of choice. Theselsrevill place a greater demand
commercial networks. To meet this demand we arednting next generation commercial products ind@gace, such as: Power over Ethe
(PoE) switches, 10 gigabit Ethernet switches, lugpacity local and remote unified storage, smathtlium capacity campus wireless L/
and security appliances.

Competition

The consumer, business and service provider magketsntensely competitive and subject to rapichetogical change. We exp
competition to continue to intensify. Our princigaimpetitors include:

» within the consumer markets, companies suchgded ASUS, Belkin/Linksys, D4ink, Dropcam, Foscam, Logitech, Roku, TP L
Synology and Western Digital;

» within the business markets, companies such lksdATelesys, Barracuda, Buffalo, Data RoboticgllDD-Link, Fortinet, Hewlett-
Packard, Huawei, Cisco Systems, QNAP Systems, &=d@gahnology, SonicWALL, Synology, WatchGuard &\ddstern Digital; an

» within the service provider markets, companiashsas Actiontec, Arcadyan, ARRIS, AVM, ComtrendLIDk, Hitron, Huawei
Novatel Wireless, Pace, Sagem, Scientific AtlaaC{sco Systems company), Sercomm, SMC Networkshfi€olor, TI-Link,
Ubee, Compal Broadband, ZTE and ZyXEL.

Other current and potential competitors include arous local vendors such as Devolo, LEA and AVMNEimope, and Corega and Me
in Japan. Our potential competitors also includeeotonsumer electronics vendors, including LG feteics, Microsoft, Panasonic, Samst
Sony, Toshiba and Vizio, who could integrate nekirgy and streaming capabilities into their lineppbducts, such as televisions, set top b
and gaming consoles, and our channel customersmydecide to offer sebiranded networking products. We also face compatitiorr
service providers who may bundle a free networklagice with their broadband service offering, whiebuld reduce our sales if we are
the supplier of choice to those service providerghe service provider space, we also face sicanifi and increased competition from orig
design manufacturers ("ODMs") and contract manufacs ("CMs") who are selling and attempting td fetir products directly to servi
providers around the world.

Many of our existing and potential competitors hdeager operating histories, greater name recagnitind substantially grea
financial, technical, sales, marketing and othepueces. As a result, they may have more advaresthology, larger distribution chann
stronger brand names, better customer service ecegbs to more customers than we do. For examplsleitd®ackard has significant bre
name recognition and has an advertising preserugtamtially greater than ours. Similarly, Cisco t8yss is well recognized as a leade
providing networking products to businesses andsbstantially greater financial resources thardaeSeveral of our competitors, such as C
Link, offer a range of products that directly cortgpeith most of our product offerings. Several af other competitors primarily compete i
more limited manner. For example, HewlRtdekard sells networking products primarily tardedé larger businesses or enterprises. How
the competitive environment in which
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we operate changes rapidly. Other companies wghifsgtéant resources could also become direct congpst either through acquiring
competitor or through internal efforts.

We believe that the principal competitive factordhe consumer, business and service provider ngafée networking products inclu
product breadth, size and scope of the sales chamaad name, timeliness of new product introdartdi product availability, performan
features, functionality and reliability, price, easf-installation, maintenance and use, and customeficeeand support. We believe
products are competitive in these markets basdtese factors.

To remain competitive, we must invest significaesaurces in developing new products and enhanaimgcarrent products whi
continuing to expand our sales channels and maintacustomer satisfaction worldwide.

Research and Development

As of December 31, 2014 , we had 358ployees engaged in research and developmentsu@uess depends on our ability to dev
products that meet changing user needs and tdgatdcand proactively respond to evolving technploga timely and costffective manne
Accordingly, we have made investments in our redeaand development department in order to effelgtivevaluate new thirgharty
technologies, develop new feuse technologies, and develop and test new pi2d0ar research and development employees woHelg
with our technology and manufacturing partnersrtogour products to market in a timely, high qtyaiind cost-efficient manner.

We identify, qualify or selfievelop new technologies, and we work closely witin various technology suppliers and manufactt
partners to develop products using one or moraetlevelopment methodologies described below.

ODM. Under the ODM methodology, we define the productoept and specification and recommend the techgddetection. We the
coordinate with our technology suppliers while tragvelop the product meeting our specification. é@ntain new products, one or m
subsystems of the design can be donbounse and then integrated with the remaining depignes from the ODM. Once prototypes
completed, we work with our partners to completedbbugging and systems integration and testingr Abmpletion of the final tests, age
approvals and product documentation, the produetiéased for production.

In-House Developmentinder the inhouse development model, one or more subsysteniseoproduct are designed and devel
utilizing the NETGEAR engineering team. Under timiedel, some of the primary technology is developeldouse. We then work closely w
either an ODM or a CM to complete the developmérthe entire design, perform the necessary testind,obtain regulatory approvals be
the product is released for production.

OEM. Under the original equipment manufacturer ("OEMtgthodology, which we use for a limited number aiducts, we define tl
product specification and then purchase the profioot OEM suppliers that have existing productinfif our design requirements. In sc
cases, once a technology supplier's product icteelewe work with the OEM supplier to complete ttesmetic changes to fit into «
mechanical and packaging design, as well as ounrdentation and graphical user interface ("GUI"nhdt&rd. The OEM supplier comple
regulatory approvals on our behalf. When all desigrification and regulatory testing is completé product is released for production.

Our internal research and development efforts foomsdeveloping and improving the usability, rellapj functionality, cost an
performance of our products.

Manufacturing

Our primary manufacturers are Cameo Communicatioos Delta Networks Incorporated, Hon Hai Pregisindustry Co., Ltd., (mo
commonly known as Foxconn Corporation), Sercommp@ation, Pegatron Corporation (which was spunacd#SUSTek Computer, Inc.
January 2008) and Wistron New Web Corporationgfalthich are headquartered in Taiwan. We also wdeXH RONICS with headquarters
Singapore and the United States. The actual matwifiag of our products occurs primarily in mainla@tina and Vietnam, with pilot and low-
volume manufacturing in Taiwan on a select basie.digtribute our manufacturing among these key l&nspto avoid excessive concentra
with a single supplier. Because substantially albor manufacturing occurs in mainland China anétWam, any disruptions from natt
disasters, health epidemics and political, socral aconomic instability would affect the ability ofir manufacturers to manufacture
products. In addition, our manufacturers in Chisaéhcontinued to increase our costs of productamticularly in the recent years. Th
increased costs have affected our margins andyatmliower prices for our products to stay comjpedi If our manufacturers or warehous
facilities are disrupted or destroyed, we would énao other readily available alternatives for mactiring our products and our busir
would be significantly impacted. In addition to itheesponsibility for the manufacturing of our prads, our manufacturers purchase
necessary parts and materials to produce comfiileished goods. To maintain quality standards far suppliers,
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we have established our own product quality org#tiom based in Hong Kong and mainland China. Theyrasponsible for auditing a
inspecting process and product quality on the psemof our ODMs, CMs and OEMSs.

We obtain several key components from limited de sources. For example, many of the semiconduetedsmetamaterials used in
products are designed for use in our products amdobtained from sole source suppliers on a pueclader basis. In addition, so
components that are used in all our products ata@raa from limited sources. These components d&leonnector jacks, plastic casings
physical layer transceivers. We also obtain switghfiabric semiconductors, which are used in ourftht switches and Internet gate'
products, wireless local area network chipsets whi@ used in all of our wireless products and teaiétwork chipsets which are used in
wireless gateways and hotspots from a limited nunobsuppliers. Our third party manufacturers gafigmpurchase these components on
behalf on a purchase order basis. If these sotade® satisfy our supply requirements, our apitid meet scheduled product deliveries w
be harmed and we may lose sales and experien@ag®ad component costs.

We currently outsource warehousing and distributagistics to four main thirgbarty providers who are responsible for warehoy
distribution logistics and order fulfillment. In diion, these parties are also responsible for seoiguration and r@ackaging of ot
products including bundling components to form kitserting appropriate documentation, disk drigafiguration, and adding power adapt
APL Logistics Americas, Ltd. in City of Industry,alifornia serves the Americas region, Kerry LogistLtd. in Hong Kong serves the A
Pacific region, DSV Solutions B.V. Netherlands ssrthe EMEA region, and Agility Logistics Pty Lid. Matraville, NSW, Australia serv
Australia and New Zealand.

Sales and Marketing

As of December 31, 2014 , we had 3&@mployees engaged in sales, marketing, and tedhsuggort. We work directly with o
customers on market development activities, suctoaslvertising, online promotions and video demonisinat event sponsorship and s
associate training. We also participate in majalusiry trade shows and marketing events. Our matketepartment is comprised of
channel marketing, product marketing and corparadgketing groups.

Our channel marketing team focuses on working ttithsales teams to maximize our participation anciel partner marketing activit
and merchandise our products both online and i sto

Our product marketing group focuses on productegsa product development roadmaps, the new pradtreiduction process, prodi
lifecycle management, demand assessment and ceivgethalysis. The group works closely with ouresand research and developr
groups to align our product development roadmaméet customer technology demands from a strategigppctive. The group also ensi
that product development activities, product lawschand ongoing demand and supply planning occar wellimanaged, timely basis
coordination with our development, manufacturingl aales groups, as well as our ODM, OEM and sdlasnel partners.

Our corporate marketing group is responsible fdindey and building our corporate brand and sugpgrthe business units with creat
and marketing strategies and tactics. The groupsies on defining our brand promise and marketingsages on a worldwide basis. 1
group is also responsible for advertising, pubktations, events, social media, the corporate websimail marketing and all creat
production for all business units.

We conduct most of our international sales and etar§ operations through whollywned subsidiaries, which operate via sales
marketing subsidiaries and branch offices worldwide

Customer Support

We design our products with “plug-and-plagase of use. We respond globally to customer aqumsstihrough a variety of vent
including phone, chat and email. Customers cangasaelfhelp service through the comprehensive knowledgebad the user forum on «
website. Customer support is provided through ahipation of a limited number of permanent employaad use of subcontracted, out
sourced resources. Our permanent employees desigriiechnical support database and are responsibldrdining and managing c
outsourced sulentractors. They also handle escalations fronotiteourced resources. We utilize the informatioimegh from customers |
our customer support organization to enhance aduymt offerings, including further simplifying thestallation process.

Intellectual Property

We believe that our continued success will depeidaily on the technical expertise, speed of tedbgy implementation, creative sk
and management abilities of our officers and keplegees, plus ownership of a limited but importseit of
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copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets and patdfggprimarily rely on a combination of copyrightademark and trade secret and patent
nondisclosure agreements with employees, conssl@mti suppliers and other contractual provisionsstablish, maintain and protect
proprietary rights. We hold approximately 155 isbumited States patents that expire between yéHrS 8nd 2032 and 75 foreign patents
expire between 2015 and 2030. In addition, we atlyrdhave approximately 125 pending United States f@reign patent applications rela
to technology and products offered by us. We addp on thirdparty licensors for patented hardware and softWeesse rights in technolo
that are incorporated into and are necessary éopreration and functionality of our products. Guccess will depend in part on our contir
ability to have access to these technologies.

We have trade secret rights for our products, atingi mainly of product design, technical produstuimentation and software. We ¢
own, or have applied for registration of trademariks connection with our products in the United t8¢aand internationally, includi
NETGEAR, AirCard, AirCard Enabled, Aircard Watchak/atcher, Watcher and Wireless Expert, AroundTOMETGEAR Green, tt
NETGEAR Green logo, Everybo’s Connecting, Arlo, Genie, Genie+, the Genie IdgeadyShare, Neo TV, the Neo TV logo, NETGE
Stora, the NETGEAR Stora logo, ProSafe, RangeMa&aadgNAS, ReadyDrop, ReadyData, ReadyCloud, ReadyDIRéadyRecover, Smi
Wizard, ProSecure, the ProSecure logo, Push2T\éaBtpro, Ultraline, Proline, NeoMedia, Centria, Myedi, Nighthawk, Nighthawk x
Nighthawk x6, NETGEAR Trek, Overdrive, Overdrive /AG Mobile Hotspot logo, Zing Mobile Hotspot, MirglVue, VueZone, Ufast, a
X-RAID.

We have registered a number of Internet domain sahs we use for electronic interaction with oustomers including disseminatior
product information, marketing programs, produgisgation, sales activities, and other commenassas.

Seasonal Business

We have historically experienced increased nesdaleur third and fourth fiscal quarters as coragan other quarters in our fiscal y
due to seasonal demand of consumer markets retatbé beginning of the school year and the holiskegson. However, because of irrec
and significant purchases from customers in othemkats, such as the service provider market, @i has not been consistent. As such
pattern should not be considered a reliable indraatt our future net sales or financial performance

Backlog

We believe the actual amount of order backlog &t articular time is not a meaningful indication afr future business. Our back
consists of products for which customer purchaskermrhave been received and that are scheduled tbe iprocess of being scheduled
shipment. While we expect to fulfill the order bk within the current year, most orders are sutigecescheduling or cancellation with lir
or no penalties. Because of the possibility of aongr changes in product scheduling or order caattat, our backlog as of any particular
may not be an indicator of net sales for any subsegperiod. Accordingly, backlog should not besidared a reliable indicator of our abi
to achieve any particular level of revenue or fitiahperformance.

Environmental Laws

Our products and manufacturing process are sutgjguimerous governmental regulations, which cowth the use of various materi
as well as environmental concerns. Environmentalds such as pollution and climate change havesigadficant legislative and regulatc
efforts on a global basis, and there are expectde tadditional changes to the regulations in tlaesas. These changes could directly inci
the cost of energy, which may have an impact onathy we manufacture products or utilize energyrmdpce our products. In addition,
new regulations or laws in the environmental aréghtnncrease the cost of raw materials we useunpooducts and the cost of compliai
Other regulations in the environmental area mayirequs to continue to monitor and ensure propgpabal or recycling of our products.
the best of our knowledge, we maintain compliandgth wall current government regulations concerning production processes for
locations in which we operate. Since we operateaogiobal basis, this is also a complex process ttbatiires continual monitoring
regulations and an ongoing compliance processguorerthat we and our suppliers are in complianctke all existing regulations.

Employees

As of December 31, 2014 , we had 1,038 full-timgployees, with 377 in sales, marketing and tectrsopport, 353n research ar
development, 152 in operations, and 1®6inance, information systems and administratidfe also utilize a number of temporary stal
supplement our workforce. We have never had a vetobpage among our employees and no personnekepresented under collect
bargaining agreements.
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Long-lived assets

Long{ived assets include purchased intangibles, gobdwitl property and equipment. Our property and @gent are located in t
following geographic locations (in thousands):

As of

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013 December 31, 2012
United States (U.S.) $ 12,45 $ 10,27: % 9,89¢
Canada 4,37¢ 2,132 —
Americas (excluding U.S. and Canada) — 28 36
EMEA 657 914 1,17:
China 10,78¢ 11,90¢ 6,76:
APAC (excluding China) 1,42: 1,94 1,15¢

$ 29,69 $ 27,19 % 19,02t

Available Information

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly RepontsForm 10-Q, Current Reports on FornK8and amendments to reports fi
pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Séesriixchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exch&wng®, are filed with the Securiti
Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). We are subjet¢héoinformational requirements of the Exchange &ud file or furnish reports, pro
statements, and other information with the SEC. ¥y read and copy our reports, proxy statemerdso#irer information filed by us at 1
SEC's Public Reference Room located at 100 F Sthe&t, Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEQ-800-SE@330 for furthe
information about the Public Reference Room. Olings are also available to the public over theednet at the SEC's website
http://www.sec.gov.

Our website provides a link to our SEC filings, alhiare available on the same day such filings ademThe specific location on -
website where these reports can be found is litipe#tor.netgear.com/sec.cfm. Our website alsoigesva link to Section 16 filings which :
available on the same day as such filings are mafgmation contained on these websites is naragf this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

The following table sets forth the names, agesparsitions of our executive officers as of Februar015.

Name Age Position
Patrick C.S. Lo 58 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Christine M. Gorjanc 58 Chief Financial Officer
Michael F. Falcon 58 Senior Vice President of Worldwide Operations anggrt
Andrew W. Kim 44 Senior Vice President of Corporate Development,eeadrCounsel and Corporate Secretary
John P. McHugh 54 Senior Vice President and General Manager of ComialeBusiness Unit
Chief Technology Officer
Mark G. Merrill 60
Tamesa T. Rogers 41 Senior Vice President, Human Resources

Patrick C.S. Las our cofounder and has served as our Chairman and Chetuixe Officer since March 2002. He has also sk
interim general manager of our retail business sinite the first quarter of 2014 and has serveihtasim general manager of our sen
provider business unit since the first quarter@f% Patrick founded NETGEAR with Mark G. Merrilittv the singular vision of providing t
appliances to enable everyone in the world to conte the high speed Internet for information, commisation, business transactic
education, and entertainment. From 1983 until 1986,Lo worked at HewletRPackard Company, where he served in various mareg
positions in sales, technical support, product rganmeent, and marketing in the U.S. and Asia. Mrwas named the Ernst & Young Natic
Technology Entrepreneur of the Year in 2006. Mrréceived a B.S. degree in electrical engineeriagnfBrown University.

Christine M. Gorjanchas served as our Chief Financial Officer sinceudan 2008, Chief Accounting Officer from Decemb@&08 tc
January 2008 and Vice President, Finance from N&eerf005 to December 2006. From September 1996ghro
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November 2005, Ms. Gorjanc served as Vice Presidamnitroller, Treasurer and Assistant SecretaryAgpect Communications Corporatiol
provider of workforce and customer management gwist From October 1988 through September 1996 Gdsjanc served as the Manage
Tax for Tandem Computers, Inc., a provider of faolerant computer systems. Prior to that, Ms. Gurjserved in management position
Xidex Corporation, a manufacturer of storage desjicend spent eight years in public accounting veitmumber of accounting firn
Ms. Gorjanc holds a B.A. in Accounting (with honpfsom the University of Texas at El Paso and a MrSTaxation from Golden Ge
University.

Michael F. Falconhas served as our Senior Vice President of Worldwiperations and Support since January 2009, S&fiie
President of Operations from March 2006 to Jan2&§9, and Vice President of Operations from Novan#@®2 to March 2006. Prior
joining us, Mr. Falcon was at Quantum Corporatishere he served as Vice President of OperationsSamgply Chain Management fr
September 1999 to November 2002, Meridian Dataujeed) by Quantum Corporation), where he servedias President of Operations fri
April 1999 to September 1999, and Silicon Valleyo®s, where he served as Director of Operationgt&jic Planning and Supply Ch
Management from February 1989 to April 1999. PtimrFebruary 1989, Mr. Falcon served in managemesitipns at SCI Systems,
electronics manufacturer, Xerox Imaging Systempravider of scanning and text recognition solutioasd Plantronics, Inc., a provider
lightweight communication headsets. Mr. Falcon neseta B.A. degree in Economics with honors from thniversity of California, Santa Ct
and has completed coursework in the M.B.A. progaai@anta Clara University.

Andrew W. Kimhas served as our Senior Vice President of Corpdavelopment, General Counsel and Corporate 2egreince Jul
2013, Vice President, Legal and Corporate Develaoppraead Corporate Secretary from October 2008 uiiy 2013, and as our Associ
General Counsel from March 2008 to October 200&rRo joining NETGEAR, Mr. Kim served as Speciabuihsel in the Corporate &
Securities Department of Wilson Sonsini GoodricliR&sati, a private law firm, where he representddipand private technology compar
in a wide range of matters, including mergers arglitions, debt and equity financing arrangemes#surities law compliance and corpo
governance from 2000 to 2003 and 2006 to 2008etwéen his two terms at Wilson Sonsini Goodrich és&i, Mr. Kim served as Partne!
the Business and Finance Department of the law fithwartz Cooper Chartered in Chicago, lllinoisd amas an Adjunct Professor
Entrepreneurship at the lllinois Institute of Teology. Mr. Kim holds a J.D. from Cornell Law Schpahd received a B.A. degree in his
from Yale University.

John P. McHugtserves as our Senior Vice President and Generahd#arof the Commercial Business Unit, overseeiegdivelopmel
and delivery of the industrg’ premiere line of networking and storage solutiforsSMB customers. Prior to joining us in July 20Mr.
McHugh led the commercial networking business uatitsoth Nortel and HewleRackard. During his career, Mr. McHugh has heldédeshi}
roles in R&D, Marketing and Manufacturing, as wedl having over 12 years of experience in Generadagement. Mr. McHugh holds a
degree in Electrical Engineering and in Computeer8e from Rose-Hulman Institute of Technology.

Mark G. Merrill is our cofounder and currently serves as our Chief Technofofficer. In this role, Mr. Merrill continues tougde the
emerging market efforts and work closely the RFimegring team to ensure technical leadership of weueless networking produc
Previously, Mr. Merrill served as our Senior ViceeSident of Advanced Engineering from May 2013 aouhry 2015 and as our Ct
Technology Officer from January 2003 to April 20E8om September 1999 to January 2003, he serv¥icasPresident of Engineering ¢
served as Director of Engineering from Septemb&51® September 1999. Mr. Merrill received both .&.Bdegree and an M.S. degre
Electrical Engineering from Stanford University.

Tamesa T. Rogetsas served as our Senior Vice President, HumanuRe=® since July 2013, Vice President, Human Ressuiron
January 2009 to July 2013, Director, Worldwide HunfResources from September 2006 to January 200@sandr Senior Human Resoul
Manager from December 2003 to September 2006. Mviamcth 2000 to December 2003, Ms. Rogers workedridet Employer Group,
professional employer organization, as a Human &ess Manager, providing HR consulting texhnology companies throughout Sili
Valley. Prior to TriNet, Ms. Rogers served in vaischuman resources functions in several Northetiio@da companies. Ms. Rogers recei
a B.A. in Communication Studies from the UniversifyCalifornia, Santa Barbara and an M.S. in Colingdrom California State Universit
Hayward.

Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degrerisk. The risks describéglow are not exhaustive of the risks that migfecifou
business. Other risks, including those we curreddgm immaterial, may also impact our business. diige following risks could materia
adversely affect our business operations, restiltgperations and financial condition and could riksm a significantdecline in our stock pric
Before deciding to purchase, hold or sell our comrstmck, you should carefully consider the riskscdibed in this section. This section sh¢
be read in conjunction with the consolidated finahstatements
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and accompanying notes thereto, and ManagemendauBsion and Analysis of Financial Condition andutts of Operations included in t
Annual Report on Form -K.

We expect our operating results to fluctuate on awprterly and annual basis, which could cause our etk price to fluctuate or decline.
Our operating results are difficult to predict andy fluctuate substantially from quarter-to-quadeyear-toyear for a variety of reasol
many of which are beyond our control. If our actredults were to fall below our estimates or thpeetations of public market analyst:
investors, our quarterly and annual results woelcheégatively impacted and the price of our stoakddecline. Other factors that could af
our quarterly and annual operating results inchise listed in the risk factors section of thisar and others such as:
< changes in the pricing policies of or the introdtiof new products by us or our competit

e unanticipated shift or decline in profit by geodnagal region that would adversely impact our tee;

e slow or negative growth in the networking produpgrsonal computer, Internet infrastructure, homectebnics and relat
technology markets, as well as decreased demandtéwnet access;

- foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations injthisdictions where we transact sales and expergditin local currenc

e operational disruptions, such as transportationydedbr failure of our order processing system,igalerly if they occur at the end
a fiscal quarter;

« geopolitical disruption leading to delay or eveapgtage of our operations in manufacturing, trartsgion, technical support a
research and development;

e delay or failure of our service provider customerpurchase at the volumes that they fore

« changes in or consolidation of our sales channetsvaeholesale distributor relationships or failucerhanage our sales char
inventory and warehousing requirements;

« delay or failure to fulfill orders for our produa® a timely basi

» allowance for bad debts exposure with our existngtomers and new customers, particularly as warekmnto new internatior
markets;

« disruptions or delays related to our financial anterprise resource planning syste

* our inability to accurately forecast product demapdrticularly from our service provider sales amen resulting in increas
inventory exposure;

e component supply constraints from our venc
< unfavorable level of inventory and tur

< shift in overall product mix sales from higher taver margin products, or from one business undrtother, that would advers
impact our margins;

- terms of our contracts with customers or supplieas cause us to incur additional expenses or assulitional liabilities
< the inability to maintain stable operations by suppliers and other parties with which we have cencral relationship:

e delays in the introduction of new products by usnarket acceptance of these prodi
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an increase in price protection claims, redemptafimearketing rebates, product warranty and stothtion returns or allowance
doubtful accounts;

litigation involving alleged patent infringeme
epidemic or widespread product failure, or unaptited safety issues, in one or more of our prog

challenges associated with integrating acquisitittvee we make, or with realizing value from ourasgic investments in ott
companies;

failure to effectively manage our third party custer support partners which may result in custonoengdaints and/or harm to t
NETGEAR brand

our inability to monitor and ensure compliancihwour anti-corruption compliance program and dstiteand international anti-
corruption laws and regulations, whether in relatio our employees or with our suppliers or custeme

labor unrest at facilities managed by our thpedty manufacturer
seasonal shifts in end market demand for our prisdperticularly in our retail busine
unanticipated increase in costs, including airginéi associated with shipping and delivery of owduoicts

our failure to implement and maintain the apprdpriaternal controls over financial reporting whictay result in restatements
our financial statements; and

any changes in accounting ru

As a result, period-tperiod comparisons of our operating results maybeaneaningful, and you should not rely on theraramdicatiol
of our future performance.

Our stock price may be volatile and your investmenin our common stock could suffer a decline in vale.

There has been significant volatility in the marggte and trading volume of securities of techggland other companies, which may
unrelated to the financial performance of these mames. These broad market fluctuations may neglgtiaffect the market price of ¢
common stock.

Some specific factors that may have a significéfieice on our common stock market price include:

actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operatiagults or our competitors' operating res
actual or anticipated changes in the growth rath@eneral networking sector, our growth ratesusrcompetitors' growth rat

conditions in the financial markets in general bamges in general economic conditions, includingegoment efforts to stabili;
currencies;

interest rate or currency exchange rate fluctual
our ability to report accurate financial resultour periodic reports filed with the SE
our ability or inability to raise additional cagditanc

changes in stock market analyst recommendationaradgmy our common stock, other comparable compaaiesur industr
generally.

11
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If we fail to continue to introduce or acquire newproducts that achieve broad market acceptance ontimely basis, we will not be able t
compete effectively and we will be unable to incre@ or maintain net revenue and gross margins.

We operate in a highly competitive, quickly chamgenvironment, and our future success depends palility to develop or acquit
and introduce new products that achieve broad ma&eeptance. Our future success will depend igelgrart upon our ability to ident
demand trends in the commercial business, retad, service provider markets and quickly developaoguire, and manufacture and
products that satisfy these demands in a costtefemanner. In order to differentiate our produfttsn our competitors' products, we
continue to increase our focus and capital investnre research and development, including softwdeeelopment. Successfully predict
demand trends is difficult, and it is very diffittd predict the effect introducing a new produdt tiave on existing product sales. We will &
need to respond effectively to new product annommazgs by our competitors by quickly introducing quetitive products.

In addition, we have acquired companies and teclgies in the past and as a result, have introdnegdproduct lines in new marke
We may not be able to successfully manage integraif the new product lines with our existing progu Selling new product lines in n
markets will require our management to learn déférstrategies in order to be successful. We mawynseiccessful in launching a ne
acquired product line in new markets which requimenagement of new suppliers, potential new custoraerd new business models.
management may not have the experience of sefiitigeise new markets and we may not be able to gunwusiness as planned. For exan
in April 2013, we completed the acquisition of thigCard product line from Sierra Wireless. If weearable to effectively and successf
further develop these new product lines, we maybeable to increase or maintain our sales angmmss margins may be adversely affected.

We have experienced delays and quality issuesléasimg new products in the past, which resultelbiwer quarterly net revenue tt
expected. In addition, we have experienced, and imdiie future experience, product introductionat tfall short of our projected rates
market adoption. Online Internet reviews of ourduas are increasingly becoming a significant faétothe success of our new proc
launches, especially in the retail business uhilvd are unable to quickly respond to negativeewsi including end user reviews postet
various prominent online retailers, our abilitysell these products will be harmed. Any future gelim product development and introduct
or product introductions that do not meet broadketeacceptance, or unsuccessful launches of negluptdines could result in:

* loss of or delay in revenue and loss of marketes

e negative publicity and damage to our reputation lanaehd

* adecline in the average selling price of our potsl

e adverse reactions in our sales channels, suctdaseaé shelf space, reduced online product vigibitit loss of sales channel; «
e increased levels of product retul

Throughout the past couple of years, we have sagmfly increased the rate of our new product ihiiiions. If we cannot sustain t
pace of product introductions, either through rapitbvation or acquisition of new products or pradiines, we may not be able to maintai
increase the market share of our products. In imaitf we are unable to successfully introduceaoquire new products with higher gr
margins, our net revenue and overall gross margimavikely decline.

If we fail to overcome the challenges associatedtivimanaging our broadband service provider sales @nnel, our net revenue and gros
profit will be negatively impacted.

We sell a substantial portion of our products tigtobroadband service providers worldwide. Our serpirovider business unit accour
for a significant portion of our growth over thetaeveral fiscal quarters and has become a lprgportion of our business, especially after
acquisition of the Sierra Wireless AirCard busin€Bse service provider business is challenging exckptionally competitive. In the fi
quarter of 2015, we undertook a reorganization wf service provider business unit to reduce the styacture of the unit and support
functions in order to match a reduced revenue oktldhe reorganization also seeks to concentrateemources on lontgrm and profitabl
accounts. This reorganization may not be successfoleeting these goals or the other challengegty the service provider chani
Difficulties and challenges in selling to serviceoyiders include a longer sales cycle, more stribhgeroduct testing and validati
requirements, a higher level of customization dessarequirements that suppliers take on a largamesbf the risk with respect to contrac
business terms, competition from established segplipricing pressure resulting in lower gross nmsrgand irregular and unpredicts
ordering habits. For example, rigorous service jpl@vcertification processes may delay our salaexf products, or our products ultimai
may fail these tests. In
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either event, we may lose some or all of the amourg expended in trying to obtain business fromsénwice provider, as well as lose
business opportunity altogether. In addition, eifeve have a product which a service provider coomay wish to purchase, we may che
not to supply products to the potential serviceviger customer if the contract requirements, sigbavice level requirements, penalties,
liability provisions, are too onerous. Accordinglyyr business may be harmed and our revenues magdoeed. We have, in exceptic
limited circumstances, while still in contract négtions, shipped products in advance of and stiltigeagreement on a definitive contract.
do not record revenue from these shipments urdéfaitive contract exists. There is risk that we rtbt ultimately close and sign a defini
contract. If this occurs, the timing of revenueagition is uncertain and our business would bemlear In addition, we often commel
building custommade products prior to execution of a contractriieo to meet the customer's contemplated launabsdatd requiremen
Service provider products are generally custoade for a specific customer and may not be satabi¢her customers or in other channel
we have pre-built custom-made products but do naiecto agreement on a definitive contract, we maydoced to scrap the custamade
products or re-work them at substantial cost arrdoaginess would be harmed.

Further, successful engagements with service peovidstomers requires a constant analysis of téohydrends. If we are unable
anticipate technology trends and service providestamer product needs, and to allocate researchdemelopment resources to the r
projects, we may not be successful in continuingeth products to service provider customers. Iditawh, because our service provi
customers command significant resources, inclutbngoftware support, and demand extremely comipetgricing, our ODM's are starting
decline to develop service provider products onCidM basis. Accordingly, as our ODM's increasingiyit development of our servi
provider products, our service provider businedshegi harmed if we cannot replace this with in-hedsvelopment.

Further, as the deployment of DOCSIS 3.0 technolmghroadband service providers continues to matueeanticipate competing in
extremely price sensitive market and our marging beaaffected. Orders from service providers gdlyerand to be large but sporadic, wh
causes our revenues from them to fluctuate andectyds our ability to accurately forecast demarmnfthem. In particular, managi
inventory and production of our products for ourvigee provider customers is a challenge. Many of service provider customers hi
irregular purchasing requirements. These customessdecide to cancel orders for customized prodsmesific to that customer, and we r
not be able to reconfigure and sell those prodinctsther channels. In addition, these customers issiye unforecasted orders for prod
which we may not be able to produce in a timely nearand as such, we may not be able to acceptaivéidon such unforecasted orders
certain cases, we may commit to fixedee, long term purchase orders, with such orgeied in foreign currencies which could lose v.
over time in the event of adverse changes in fareirhange rates. Even if we are selected as dieypppically a service provider will al
designate a second source supplier, which overwiitheeduce the aggregate orders that we recetwe that service provider. For example,
have been at the forefront of developing and I CSIS 3.0 products to our service provider qusis in the past couple of years. As
competitors develop DOCSIS 3.0 products, our serpiovider customers may use these competitor ptedas an alternate source for
technology. Our service provider customers may tieemire us to lower our prices or they may chdosgurchase more DOCSIS 3.0 prod
from our competitors. Accordingly, our business rhayharmed and our revenues may be reduced.

If we were to lose a service provider customerafoy reason, we may experience a material and inateedéduction in forecasted reve
that may cause us to be below our net revenue padhting margin expectations for a particular kb time and therefore adversely af
our stock price. For example, many of our compediia the service provider space aggressively ghe& products in order to gain mar
share. We may not be able to match the lower pitiesed by our competitors. Many of the servicever customers will seek to purch
from the lowest cost provider, notwithstanding tbat products may be higher quality or that ourdpicis were previously validated for use
their proprietary network. Accordingly, we may losestomers who have lower, more aggressive priaimg) our revenues may be redu
These particular challenges are a significant re&sothe reduced service provider business unimae outlook that we announced in the
quarter of 2015. In addition, service providers rohgose to prioritize the implementation of ottemhinologies or the roll out of other serv
than home networking. Weakness in orders from ithdsistry could have a material adverse effect onhasiness, operating results,
financial condition. We have seen slowdowns in tmxpenditures by certain of our service providgstomers in the past, and believe t
may be potential for similar slowdowns in the feurny slowdown in the general economy, over suppbnsolidation among serv
providers, regulatory developments and constraintapital expenditures could result in reduced dehfeom service providers and therel
adversely affect our sales to them. If we do natcessfully overcome these challenges, we will rotable to profitably grow our serv
provider sales channel and our growth will be sidwe

We rely on a limited number of retailers, wholesaldistributors and service provider customers for asubstantial portion of our sales

and our net revenue could decline if they refuse tpay our requested prices or reduce their level gburchases or if there is significan
consolidation in our customer base which results ifewer customers for our products.
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We sell a substantial portion of our products tiglowetailers, including Best Buy Co., Inc. and afiliates, wholesale distributo
including Ingram Micro, Inc. and Tech Data Corparat and service providers, including Virgin Medienited and AT&T. We expect thal
significant portion of our net revenue will contsio come from sales to a small number of custorfoerthe foreseeable future. In additi
because our accounts receivable are often contemhtrath a small group of purchasers, the failurany of them to pay on a timely basis, ¢
all, would reduce our cash flow. We are also exddseincreased credit risk if any one of theseti#miinumbers of customers fails or becc
insolvent. We generally have no minimum purchasarmigments or longerm contracts with any of these customers. Thesehpsers cou
decide at any time to discontinue, decrease olydakir purchases of our products. If our custoniecsease the size of their product or
without sufficient leadime for us to process the order, our ability tdifuproduct demands would be compromised. Thesgt@mers have
variety of suppliers to choose from and theref@e make substantial demands on us, including desnamgbroduct pricing and on contrac
terms, which often results in the allocation okrie us as the supplier. Accordingly, the pricesttthey pay for our products are subjec
negotiation and could change at any time. Our tghith maintain strong relationships with our pripedi customers is essential to our fu
performance. If any of our major customers redunrtlevel of purchases or refuse to pay the prtbes we set for our products, our
revenue and operating results could be harmed.tr@ditional retail customers have faced increagetl significant competition from onlii
retailers, and some of these traditional retait@ugrs have increasingly become a smaller portioauo business. If key retail custom
continue to reduce their level of purchases, ogirtass could be harmed.

Additionally, consolidation among our customer basgy allow certain customers to command increasedrage in negotiating pric
and other terms of sale, which could adverselycaffer profitability. In addition, if, as a reswi increased leverage, customer pressures re
us to reduce our pricing such that our gross margie diminished, we could decide not to sell aadpcts to a particular customer, wt
could result in a decrease in our revenue. Coretidid among our customer base may also lead t@egddemand for our products, elimina
of sales opportunities, replacement of our produdts those of our competitors and cancellation®fers, each of which would harm
operating results. For example, in February 201%, af our large retail customers, Staples, annaliaceroposed acquisition of another I
retail customer, Office Depot. If this transactiercompleted, it may provide the combined compaitii imcreased negotiating power, and
uncertain how it may impact the aggregate quastitié our products purchased in the future. Conatbd among our service provis
customers worldwide may also make it more diffi¢algrow our service provider business, given teecé competition for the already limit
number of service providers worldwide and the Isates cycles to close deals. For example, in J0&8,d.iberty Global, a service provit
with operations worldwide, completed its acquisitaf Virgin Media Limited, one of our significanustomers. Because we have not condt
business with Liberty Global in the past, Virgin die may be directed by Liberty Global to develofatienships and business with ot
Liberty Global vendors, many of which are our cofitpes. Similarly, in July 2013 SoftBank Corp. agega majority ownership of Spri
Nextel Corp., the parent company of one of ourifitant customers for AirCard products. In additi@m February 2014, Comcast annour
an agreement to acquire Time Warner Cable. If datetton among our customer base becomes more lpregy@ur operating results may
harmed.

We depend on large, recurring purchases from certai significant customers, and a loss, cancellationr @elay in purchases by thes
customers could negatively affect our revenue.

The loss of recurring orders from any of our mdgmigicant customers could cause our revenue aofitability to suffer. Our ability t
attract new customers will depend on a variety amftdrs, including the cosgtffectiveness, reliability, scalability, breadthdadepth of ot
products. In addition, a change in the mix of austomers, or a change in the mix of direct andr@udisales, could adversely affect our rev:
and gross margins.

Although our financial performance may depend @gdarecurring orders from certain customers asdlkers, we do not generally h:
binding commitments from them. For example:

» our reseller agreements generally do not requipstantial minimum purchas
e our customers can stop purchasing and our reselgerstop marketing our products at any time
« our reseller agreements generally are not exclt
Further, our revenue may be impacted by significametime purchases which are not contemplated to beataple. While sur
purchases are reflected in our financial statememsdo not rely on and do not forecast for corgthignificant ongéime purchases. As

result, lack of repeatable one-time purchasesaslidlersely affect our revenue.

Because our expenses are based on our revenuadtseg substantial reduction or delay in salesipproducts to, or unexpected rett
from, customers and resellers, or the loss of amnjificant customer or reseller, could harm or oiise have
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a negative impact to our operating results. Althoegr largest customers may vary from period taogerwe anticipate that our operat
results for any given period will continue to degem large orders from a small number of customers.

Some of our competitors have substantially greateresources than we do, and to be competitive we még required to lower our prices
or increase our sales and marketing expenses, whicbuld result in reduced margins and loss of markeshare.

We compete in a rapidly evolving and fiercely comitpe market, and we expect competition to corgiria be intense, including pr
competition. Our principal competitors in the commoi@ business market include Allied Telesys, Beuda, Buffalo, Data Robotics, Dell, D-
Link, Fortinet, HewlettPackard, Huawei, Cisco Systems, the Linksys lingroducts under Belkin, QNAP Systems, Seagate Twogy,
SonicWALL, Synology, TRENDnet, WatchGuard and WastBigital. Our principal competitors in the homeriet for networking devic
and television connectivity products include Amp&fiteless, Apple, AsusTEK, Belkin, Dink, the Linksys line of products under Bell
Roku, TPLink and Western Digital. Our principal competitdrsthe broadband service provider market includtiohtec, ARRIS, Comp
Broadband, Comtrend, D-Link, Hitron, Huawei, MotlaqoNetComm Wireless, Novatel Wireless, Pace, Sadgoientific Atlantaa Cisce
company, SMC Networks, TechniColor, Ubee, ZTE anEL. Other competitors include numerous local vamsdsuch as Devolo, LE
AVM and the Hercules brand of Guillemot CorporatianEurope, Corega and Melco in Japan andLifiR-in China. In addition, these lot
vendors may target markets outside of their loegians and may increasingly compete with us in rotegions worldwide. Our potent
competitors also include other consumer electrom@rzdors, including LG Electronics, Microsoft, Paoaic, Samsung, Sony, Toshiba
Vizio, who could integrate networking and streamuapabilities into their line of products, suchtakevisions, set top boxes and gan
consoles, and our channel customers who may ddoiddfer selfbranded networking products. We also face compatifrom servic
providers who may bundle a free networking devidth wheir broadband service offering, which wouktuce our sales if we are not
supplier of choice to those service providershimdervice provider space, we are also facingfagni and increased competition from orig
design manufacturers, or ODM's, and contract manwfars who are selling and attempting to sellrtpedducts directly to service provid
around the world. In addition, as we expand oudpob portfolio to include home security cameras seiices, we also face competition fi
incumbents and specialty providers in this spavguding Axis Communications, Belkin, Dink, the Linksys line of products under Bell
Logitech, Dropcam (owned by Google’s Nest Labsy 8arcomm.

Many of our existing and potential competitors hdeager operating histories, greater name recagnitind substantially grea
financial, technical, sales, marketing and othaouveces. These competitors may, among other thimysertake more extensive marke
campaigns, adopt more aggressive pricing policie&gin more favorable pricing from suppliers anchofacturers, and exert more influence
sales channels than we can. We anticipate tha¢muand potential competitors will also intensifit efforts to penetrate our target mari
For example, price competition is intense in oulustry in certain geographical regions and prodattégories. Many of our competitors in
service provider and retail spaces price their pctglsignificantly below our product costs in ortieigain market share. Average sales p
have declined in the past and may again declinthénfuture. These competitors may have more advhteehnology, more extens
distribution channels, stronger brand names, greateess to shelf space in retail locations, bigwemotional budgets and larger custo
bases than we do. In addition, many of these cdtopetieverage a broader product portfolio and roftever pricing as part of a mc
comprehensive end-t@Ad solution which we may not have. These compatiaki devote more capital resources to develomufie@ture an
market competing products than we could. Our coitggetmay also acquire other companies in the ntakd leverage combined resource
gain market share. For example, in March 2013, iBelampleted its acquisition of the Linksys divisifyom Cisco. Belkin and Linksys are t
of our significant competitors. The combined compamay have synergies which increase opportunitiesBfelkin to gain market sha
especially in North America. If any of these comiparare successful in competing against us, oessauld decline, our margins coulc
negatively impacted and we could lose market sfzamg of which could seriously harm our businessrasdlts of operations.
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If we do not effectively manage our sales channebvientory and product mix, we may incur costs assoafied with excess inventory, ¢
lose sales from having too few products.

If we are unable to properly monitor, control andrmage our sales channel inventory and maintainpanopriate level and mix
products with our wholesale distributors and witliar sales channels, we may incur increased angpented costs associated with
inventory. We generally allow wholesale distribgt@nd traditional retailers to return a limited amiof our products in exchange for of
products. Under our price protection policy, if vegluce the list price of a product, we are oftequired to issue a credit in an amount equ
the reduction for each of the products held in moey by our wholesale distributors and retaildfreur wholesale distributors and retailers
unable to sell their inventory in a timely mannge might lower the price of the products, or thpadies may exchange the products for ni
products. Also, during the transition from an erigtproduct to a new replacement product, we masurately predict the demand for
existing and the new product. For example, in trst fluarter of 2013, while transitioning from aexisting ReadyNAS product line to our r
line of ReadyNAS products, we were not able to ateon the launch of the new product. This ledupinability to have sufficient quantiti
of the existing line of ReadyNAS products as we tedped down supply anticipating the transitionjohadversely affected our profitabil
for the quarter.

We determine production levels based on our fotecaisdemand for our products. Actual demand far poducts depends on m:
factors, which makes it difficult to forecast. Wavie experienced differences between our actualoandorecasted demand in the past
expect differences to arise in the future. If weioperly forecast demand for our products we cauld up with too many products anc
unable to sell the excess inventory in a timely nganif at all, or, alternatively we could end ufiwtoo few products and not be able to sa
demand. This problem is exacerbated because wamtte closely match inventory levels with proddeimand leaving limited margin 1
error. If these events occur, we could incur inseshexpenses associated with writing off excessivebsolete inventory, lose sales, ir
penalties for late delivery or have to ship produay air freight to meet immediate demand incurtimgemental freight costs above the
freight costs, a preferred method, and sufferiograesponding decline in gross margins.

Our business is subject to the risks of internatioal operations.

We derive a significant portion of our revenue fromternational operations. As a result, our finahcbndition and operating results cc
be significantly affected by risks associated vitternational activities, including economic antdda conditions, political instability, tax lav
changes in the value of the U.S. dollar versusllogaencies, and natural disasters. Margins oessaf our products in foreign countries,
on sales of products that include components obdafinom foreign suppliers, could be materially adedy affected by foreign currer
exchange rate fluctuations and by internationaldreegulations. Additionally, certain foreign cote$ have complex regulatory requirem
as conditions of doing business. For example, th#ed Kingdom AntiBribery Act of 2010 is broad legislation that proité bribery an
applies to our operations worldwide. This foreigmgitlation follows in the spirit of the U.S. Foreigorrupt Practices Act and focu
additional governmental efforts on anticorruptidfods worldwide. Meeting these requirements magré@ase our operating expenses a
continue to expand internationally.

We obtain several key components from limited or 9e sources, and if these sources fail to satisfy supply requirements or we are
unable to properly manage our supply requirements vth our third party manufacturers, we may lose sals and experience increase
component costs.

Any shortage or delay in the supply of key prodt@inponents would harm our ability to meet schedplediuct deliveries. Many of t
semiconductors used in our products are specifictdsigned for use in our products and are obtdired sole source suppliers on a purcl
order basis. In addition, some components thatuaesl in all our products are obtained from limitmlrces. These components inc
connector jacks, plastic casings and physical layasceivers. We also obtain switching fabric smductors, which are used in our Ethe
switches and Internet gateway products, and wisdlzsal area network chipsets, which are usedliofaur wireless products, from a limit
number of suppliers. Semiconductor suppliers haymemenced and continue to experience componentages themselves, such as
substrates used in manufacturing chipsets, whicturim adversely impact our ability to procure semniguctors from them. Our thingarty
manufacturers generally purchase these componantsiobehalf on a purchase order basis, and weotlhave any contractual commitme
or guaranteed supply arrangements with our sugpliedemand for a specific component increasesmag not be able to obtain an adeq
number of that component in a timely manner. Initaalg if worldwide demand for the components irages significantly, the availability
these components could be limited. Further, ouples may experience financial or other difficeftias a result of uncertain and w
worldwide economic conditions. Other factors whiohy affect our suppliers' ability to supply competseto us include internal managen
or reorganizational issues, such as onit-of new equipment which may delay or disruptpympf previously forecasted components. It ci
be difficult, costly and time consuming to obtailbemnative sources for these components, or to gdaroduct designs to make ust
alternative components. In addition, difficulti@stiansitioning from an existing supplier
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to a new supplier could create delays in compoeatlability that would have a significant impaat our ability to fulfill orders for ot
products.

We provide our thirgparty manufacturers with a rolling forecast of damhawhich they use to determine our material anthpmmen
requirements. Lead times for ordering materials @dponents vary significantly and depend on varifaictors, such as the specific supg
contract terms and demand and supply for a compaatem given time. Some of our components have lead times, such as wireless Ic
area network chipsets, switching fabric chips, pdgidayer transceivers, connector jacks and meatdl plastic enclosures. If our forecasts
not timely provided or are less than our actualiregments, our thirgharty manufacturers may be unable to manufactuwdymts in a timel
manner. For example, in the first quarter of 204, third party manufacturers were not able to nfacture sufficient quantities of our n
line of ReadyNAS products in order to meet demadgersely affecting our profitability for the quartIf our forecasts are too high, our third
party manufacturers will be unable to use the camepts they have purchased on our behalf. The édeeaomponents used in our prodi
tends to drop rapidly as volumes increase anddbtlenblogies mature. Therefore, if our thparty manufacturers are unable to promptly
components purchased on our behalf, our cost afyminog products may be higher than our competidoesto an oversupply of highpricec
components. Moreover, if they are unable to usepmomants ordered at our direction, we will needeimburse them for any losses they incur.

If we are unable to obtain a sufficient supply ofmponents, or if we experience any interruptiothm supply of components, our proc
shipments could be reduced or delayed or our dosbw@ining these components may increase. Compastentages and delays affect
ability to meet scheduled product deliveries, dagnagr brand and reputation in the market, and casgde lose sales and market share
example, component shortages and disruptions iplgup the past have limited our ability to supmit the worldwide demand for ¢
products, and our revenue was affected. In addiadrtimes sole suppliers of highly specialized ponents have provided components
were either defective or did not meet the criteggquired by our customers, resulting in delayst tesenue opportunities and potenti
substantial write-offs.

Another example relates to the record flooding lraifand in the third quarter of 2011. Many majomuiacturers of hard disk drives ¢
their component suppliers maintain significant @piens in Thailand in areas affected by the flogdifihese include most, if not all, of «
direct and indirect suppliers of hard disk drivesdur ReadyNAS product line. All of our major diteand indirect suppliers of hard disk dri
informed us that our supply chain would be consgdifor an indefinite amount of time, in some caspso six months. Some theref
declared a force majeure event and have statedithatidition to and because of the supply conssaipricing for hard disk drives wol
increase significantly until they were able to dtab the situation. As a result, we experiencettéased prices in the cost of hard disk di
and ceased accepting any additional orders contaiReadyNAS products with hard disk drives at tharrent prices and all shipments
ReadyNAS products with hard disk drives were plamedold. In addition, all sales and marketing potions involving ReadyNAS produt
were terminated temporarily. Further, we declardtk texistence of a force majeure event under ourtracts with certai
customers. Accordingly, our business was harmedai@eevents or natural disasters that occur irfub&e may harm our business as well.

If we lose the services of our Chairman and Chief ¥ecutive Officer, Patrick C.S. Lo, or our other keypersonnel, we may not be able
execute our business strategy effectively.

Our future success depends in large part uponahgnued services of our key technical, sales, etarg, finance and senior managen
personnel. In particular, the services of PatricR.C o, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officehoshas led our company since its incep
are very important to our business. We do not ra@irdny key person life insurance policies. Ouiifess model requires extremely skilled
experienced senior management who are able totasttighe rigorous requirements and expectatiomiobusiness. Our success depenc
senior management being able to execute at a vghylével. The loss of any of our senior managenwentther key research, developm
sales or marketing personnel, particularly if lesicompetitors, could harm our ability to implementr business strategy and respond t
rapidly changing needs of our business. While weleopted an emergency succession plan for thretehm, we have not formally adopte
long term succession plan. As a result, if we sutie loss of services of any key executive, omgléerm business results may be hari
While we believe that we have mitigated some oflthsiness execution and business continuity risk aiir reorganization into three busir
units, the loss of any key personnel would stildisruptive and harm our business, especially gtliahour business is leanly staffed and r
on the expertise and high performance of our keggmnel. In addition, because we do not have adblomg term succession plan, we may
be able to have the proper personnel in placeféztdfely execute our long term business stratédri Lo or other key personnel retire, res
or are otherwise terminated.
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If our goodwill or intangible assets become impairé we may be required to record a significant chargéo earnings.

Under generally accepted accounting principlesrevéew our intangible assets for impairment wheargs or changes in circumstar
indicate the carrying value may not be recoveraBleodwill is required to be tested for impairmebntiemst annually. Factors that may
considered when determining if the carrying valfi®ar goodwill or intangible assets may not be xerable include a significant decline
our expected future cash flows or a sustainedjfgignt decline in our stock price and market calpation.

As a result of our acquisitions, we have significgoodwill and intangible assets recorded on olariz® sheet. In addition, significi
negative industry or economic trends, such as ttieaehave occurred as a result of the recent enmndownturn, including reduced estime
of future cash flows or disruptions to our businessld indicate that goodwill or intangible assmight be impaired. If, in any period our st
price decreases to the point where our market al&gaition is less than our book value, this toolddndicate a potential impairment and
may be required to record an impairment chargdan period. Our valuation methodology for assesgimgairment requires managemen
make judgments and assumptions based on projeatiofigure operating performance. The estimatesl usecalculate the fair value o
reporting unit change from year to year based cgraipng results and market conditions. Changefasd estimates and assumptions ¢
materially affect the determination of fair valugdagoodwill impairment for each reporting unit. \Ggerate in highly competitive environme
and projections of future operating results anchdé®wvs may vary significantly from actual resulss a result, we may incur substar
impairment charges to earnings in our financialesteents should an impairment of our goodwill oaigible assets be determined resultir
an adverse impact on our results of operations.

For example, in the fourth fiscal quarter of 200 completed our annual impairment test of goode#id determined that the 1
carrying value of goodwill allocated to the servprevider business unit of $74.2 million was impdirand as a result a corresponding cha
reflected in the fourth quarter of 2014. For adudfitil discussion regarding the goodwill impairmemalgsis, refer to Note Balance She
Componentsin Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementseim 8 of Part Il of this Annual Report on Form KO-

The allocation of goodwill may have greater impietcertain of the business segments, as compar#tetother segments. We beli
that our service provider business unit may beiqdarly susceptible to this risk relative to ouher two business units, due to its hic
dependence on a limited number of customers andpttential impact of losing one or more significamistomers. Accordingly, t
performance of a business unit may be adversedgiaffl by the allocation of goodwill.

As part of growing our business, we have made andgect to continue to make acquisitions. If we faito successfully select, execute
integrate our acquisitions, then our business andperating results could be harmed and our stock prie could decline.

From time to time, we will undertake acquisitiowsadd new product lines and technologies, gain s&es channels or enter into r
sales territories. For example, in June 2012 ané 2013 we acquired select assets of two sepangteering operations in India to enhs
our wireless product offerings in our commerciasibess unit. Additionally in July 2012, we closée fcquisition of privately held AVAAL
Inc., creators of the VueZonel@ome video security system, and in April 2013, Wwesed the acquisition of the AirCard business @i
Wireless, Inc. The AirCard acquisition represenis largest acquisition, both in terms of consideratand headcount. Acquisitions inva
numerous risks and challenges, including but moitdid to the following:

* integrating the companies, assets, systems, pmdales channels and personnel that we ac

* higher than anticipated acquisition and integratiosts and expens

» reliance on third parties to provide transitionvéges for a period of time after closing to ensameorderly transition of the busine
e growing or maintaining revenues to justify the phase price and the increased expenses associdltedoguisitions

* entering into territories or markets with which teve limited or no prior experien

» establishing or maintaining business relationshijls customers, vendors and suppliers who may betoais

« overcoming the employeeystomer, vendor and supplier turnover that mayoas a result of the acquisitir
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« disruption of, and demands on, our ongoing busiaesa result of integration activities includingetision of management's time
attention from running the day to day operationsuwfbusiness;

e inability to implement uniform standards, discloswontrols and procedures, internal controls owaincial reporting and oth
procedures and policies in a timely manner;

» inability to realize the anticipated benefits ofsmrccessfully integrate with our existing busingssbusinesses, products, technolc
or personnel that we acquire; and

e potential postlosing dispute

As part of undertaking an acquisition, we may algmificantly revise our capital structure or ofenaal budget, such as issuing comt
stock that would dilute the ownership percentag®wf stockholders, assuming liabilities or debiliaihg a substantial portion of our ce
resources to pay for the acquisition or signifiaimcreasing operating expenses. Our acquisititme resulted and may in the future rest
charges being taken in an individual quarter ad a&lfuture periods, which results in variability dur quarterly earnings. In addition,
effective tax rate in any particular quarter magoabe impacted by acquisitions. Following the elgsof an acquisition, we may also h
disputes with the seller regarding contractual iregoents and covenants. Any such disputes maynie dbnsuming and distract manager
from other aspects of our business. In additiomdfcontinue to increase the pace or size of aitiquis, as we have done since n2idi2, we
will have to expend significant management time affdrt into the transactions and the integratiand we may not have the proper hu
resources bandwidth to ensure successful integsatiad accordingly, our business could be harmed.

As part of the terms of acquisition, we may comtuitpay additional contingent consideration if certeevenue or other performat
milestones are met. We are required to evaluatdaiheralue of such commitments at each reportiate chnd adjust the amount recorde
there are changes to the fair value.

We cannot ensure that we will be successful inctielg, executing and integrating acquisitions. d&lto manage and successf
integrate acquisitions could materially harm ousibhass and operating results. In addition, if stoacket analysts or our stockholders dc
support or believe in the value of the acquisititireg we choose to undertake, our stock price neajirce.

The average selling prices of our products typicall decrease rapidly over the sales cycle of the prodt, which may negatively affect ou
net revenue and gross margins.

Our products typically experience price erosiofgidy rapid reduction in the average unit sellipgces over their respective sales cy«
In order to sell products that have a falling ageranit selling price and maintain margins at tame time, we need to continually red
product and manufacturing costs. To manage manurfagtcosts, we must collaborate with our thirakty manufacturers to engineer the r
costeffective design for our products. In addition, mast carefully manage the price paid for componasésl in our products. We must ¢
successfully manage our freight and inventory ctsteduce overall product costs. We also needidirtually introduce new products w
higher sales prices and gross margins in orderdmtain our overall gross margins. If we are undblenanage the cost of older product
successfully introduce new products with highersgrmargins, our net revenue and overall gross marguld likely decline.

We depend substantially on our sales channels, amdir failure to maintain and expand our sales chanrls would result in lower sale
and reduced net revenue.

To maintain and grow our market share, net reveang brand, we must maintain and expand our salasnetts. Our sales chanr
consist of traditional retailers, online retaileBVIRs, VARs, and broadband service providers. Sofmthese entities purchase our prod
through our wholesale distributor customers. Weegally have no minimum purchase commitments or {tamm contracts with any of the
third parties.

Traditional retailers have limited shelf space @ndmotional budgets, and competition is intensetli@se resources. If the network
sector does not experience sufficient growth, iextsimay choose to allocate more shelf space ter atbnsumer product sectors. A compe
with more extensive product lines and stronger ¢hidentity may have greater bargaining power wlithse retailers. Any reduction in availe
shelf space or increased competition for such spte would require us to increase our marketupgraditures simply to maintain curr
levels of retail shelf space, which would harm operating margin. Our traditional retail custombese faced increased and signific
competition from online retailers. If we cannotesffively manage our business amongst our onlintomess and traditional retail custom:
our business would be harmed. The recent trentkiconsolidation of online retailers and DMR chdsih@s resulted in intensified competit
for preferred
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product placement, such as product placement ankme retailer's Internet home page. Expandingpyasence in the VAR channel may
difficult and expensive. We compete with establishempanies that have longer operating historielslamgstanding relationships with VA
that we would find highly desirable as sales chapaetners. In addition, our efforts to realign amsolidate our sales channels may c
temporary disruptions in our product sales andnmageand these changes may not result in the eegbéariger-term benefits.

We also sell products to broadband service prosid€ompetition for selling to broadband servicevgters is fierce and inten:
Penetrating service provider accounts typicallyolugs a long sales cycle and the challenge of atspl) incumbent suppliers with establis
relationships and fieldeployed products. If we are unable to maintain expind our sales channels, our growth would béddrand ot
business would be harmed.

We must also continuously monitor and evaluate gingrsales channels. If we fail to establish a gmee in an important develop
sales channel, our business could be harmed.

Changes in tax rates, adverse changes in tax lawmsexposure to additional income tax liabilities cold affect our future profitability.
Factors that could materially affect our futuresetive tax rates include but are not limited to:
« changes in the regulatory environm
« changes in accounting and tax standards or pra
« changes in the composition of operating incomeayjurisdiction; an
e our operating results before ta

We are subject to income taxes in the United Statesnumerous foreign jurisdictions. Our effectiae rate has fluctuated in the past
may fluctuate in the future. Future effective takes could be affected by changes in the compnositicearnings in countries with differing -
rates, changes in deferred tax assets and liakilitr changes in tax laws. Numerous foreign jigimths have been influenced by stu
performed by the OECD (Organization of Economic @ration and Development) and are increasinglywadti evaluating changes to tt
tax laws. The OECD, which represents a coalitiormamber countries, has issued various white papddsessing tax base erosion
jurisdictional profit shifting (BEPS). Their reconemdations are aimed at combatting what they beli®tax avoidance. Changes in tax |
could affect the distribution of our earnings anddersely affect our results.

We are currently under examination by the Itali@x Ruthority (ITA) for the 2004 through 2012 taxays. The ITA examination includ
an audit of income, gross receipts and value-athbezk. If we are unsuccessful in defending ouptasitions, our profitability will be reduced.

We are also subject to examination by the InteRelenue Service, or IRS, and other tax authorite$iiding state revenue agencies
other foreign governments. While we regularly asg@s likelihood of favorable or unfavorable out@snesulting from examinations by
IRS and other tax authorities to determine the adey of our provision for income taxes, there camb assurance that the actual outc
resulting from these examinations will not matdyialdversely affect our financial condition and cgigng results. Additionally, the IRS &
several foreign tax authorities have increasingbused attention on intercompany transfer priciith vespect to sales of products and sen
and the use of intangibles. Tax authorities coudgtee with our intercompany charges, ciasisdictional transfer pricing or other matt
and assess additional taxes. If we do not prenaihy such disagreements, our profitability mayfiected.

We must comply with indirect tax laws in multiple foreign jurisdictions. Audits of our compliance with these rules may resu
in additional liabilities for tax, interest and penalties related to our international operations whid would reduce our profitability.

Our international operations are routinely subjecaudit by tax authorities in various countriesaryl countries have indirect tax syst
where the sale and purchase of goods and servieesubject to tax based on the transaction valbhesd taxes are commonly referred t
valueadded tax (VAT) or goods and services tax (GST)uFato comply with these systems can result i dssessment of additional
interest and penalties. While we believe we areoimpliance with local laws, there is no assuraheg fioreign tax authorities agree with
reporting positions and upon audit may assess dii@uhl tax, interest and penalties. If this oscand we cannot successfully defend
position, our profitability will be reduced.
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We are exposed to adverse currency exchange ratedtuations in jurisdictions where we transact in l@al currency, which could harrr
our financial results and cash flows.

Because a significant portion of our business isdooted outside the United States, we face expdsuaglverse movements in fore
currency exchange rates. These exposures may chaagéme as business practices evolve, and thedhave a material adverse impac
our results of operations, financial position aadhcflows. Although a portion of our internatiosales are currently invoiced in United St
dollars, we have implemented and continue to implanfor certain countries and customers both irimgi@nd payment in foreign currenc
Our primary exposure to movements in foreign curyeexchange rates relates to ndis. dollar denominated sales in Europe, Japal
Australia as well as our global operations, and-odb. dollar denominated operating expenses andineassets and liabilities. In additi
weaknesses in foreign currencies for U.S. dollavod@nated sales could adversely affect demanddopmducts. Conversely, a strengthel
in foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar couicrease foreign currency denominated costs. Assalt we may attempt to renegot
pricing of existing contracts or request paymenbéomade in U.S. dollars. We cannot be sure thatoestomers would agree to renego
along these lines. This could result in customegentually terminating contracts with us or in oecision to terminate certain contracts, wi
would adversely affect our sales.

We hedge our exposure to fluctuations in foreigrrancy exchange rates as a response to the riskasfges in the value of fore
currencydenominated assets and liabilities. We may enterforeign currency forward contracts or other riastents, the majority of whi
mature within approximately five months. Our foreigurrency forward contracts reduce, but do naiefte, the impact of currency excha
rate movements. For example, we do not executeafohwontracts in all currencies in which we condugsiness. In addition, we hedge
reduce the impact of volatile exchange rates orrenatnues, gross profit and operating profit faritéd periods of time. However, the usi
these hedging activities may only offset a portidrthe adverse financial effect resulting from wufeable movements in foreign excha
rates.

Economic conditions are likely to materially adversly affect our revenue and results of operations.

Our business has been and may continue to be edfést a number of factors that are beyond our obstich as general geopolitic
economic and business conditions, conditions infitencial markets, and changes in the overall dehfar networking products. A sev:
and/or prolonged economic downturn could adversdfgct our customers' financial condition and tkegels of business activity of ¢
customers. Weakness in, and uncertainty aboutagkdnnomic conditions may cause businesses t@qustspending in response to tig
credit, negative financial news and/or declinesnicome or asset values, which could have a mategghtive effect on the demand
networking products.

In the recent past, slow economic growth through@uiious regions worldwide, especially in Europegsented significant challenges
our business. For example, we believe that deadedsmand in Europe adversely impacted our net tevém all three of our business u
during fiscal 2013, relative to prior periods. tfraitions in the global economy, including Europestralia and the United States, or other
vertical or geographic markets do not fully recowsrch conditions could have a material adverseainpn our business, operating results
financial condition. In addition, if we are unalte successfully anticipate changing economic andigal conditions, we may be unable
effectively plan for and respond to those changgich could materially adversely affect our bussaad results of operations.

In addition, the economic problems affecting theaficial markets and the uncertainty in global eatin@onditions resulted in a num
of adverse effects including a low level of ligwidin many financial markets, extreme volatility énedit, equity, currency and fixed inco
markets, instability in the stock market and higtemployment. For example, the challenges facedh&\European Union to stabilize som:
its member economies, such as Greece, Portugail,Sipangary and even lItaly, has had internationgblications affecting the stability
global financial markets and hindering economiesldvade. Many member nations in the European Urtiane been addressing the is:
with controversial austerity measures. Should thepean Union monetary policy measures be insefiicio restore confidence and stabilit
the financial markets, the recovery of the globabre@my, including the U.S. and European Union eotas where we have a signific
presence, could be hindered or reversed, whichdduaNe a material adverse effect on us. For exartteaggregate number of resellers of
products decreased during the third quarter of 2@&2believe this was caused by the difficult waiilde economic environment, and espec
the difficulties experienced in Europe. There caalkb be a number of other folloon effects from these economic developments andtive
economic trends on our business, including the ilibalof customers to obtain credit to finance puases of our products; custol
insolvencies; decreased customer confidence to pak@hasing decisions; decreased customer demaddjexreased customer ability to
their trade obligations.
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System security risks, data protection breaches andyber-attacks could disrupt our internal operations or information technology or
networking services provided to customers, and anguch disruption could reduce our expected revenudcrease our expenses, dama
our reputation and adversely affect our stock price

Maintaining the security of our computer informatisystems and communication systems is a critgsald for us and our custom
Hackers may develop and deploy viruses, worms dimer analicious software programs that are desigoesttack our products and syste
including our internal network, or those of our gers or customers. Additionally, outside partiesynastempt to fraudulently induce ¢
employees or users of our products to discloseitsensnformation in order to gain access to outadar our customers' data. We h
established a crisis management plan and busireggaity program. While we regularly test the pland the program, there can be
assurance that the plan and program can withstarattaal or serious disruption in our businesduitiog a data protection breach or cybel
attack. While we have established infrastructurd gaographic redundancy for our critical systems, ability to utilize these redund:
systems requires further testing and we cannotsbarad that such systems are fully functional. &@mple, much of our order fulfillme
process is automated and the order informatiotored on our servers. A significant business infgtion could result in losses or damages
harm our business. If our computer systems ancesego down at the end of a fiscal quarter, oulitahd recognize revenue may be dela
until we are able to utilize baakp systems and continue to process and ship oersriihis could cause our stock price to decligaicantly.
Moreover, potential breaches of our security messand the accidental loss, inadvertent disclosummapproved dissemination of proprie
information or sensitive or confidential data abostor our customers, including the potential lmsdisclosure of such information or data
result of hacking, fraud, trickery or other formsdeception, could expose us, our customers oiintiziduals affected to a risk of loss
misuse of this information, result in litigationdapotential liability for us, damage our brand aeputation or otherwise harm our business.

In addition, we offer a comprehensive online clooghitoring service paired with our Arlo Smart Hosezurity cameras. If hackers
compromise this cloud service, or if customer aderfitial information is accessed without author@atiour business will be harmed.
Furthermore, operating an online cloud servicergatively new business for us and we may not hlhgexpertise to properly manage risks
related to data security and systems securityelfive unable to successfully prevent breachescafiggrelating to our cloud service or
customer private information, including customeateds and customer personal identification inforamgtmanagement would need to spend
increasing amounts of time and effort in this asea our business would be harmed.

We have been and will be investing increased addithal in-house resources on software research and developnierhich could disrupt
our ongoing business and present distinct risks frm our historically hardware-centric business.

We plan to continue to evolve our historically haadecentric business model towards a model that includere sophisticated softw.
offerings. As such, we will further evolve the fecof our organization towards the delivery of mimtegrated hardware and software solut
for our customers. While we have invested in soféndevelopment in the past, we will be expendinditamhal resources in this area in
future. Such endeavors may involve significantgiakd uncertainties, including distraction of mamagnt from current operations, insuffici
revenue to offset liabilities assumed and expersss®ciated with the strategy, inadequate returrcapital, and unidentified issues
discovered in our due diligence. Software develapme inherently risky for a company such as ouithwa historically hardwareentric
business model, and accordingly, our efforts itveafe development may not be successful. Any ise@anvestment in software research
development may materially adversely affect ouafiicial condition and operating results.

We may spend a proportionately greater amount iware research and development in the future.elftannot proportionately decre
our cost structure in response to competitive ppieessures, our gross margin and, therefore, afitadility could be adversely affected.
addition, if our software solutions, pricing andet factors are not sufficiently competitive, orthiere is an adverse reaction to our pra
decisions, we may lose market share in certairsarelaich could adversely affect our revenue andgeots.

Software research and development is complex. W& make longerm investments, develop or obtain appropriatellettual propert
and commit significant resources before knowing tiveeour predictions will accurately reflect cusemademand for our products and servi
We must accurately forecast mixes of software smigtand configurations that meet customer requérgs) and we may not succeed at d
so within a given product's life cycle or at alinyAdelay in the development, production or marlgtha new software solution could resu
us not being among the first to market, which cduldher harm our competitive position. In additiaur regular testing and quality con
efforts may not be effective in controlling or detag all quality issues and defects. We may beblenéo determine the cause, find
appropriate solution or offer a temporary fix talezbs defects. Finding solutions to quality issaredefects can be expensive and may res
additional warranty, replacement and other costgesely affecting our profits. If new or existiogstomers have difficulty with our softwi
solutions or are dissatisfied with our services,aperating margins could be adversely affected,va@ could face possible claims if we
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fail to meet our customers' expectations. In addjtquality issues can impair our relationshipshwiew or existing customers and adver
affect our brand and reputation, which could adsigraffect our operating results.

We are subject to, and must remain in compliance wh, numerous laws and governmental regulations comening the manufacturing,
use, distribution and sale of our products, as weklis any such future laws and regulations. Some ofiocustomers also require that wi
comply with their own unique requirements relating to these matters. Any failure to comply with such dws, regulations ani
requirements, and any associated unanticipated castmay adversely affect our business, financial cdition and results of operations.

We manufacture and sell products which containtedaic components, and such components may coniaterials that are subject
government regulation in both the locations thatmanufacture and assemble our products, as wéiledecations where we sell our produ
For example, certain regulations limit the useeafd in electronic components. To our knowledgemaitain compliance with all applical
current government regulations concerning the riadsentilized in our products, for all the locat®im which we operate. Since we operate
global basis, this is a complex process which megutontinual monitoring of regulations and an anga@ompliance process to ensure tha
and our suppliers are in compliance with all erigtiegulations. There are areas where new regnfatiave been enacted which could incr
our cost of the components that we utilize or regjus to expend additional resources to ensure lcomsp. For example, the SEC passed
rules in August 2012 regarding investigation angtldisure of the use of certain “conflict minerails"our products. These rules apply to
business, and we are expending significant reseumcensure compliance. The implementation of thegairements by government regula
and our partners and/or customers could advergstdgtahe sourcing, availability, and pricing of merals used in the manufacture of cel
components used in our products. In addition, tippky-chain due diligence investigation required by tbaflict minerals rules will requii
expenditures of resources and management atterggardless of the results of the investigatiorthéfre is an unanticipated new regula
which significantly impacts our use of various caments or requires more expensive components,rédgaation would have a matel
adverse impact on our business, financial conddioa results of operations.

One area which has a large number of regulatiotisei®nvironmental compliance. Management of enwrental pollution and clima
change has produced significant legislative andleggry efforts on a global basis, and we beligvis will continue both in scope and
number of countries participating. These changaddcdirectly increase the cost of energy which niemwe an impact on the way
manufacture products or utilize energy to produge mroducts. In addition, any new regulations avdan the environmental area mi
increase the cost of raw materials we use in oodymts. Environmental regulations require us taicedproduct energy usage, monitor
exclude an expanding list of restricted substamarekto participate in required recover and recgeth our products. While future change
regulations are certain, we are currently unablerexlict how any such changes will impact us ansuith impacts will be material to «
business. If there is a new law or regulation #ignificantly increases our costs of manufactudngauses us to significantly alter the way
we manufacture our products, this would have a naigdverse effect on our business, financial domdand results of operations.

Our selling and distribution practices are alsautatgd in large part by U.S. federal and state el as foreign antitrust and competit
laws and regulations. In general, the objectivéheke laws is to promote and maintain free conipetliy prohibiting certain forms of cond:
that tend to restrict production, raise pricespthrerwise control the market for goods or servicethe detriment of consumers of those gt
and services. Potentially prohibited activities @endhese laws may include unilateral conduct, andoat undertaken as the result of
agreement with one or more of our suppliers, coitgust or customers. The potential for liabilityder these laws can be difficult to predic
it often depends on a finding that the challengedact resulted in harm to competition, such abdrigrices, restricted supply, or a reduc
in the quality or variety of products availablecmnsumers. We utilize a number of different disttibn channels to deliver our products to
end consumer, and regularly enter agreements estbllers of our products at various levels in tistridution chain that could be subjec
scrutiny under these laws in the event of privaigation or an investigation by a governmental getition authority. In addition, many of ¢
products are sold to consumers via the InternenyMd the competitiomelated laws that govern these Internet sales agopted prior to tt
advent of the Internet, and, as a result, do notetoplate or address the unique issues raised Imeauales. New interpretations of exist
laws and regulations, whether by courts or by thtesfederal, or foreign governmental authoritibarged with the enforcement of those |
and regulations, may also impact our business ipswee are currently unable to predict. Any failune our part or on the part of «
employees, agents, distributors or other businassgrs to comply with the laws and regulationsegning competition can result in nega
publicity and diversion of management time andréfimd may subject us to significant litigationbliities and other penalties.

In addition to government regulations, many of oustomers require us to comply with their own regients regarding manufacturi
health and safety matters, corporate social redipititys employee treatment, anterruption, use of materials and environmental eoms
Some customers may require us to periodically teporcompliance with their unique requirements, anthe customers reserve the rigt
audit our business for compliance. We are increggisubject to requests for compliance
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with these customer requirements. For examplegthas been significant focus from our customeraelsas the press regarding corpo
social responsibility policies. We regularly auditr manufacturers; however, any deficiencies in mleance by our manufacturers may h.
our business and our brand. In addition, we mayhawe the resources to maintain compliance withahmistomer requirements and failur
comply may result in decreased sales to these roess which may have a material adverse effectwnbasiness, financial condition &
results of operations.

We depend on a limited number of third-party manufacturers for substantially all of our manufacturing needs. If these thirdparty
manufacturers experience any delay, disruption or gality control problems in their operations, we cold lose market share and ou
brand may suffer.

All of our products are manufactured, assemblestete and generally packaged by a limited numbethmél party manufacture:
including original design manufacturers, or ODMsd ariginal equipment manufacturers, as well agrash manufacturers. In most cases
rely on these manufacturers to procure componerntsia some cases, subcontract engineering workeS# our products are manufactures
a single manufacturer. We do not have any long-teontracts with any of our third-party manufactsreSome of these thingarty
manufacturers produce products for our competiBte to weak economic conditions, the viabilitysoime of these thirdarty manufacture
may be at risk. Our ODM's are increasingly refusiogvork with us on certain projects, such as msjdor manufacturing products for «
service provider customers. Because our servicégepcustomers command significant resourcesudint for software support, and dem
extremely competitive pricing, our ODMs are stagtio refuse to engage on service provider terms. [bhs of the services of any of
primary thirdparty manufacturers could cause a significant gition in operations and delays in product shipme@salifying a ne\
manufacturer and commencing volume production [geasgive and time consuming. For example, as atreSbbth our April 2013 acquisitic
of the AirCard business from Sierra Wireless, bred our July 2012 acquisition of AVAAK, Inc., wewgacommenced doing business with
new contract manufacturers. Ensuring that a conimanufacturer is qualified to manufacture our pidd to our standards is time consurr
In addition, there is no assurance that a contrectufacturer can scale its production of our prtglat the volumes and in the quality thai
require. If a contract manufacturer is unable tdidese things, we may have to move productionHerproducts to a new or existing third p
manufacturer which would take significant effordaour business may be harmed. In addition, as wéeomlate moving manufacturing il
different jurisdictions, we will be subject to atidhal significant challenges in ensuring that @yaprocesses and costs, among other is
are consistent with our expectations. For examplgle we expect our manufacturers to be respondiblpenalties assessed on us becau
excessive failures of the products, there is norasse that we will be able to collect such reinsleunents from these manufacturers, w
causes us to take on additional risk for poterfdidlires of our products.

Our reliance on third-party manufacturers also sggaus to the following risks over which we hawditiéd control:
* unexpected increases in manufacturing and repais
« inability to control the quality and reliability dinished product:
« inability to control delivery schedule
* potential liability for expenses incurred byrthparty manufacturers in reliance on our forecasis [iier prove to be inaccure
- potential lack of adequate capacity to manufacdlirer a part of the products we require;
< potential labor unrest affecting the abilitytbé thirdparty manufacturers to produce our prodi

All of our products must satisfy safety and regutgtstandards and some of our products must atsve government certifications. €
third party manufacturers are primarily responsfbleobtaining most regulatory approvals for oungurcts. If our third party manufacturers
to obtain timely domestic or foreign regulatory empmls or certificates, we would be unable to eall products and our sales and profitak
could be reduced, our relationships with our salesnel could be harmed, and our reputation amtbreuld suffer.

Specifically, substantially all of our manufactgimccurs in the Asia Pacific region and any dison# from natural disasters, hei
epidemics and political, social and economic infitgtwould affect the ability of our third party amufacturers to manufacture our product
addition, our third party manufacturers in Chinaéa@ontinued to increase our costs of productiamtiqularly in the past couple of years
these costs continue to increase, it may affechtangins and ability to lower prices for our protiuto stay competitive. Recent labor unre
China may also affect our third party manufactuassvorkers may strike and cause production delagsir third party manufacturers fail

maintain good relations with their employees or
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contractors, and production and manufacturing of pmeducts is affected, then we may be subjecthtirtages of products and quality
products delivered may be affected. Further, if manufacturers or warehousing facilities are diszdpr destroyed, we would have no o
readily available alternatives for manufacturing products and our business would be significamégmed.

As we continue to work with more third party maraitaers on a contract manufacturing basis, we lareexposed to additional risks
inherent in a typical ODM arrangement. Such risleg/imclude our inability to properly source and lifyacomponents for the products, lack
software expertise resulting in increased softwiafects, and lack of resources to properly morttiermanufacturing process. In our typ
ODM arrangement, our ODMs are generally responsilsourcing the components of the products andgaméing that the products will wc
against a product's specification, including anfiveare specifications. In a contract manufactudngngement, we would take on much
if not all, of the responsibility around these areli we are unable to properly manage these risks products may be more susceptibl
defects and our business would be harmed.

We are currently involved in numerous litigation mdters and may in the future become involved in addional litigation, including
litigation regarding intellectual property rights, which could be costly and subject us to significaritability.

The networking industry is characterized by thesexice of a large number of patents and frequaithsland related litigation regard
infringement of patents, trade secrets and ottieléctual property rights. In particular, leadicgmpanies in the data communications mar
some of which are our competitors, have extensaterj portfolios with respect to networking teclogyl. From time to time, third partis
including these leading companies, have assertddnzay continue to assert exclusive patent, copyrighdemark and other intellect
property rights against us demanding license oaltgypayments or seeking payment for damages, dtipm relief and other available le
remedies through litigation. These also includedtpiarty nonpracticing entities who claim to own patents orestntellectual property th
cover industry standards that our products compith.wif we are unable to resolve these matters lm@io licenses on acceptable
commercially reasonable terms, we could be suedeomay be forced to initiate litigation to protemir rights. The cost of any neces:
licenses could significantly harm our business,rafpeg results and financial condition. We may atdwmose to join defensive pat
aggregation services in order to prevent or sétiggtion against such nopracticing entities and avoid the associated sicpmt costs ar
uncertainties of litigation. These patent aggregatservices may obtain, or have previously obtainednses for the alleged pat
infringement claims against us and other paterdgtaghat could be used offensively against us. cd#ts of such defensive patent aggreg
services, while potentially lower than the costditafation, may be significant as well. At any &nany of these nopracticing entities, or ai
other thirdparty could initiate litigation against us, or weynbe forced to initiate litigation against thenmhigh could divert managemt
attention, be costly to defend or prosecute, prewsnfrom using or selling the challenged technglogequire us to design around
challenged technology and cause the price of aaksto decline. In addition, third parties, somewdfom are potential competitors, h
initiated and may continue to initiate litigatioganst our manufacturers, suppliers, members ofsales channels or our service prov
customers or even end user customers, alleginop@geiment of their proprietary rights with respexteiisting or future products. In the ey
successful claims of infringement are brought bydtiparties, and we are unable to obtain licensethdependently develop alternat
technology on a timely basis, we may be subjecdntlemnification obligations, be unable to offer quetitive products, or be subject
increased expenses. Finally, consumer ciasi®n lawsuits related to the marketing and penorce of our home networking products f
been asserted and may in the future be assertétstiga. For additional information regarding certaf the lawsuits in which we are involw:
see the information set forth under Note€C®mmitments and Contingenci@snotes to the consolidated financial statemeanigeim 8 of Part
of this Annual Report on Form K- If we do not resolve these claims on a favoraidsis, our business, operating results and fiai
condition could be significantly harmed.

We are required to evaluate our internal controls umder Section 404 of the Sarbane®xley Act of 2002 and any adverse results fro
such evaluation, including restatements of our is®d financial statements, could impact investor cordence in the reliability of our
internal controls over financial reporting.

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarba®etey Act of 2002, we are required to furnish aamtfoy our management on our internal coi
over financial reporting. Such report must contimong other matters, an assessment of the effeeBgeof our internal control over finan
reporting as of the end of our fiscal year, inchgda statement as to whether or not our internarobover financial reporting is effective. T
assessment must include disclosure of any mategaknesses in our internal control over finana@glarting identified by management. Fi
time to time, we conduct internal investigationsaasesult of whistleblower complaints. In some amses, the whistleblower complaint r
implicate potential areas of weakness in our irgegontrols. Although all known material weakneshase been remediated, we cannc
certain that the measures we have taken ensuresgtatements will not occur in the future. Exemutbf restatements create a significant s
on our internal resources and could cause delagsiritiiling of quarterly or annual financial resjlincrease our costs and cause manag:
distraction. Restatements may also significantlgafour stock price in an adverse manner.
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Continued performance of the system and processnuectation and evaluation needed to comply withi&ee04 is both costly al
challenging. During this process, if our manageni@entifies one or more material weaknesses inirternal control over financial reportir
we will be unable to assert such internal contsokffective. If we are unable to assert that oterimal control over financial reporting
effective as of the end of a fiscal year or if mdependent registered public accounting firm ighla to express an opinion on the effective
of our internal control over financial reportingeveould lose investor confidence in the accuraay @mpleteness of our financial repc
which may have an adverse effect on our stock price

The marketability of our AirCard products may suffer if wireless telecommunications operators do not eliver acceptable wireles
services.

The success of the AirCard product line dependgait, on the capacity, affordability, reliabiliynd prevalence of wireless data netw
provided by wireless telecommunications operatads@ which our AirCard products operate. Currenthrious wireless telecommunicati
operators, either individually or jointly with usell our products in connection with the sale @ithwireless data services to their custon
Growth in demand for wireless data access mayriel if, for example, wireless telecommunicatiapserators cease or materially cu
operations, fail to offer services that customemsader valuable at acceptable prices, fail to ta&insufficient capacity to meet demand
wireless data access, delay the expansion of wiedtess networks and services, fail to offer aralmain reliable wireless network service
fail to market their services effectively.

In addition, the future growth of our AirCard pradiline depends on the successful deployment df geerxeration wireless data netwc
provided by third parties, including those netwoftis which we are currently developing productsthiése next generation networks are
deployed or widely accepted, or if deployment iged, there will be no market for the AirCard puots we are developing to operate on t
networks. If any of these events occurs, or ifdoy other reason the demand for wireless data sida#s to grow, sales of our products
decline or remain stagnant and our business cauttabmed.

If our products contain defects or errors, we couldincur significant unexpected expenses, experienggoduct returns and lost sales
experience product recalls, suffer damage to our land and reputation, and be subject to product liality or other claims.

Our products are complex and may contain defentstseor failures, particularly when first introdegt or when new versions are relea
The industry standards upon which many of our pctslare based are also complex, experience charggdime and may be interpretec
different manners. Some errors and defects maydoevkred only after a product has been instalfetused by the endser. For example,
January 2008, we announced a voluntary recallRdwaerline Ethernet Adapter made for Europe andratbentries as a result of a compot
failure under certain operating conditions.

In addition, epidemic failure clauses are foundentain of our customer contracts, especially @misrwith service providers. If invoki
these clauses may entitle the customer to returrefdacement or obtain credits for products aneirory, as well as assess liquidated dat
penalties and terminate an existing contract amdedafuture or then current purchase orders. Ih $nstances, we may also be obligate
cover significant costs incurred by the customepeisited with the consequences of such epidenligédaiincluding freight and transportat
required for product replacement and oupotket costs for truck rolls to end user sitesditect the defective products. Costs or payment
make in connection with an epidemic failure may ematly adversely affect our results of operati@msl financial condition. If our produ
contain defects or errors, or are found to be nomptiant with industry standards, we could experéedecreased sales and increased pr
returns, loss of customers and market share, amddsed service, warranty and insurance costslditi@n, our reputation and brand coulc
damaged, and we could face legal claims regardimgpducts. A product liability or other claim dduesult in negative publicity and harrr
our reputation, resulting in unexpected expenses adversely impacting our operating results. Fatance, if a third party were able
successfully overcome the security measures irppmducts, such a person or entity could misappat@riustomer data, third party data st
by our customers and other information, includimgeliectual property. In addition, the operatiorfsonr enduser customers may
interrupted. If that happens, affected end-usexttogrs may file actions against us alleging prodiability, tort, or breach of warranty claims.

If disruptions in our transportation network occur or our shipping costs substantially increase, we nyabe unable to sell or timel
deliver our products and our operating expenses cddiincrease.

We are highly dependent upon the transportatiotesys we use to ship our products, including surtaue air freight. Our attempts
closely match our inventory levels to our produetnéind intensify the need for our transportatioriesys to function effectively and withc
delay. On a quarterly basis, our shipping volunse &nds to steadily increase as the quarter psgsewhich means that any disruption ir
transportation network in the latter half of a qaawill likely have a more material effect on dausiness than at the beginning of a quarter.
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The transportation network is subject to disruptiorcongestion from a variety of causes, includatzpr disputes or port strikes, act:
war or terrorism, natural disasters and congesgsalting from higher shipping volumes. For exampieJune 2013, a ship carrying contail
of our products among its cargo sank, and the shprwas lost. Although covered by insurance, tbés lled to delays in delivery and
receipt of payment. Labor disputes among freighties and at ports of entry are common, partidylar Europe, and we expect labor un
and its effects on shipping our products to bergtioaing challenge for us. For example, a port weor$trike or other transportation disrup
in Long Beach, California, where we have a sigaific distribution center and where there was a gbam strike in July 2014, cot
significantly disrupt our business. Ounternational freight is regularly subjected togastion by governmental entities. If our deliveiyes
increase unexpectedly for these or any other resasom ability to deliver products on time would roaterially adversely affected and resu
delayed or lost revenue as well as customer imppsegdlties. In addition, if increases in fuel psi@ecur, our transportation costs would lil
increase. Moreover, the cost of shipping our préglby air freight is greater than other methodsnitime to time in the past, we have shi
products using extensive air freight to meet unetgk spikes in demand, shifts in demand betweedugtocategories, to bring new proc
introductions to market quickly and to timely sipippducts previously ordered. If we rely more heauippon air freight to deliver our produc
our overall shipping costs will increase. A proledgtransportation disruption or a significant irr@e in the cost of freight could seve
disrupt our business and harm our operating results

We are exposed to the credit risk of some of our stomers and to credit exposures in weakened marketahich could result in material
losses.

A substantial portion of our sales are on an opeditbasis, with typical payment terms of 30 todés in the United States and, bec
of local customs or conditions, longer in some magsloutside the United States. We monitor individuatomer financial viability in grantii
such open credit arrangements, seek to limit speim @redit to amounts we believe the customergpagnand maintain reserves we believe
adequate to cover exposure for doubtful accounts.

In the past, there have been bankruptcies amongstustomer base, and certain of our custonmtasinesses face financial challer
that put them at risk of future bankruptcies. Paaraple, our customer RadioShack Corp. recentlyl filg Chapter 11 bankruptcy protecti
Although any resulting loss has not been mateoialdte, future losses, if incurred, could harm lmuginess and have a material adverse ¢
on our operating results and financial condition.tfie degree that turmoil in the credit markets @esak more difficult for some customers
obtain financing, our customers' ability to pay Idole adversely impacted, which in turn could haveaterial adverse impact on our busir
operating results, and financial condition.

We are expanding our operations and infrastructure which may strain our operations and increase our perating expenses.

We are expanding our operations and pursuing magkgbrtunities both domestically and internationatl order to grow our sales. A
result of the acquisition of the AirCard businetS@rra Wireless, we have added two new locatiitis over 80 personnel housed at each
one in Carlsbad, California, and one in Richmondtigh Columbia. We expect that this expansion wadjuire enhancements to our exis
management information systems, and operationalfiaadcial controls. In addition, if we continue ¢gmow, our expenditures will likely |
significantly higher than our historical costs. \Wiay not be able to install adequate controls irféinient and timely manner as our busir
grows, and our current systems may not be adequatsupport our future operations. The difficultiassociated with installing a
implementing new systems, procedures and contrajs ptace a significant burden on our managememtatipnal and financial resources
addition, if we grow internationally, we will hate expand and enhance our communications infrasireicin the second fiscal quarter of 2(
we reorganized our business into three business: uatail, commercial, and service provider. Georganization into three business units
cause significant distraction to our managementemgloyees. For example, channel and pricing azieflinay arise in certain territories
each of our business units may engage in sellitigitees which may benefit that business unit a¢ #xpense of another business uni
addition, disclosures of previously npablic information in connection with our reorgaation may also provide our competitors with strad
data which may put us at a competitive disadvansagkeharm our business. These new disclosures aboyterformance may also cause
stock price to decline. As part of this expansind eeorganization, we have also commenced utilizimglternative customer support mode
certain of our end user technical support servi€bs alternative model permits a customer supagent to attempt to sell additional serv
and/or products to an end user who calls for texirsupport. If we are unable to successfully manidgs alternative model, our end
customers may become frustrated with the custopareence and cease purchasing our products, arsliginess would be harmed. If we
to continue to improve our management informatigsteams, procedures and financial controls or eneowmexpected difficulties duri
expansion and reorganization, our business coulthbrmed.

For example, we have invested, and will continuatest, significant capital and human resourcethéndesign and enhancement of
financial and enterprise resource planning systevhgsh may be disruptive to our underlying businé¥e depend on these systems in ord
timely and accurately process and report key comptsnof our results of operations, financial
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position and cash flows. If the systems fail torape appropriately or we experience any disrupt@mmdelays in enhancing their functionality
meet current business requirements, our abiliflfdl customer orders, bill and track our custaefulfill contractual obligations, accurat
report our financials and otherwise run our businesuld be adversely affected. Even if we do natoanter these adverse effects,
enhancement of systems may be much more costlyweaanticipated. If we are unable to continue thagrwe our information technolc
systems as planned, our financial position, resiltsperations and cash flows could be negativalyacted.

We invest in companies for both strategic and finagial reasons, but may not realize a return on oumivestments.

We have made, and continue to seek to make, ineastnin companies around the world to further drategic objectives and supg
our key business initiatives. These investments malude equity or debt instruments of public oivate companies, and may be non
marketable at the time of our initial investmente \Wb not restrict the types of companies in whiehsgek to invest. These companies
range from earlystage companies that are often still defining tisdiategic direction to more mature companies wikablished reven
streams and business models. If any company inhwmvie invest fails, we could lose all or part of anvestment in that company. If '
determine that an other-th&émporary decline in the fair value exists for guigy or debt investment in a public or private gamy in whicl
we have invested, we will have to write down theestment to its fair value and recognize the rdlatdgte-down as an investment loss. °
performance of any of these investments could ré@s@ignificant impairment charges and gains @s3®n other equity investments. We r
also analyze accounting and legal issues when makase investments. If we do not structure thegestments properly, we may be subje
certain adverse accounting issues, such as pdteotisolidation of financial results.

Furthermore, if the strategic objectives of an Btagent have been achieved, or if the investmemiusmess diverges from our strate
objectives, we may seek to dispose of the investn@@uwr nonmarketable equity investments in private compaaiesnot liquid, and we m
not be able to dispose of these investments orrdal® terms or at all. The occurrence of any o$¢hevents could harm our results. Gair
losses from equity securities could vary from expggons depending on gains or losses realized ens#le or exchange of securities
impairment charges related to debt instrumentsedsas equity and other investments.

We rely upon third parties for technology that is eitical to our products, and if we are unable to catinue to use this technology an
future technology, our ability to develop, sell, mantain and support technologically innovative prodicts would be limited.

We rely on third parties to obtain nexclusive patented hardware and software licergggsiin technologies that are incorporated
and necessary for the operation and functionafityast of our products. In these cases, becausatiliectual property we license is availe
from third parties, barriers to entry into certaiwarkets may be lower for potential or existing cefitprs than if we owned exclusive right:
the technology that we license and use. MoreoYe competitor or potential competitor enters iatoexclusive arrangement with any of
key thirdparty technology providers, or if any of these pdevs unilaterally decide not to do business wishfar any reason, our ability
develop and sell products containing that technoleguld be severely limited. If we are shipping gwots that contain thirgarty technolog
that we subsequently lose the right to licensea) thie will not be able to continue to offer or suggbose products. In addition, these licel
often require royalty payments or other consideratd the third party licensor. Our success wilbeied, in part, on our continued ability
access these technologies, and we do not know ehétlese thirgparty technologies will continue to be licensedut on commercial
acceptable terms, if at all. If we are unable ¢erise the necessary technology, we may be forcachtgre or develop alternative technolog
lower quality or performance standards, which wdirtdt and delay our ability to offer new or comjgete products and increase our cost
production. As a result, our margins, market shame, operating results could be significantly hatme

We also utilize thirgearty software development companies to develogtomize, maintain and support software that isripemated int
our products. If these companies fail to timelyiwsl or continuously maintain and support the safey as we require of them, we r
experience delays in releasing new products oicdiffes with supporting existing products and omsérs. In addition, if these thipghrty
licensors fail or experience instability, then waynbe unable to continue to sell products thatripote the licensed technologies in add
to being unable to continue to maintain and suppguwse products. We do require escrow arrangenvathisrespect to certain thirgarty
software which entitle us to certain limited rightsthe source code, in the event of certain fagduwy the third party, in order to maintain
support such software. However, there is no guaeatitat we would be able to understand and usedinee code, as we may not have
expertise to do so. We are increasingly exposethdee risks as we continue to develop and markeé moducts containing thirgarty
software, such as our TV connectivity, security aptivork attached storage products.
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If we are unable to secure and protect our intelldaal property rights, our ability to compete could be harmed.

We rely upon third parties for a substantial partad the intellectual property that we use in owrducts. At the same time, we rely ¢
combination of copyright, trademark, patent andiérgecret laws, nondisclosure agreements with greesy consultants and suppliers
other contractual provisions to establish, maingaid protect our intellectual property rights. Despfforts to protect our intellectual prope
unauthorized third parties may attempt to desigruiad, copy aspects of our product design or olaath use technology or other intellec
property associated with our products. For exangie, of our primary intellectual property assetthhssNETGEAR name, trademark and Ic
We may be unable to stop third parties from adgpsimilar names, trademarks and logos, particularthose international markets where
intellectual property rights may be less protectagthermore, our competitors may independentlyetigy similar technology or design arol
our intellectual property. Our inability to secuard protect our intellectual property rights cosignificantly harm our brand and busin
operating results and financial condition.

Our sales and operations in international markets ¥pose us to operational, financial and regulatoryisks.

International sales comprise a significant amodrduy overall net revenue. International sales wks% of overall net revenue in fis
year 2014 and 44% in fiscal year 2013. We contilouge committed to growing our international saled while we have committed resoul
to expanding our international operations and salemnels, these efforts may not be successfudriational operations are subject
number of other risks, including:

» political and economic instability, internatidrti@rrorism and antAmerican sentiment, particularly in emerging mast

« potential for violations of antterruption laws and regulations, such as thoseeel® bribery and frau

« preference for locally branded products, and lamélausiness practices favoring local competi

« exchange rate fluctuatiol

e increased difficulty in managing inventc

« delayed revenue recognitit

« less effective protection of intellectual prope

e stringent consumer protection and product comp#anegulations, including but not limited to the Riesion of HazardoL
Substances directive, the Waste Electrical andtileic Equipment directive and the recently enad&tatbpean Ecodesign directi
or EuP, that are costly to comply with and may Vfaoyn country to country;

« difficulties and costs of staffing and managingefgn operation:

* business difficulties, including potential bankreypbr liquidation, of any of our worldwide third g logistics providers; ar

« changes in local tax laws or changes in the enfoecg, application or interpretation of such le

While we believe we generally have good relatioiith wur employees, employees in certain jurisditgitiave rights which give the
certain collective rights. If management must expeignificant resources and effort to address amdpty with these rights, our business 1
be harmed. We are also required to comply withllecaironmental legislation and our customers alythis compliance in order to sell |
products. If our customers do not agree with oterpretations and requirements of new legislatiuth as the EuP, they may cease to
our products and our revenue would be harmed.

Governmental regulations of imports or exports affeting Internet security could affect our net revene.

Any additional governmental regulation of importsexports or failure to obtain required export awail of our encryption technolog
could adversely affect our international and doinesdles. The United States and various foreigregowents have imposed controls, ex
license requirements, and restrictions on the itn@oexport of some technologies, particularly gption technology. In addition, from time

time, governmental agencies have proposed additregalation of encryption technology, such as reng the escrow and governmer
recovery of private encryption keys. In responsgetmrist activity, governments
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could enact additional regulation or restrictiontba use, import, or export of encryption techngloghis additional regulation of encrypti
technology could delay or prevent the acceptanceuse of encryption products and public networksscure communications, resulting
decreased demand for our products and servicesddition, some foreign competitors are subjecess Istringent controls on exporting t
encryption technologies. As a result, they maylidle o compete more effectively than we can inUinéed States and the international Inte
security market.

We are exposed to credit risk and fluctuations intie market values of our investment portfolio.

Although we have not recognized any material logssesur cash equivalents and shiern investments, future declines in their me
values could have a material adverse effect orfinancial condition and operating results. Givea tobal nature of our business, we t
investments with both domestic and internationadficial institutions. Accordingly, we face expostwoefluctuations in interest rates, wh
may limit our investment income. If these finandiastitutions default on their obligations or theiedit ratings are negatively impactec
liquidity issues, credit deterioration or lossaémafcial results, or other factors, the value of cash equivalents and shéetm investmen
could decline and result in a material impairmevitich could have a material adverse effect on mamicial condition and operating results.

Economic conditions, political events, war, terrorsm, public health issues, natural disasters and ogn circumstances could materiall
adversely affect us.

Our corporate headquarters are located in NortBaitifornia and one of our warehouses is locate8danthern California, both of whi
are regions known for seismic activity. Substahtiall of our critical enterprisevide information technology systems, including ooair
servers, are currently housed in colocation faeditin Mesa, Arizona. While our critical informatidechnology systems are locate:
colocation facilities in a different geographic i@gin the United States, our headquarters andhearses remain susceptible to seismic ac
so long as they are located in California. In daddijtsubstantially all of our manufacturing occimswo geographically concentrated aree
mainland China, where disruptions from natural stisis, health epidemics and political, social atmhemic instability may affect the regi
If our manufacturers or warehousing facilities disrupted or destroyed, we would be unable toitiste our products on a timely basis, wt
could harm our business.

We depend significantly on worldwide economic coiedis and their impact on consumer spending lewelsich have recent
deteriorated significantly in many countries andioes, including without limitation the United Stat and may remain depressed foi
foreseeable future. Factors that could influeneelévels of consumer spending include increasésahand other energy costs, condition
the residential real estate and mortgage markaerland healthcare costs, access to credit, carscomfidence and other macroeconc
factors affecting consumer spending behavior.

In addition, war, terrorism, geopolitical uncertiés, public health issues, and other businessrimgons have caused and could ci
damage or disruption to international commerce #edglobal economy, and thus could have a stromgthe effect on us, our supplie
logistics providers, manufacturing vendors and @ustrs. Our business operations are subject torumtgon by natural disasters, fire, poy
shortages, terrorist attacks, and other hostils, éabor disputes, public health issues, and ahents beyond our control. For example, i
disputes at manufacturing facilities in China ocedrin 2010 and have led to workers going on strfikee recent trend of labor unrest cc
materially affect our thirggarty manufacturers' abilities to manufacture aadpcts. In addition, all of our major direct amdlirect suppliers «
hard disk drives have been affected by record flgpth Thailand in the third fiscal quarter of 2Qhd they informed us that our supply cl
would be constrained for an indefinite amount ofdj up to six months in some cases. Some therdéwlared a force majeure event and |
stated that, in addition to and because of thelgugmstraints, pricing for hard disk drives wouhdrease significantly until they were able
stabilize the situation. As a result, we experientereased prices in the cost of hard disk draved ceased accepting any orders conta
ReadyNAS products with hard disk drives. In additiall sales and marketing promotions involving (R&AS products were terminal
temporarily. Further, we declared the existenca @drce majeure event under our contracts withagertustomers. Accordingly, our busin
was harmed. Furthermore, earthquakes and resultafgar threats and tsunamis in Japan in March 2@li$ed some disruption to our suj
of raw materials and components for our productsianpacted our operating results in Japan.

Such events could decrease demand for our produetss it difficult or impossible for us to make adeliver products to our custom
or to receive components from our suppliers, arehter delays and inefficiencies in our supply ch&hould major public health issu
including pandemics, arise, we could be negatiadfgcted by more stringent employee travel restmst, additional limitations in freig
services, governmental actions limiting the movenoémproducts between regions, delays in produationps of new products, and disrupti
in the operations of our manufacturing vendors @mponent suppliers.
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Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
ltem 2. Properties

Our principal administrative, sales, marketing aeskarch and development facilities currently ogcagproximately 142,700 square 1
in an office complex in San Jose, California, uralézase that expires in March 2018.

Our international headquarters occupy approximdat@lp00 square feet in an office complex in Coréland, under a lease entered ini
February 2006 and expiring in December 2026. Owarirational sales personnel are based out of &adab offices or home offices in Aust
Australia, Belgium, Canada, China, Denmark, Framf@ermany, Hong Kong, India, Ireland, Italy, JapEoyea, Poland, Russia, Singap
Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, the Netherlands, thee\rab Emirates, and the United Kingdom. We dlage operations personnel usir
leased facility in Hong Kong. We also maintain wesk and development facilities in Atlanta, Cartsb@hicago, Beijing and Nanjing Chi
Richmond B.C., and in Taipei, Taiwan. From timeite we consider various alternatives related tolongterm facilities needs. While \
believe our existing facilities provide suitableasp for our operations and are adequate to medtronediate needs, it may be necessa
lease additional space to accommodate future growtb have invested in internal capacity and stiateglationships with outsic
manufacturing vendors as needed to meet anticikedhnd for our products.

We use third parties to provide warehousing sesvioeus, consisting of facilities in Southern Gatifia, Australia, Hong Kong and 1
Netherlands

Item 3. Legal Proceedings
The information set forth under the heading "Litiga and Other Legal Matters" in Note @mmitments and Contingencigis Notes ti

Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 of Raot this Annual Report on Form 1K; is incorporated herein by reference. For addl
discussion of certain risks associated with legatpedings, see Item 1Rjsk Factors

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Skbwlder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Seities
Market Information
Our common stock is publicly traded on the Nasdémp@ Select Market ("Nasdaq") under the symbol @R". The following table se

forth for the indicated periods the high and lowaday sales prices for our common stock on thel@sSuch information reflects interde.
prices, without retail markup, markdown or comnossiand may not represent actual transactions.

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2014 High Low

First Quarter $ 36.27 $ 30.1¢
Second Quarter 35.7¢ 31.2C
Third Quarter 35.4( 30.8(
Fourth Quarter 36.7( 29.7(
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2013 High Low

First Quarter $ 40.97 $ 32.1(
Second Quarter 34.2¢ 26.82
Third Quarter 33.9( 28.1:
Fourth Quarter 33.4¢ 28.21
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Company Performance

Notwithstanding any statement to the contrary ig ahour previous or future filings with the SE@e tfollowing information relating to tl
price performance of our common stock shall nodeemedfiled” with the SEC or “soliciting material” under the Exchange Act and shall
be incorporated by reference into any such filings.

The following graph shows a comparison from Decendige 2009 through December 31, 2014 of cumulaidtal return for our commic
stock, the Nasdag Composite Index and the Nasdatp@er Index. Such returns are based on histasailts and are not intended to sug
future performance. Data for the Nasdag Compositiex and the Nasdaq Computer Index assume reingesth dividends. We have ne

paid dividends on our common stock and have nceptgsans to do so.
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Holders of Common Stock
On February 17, 2015, there were 22 stockholdersaufrd.

The number of record holders is based upon theaketumber of holders registered on our books &t siate and does not include holc
of shares in “street namest persons, partnerships, associations, corposatiomther entities identified in security positigstings maintaine

by depository trust companies.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends owapital stock. We do not anticipate paying casiddnds in the foreseeable future.
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Repurchase of Equity Securities by the Company

Total Number of

Average Price Paid per

Total Number of Shares
Purchased as Part of Publicly
Announced Plans or Programs

Maximum Number of Shares
that May Yet Be Purchased

Period Shares Purchased (2) Share 1) Under the Plans or Programs

September 29, 2014 - October 26, 2014 735,91¢ $ 31.1¢ 706,16: 3,000,00!

October 27, 2014 - November 23, 2014 72¢  $ 34.0¢ — 3,000,001

November 24, 2014 - December 31, 2014 1,261 $ 34.9¢ — 3,000,00i!
Total 737,900 g 31.1¢ 706,16:

(1) On October 21, 2008, the Board of Directors autteatithe repurchase of up to 6.0 million sharesuofoaitstanding common stock. Under this authodzatthe timing an
actual number of shares subject to repurchaset #ne discretion of management and are contingerat sumber of factors, such as levels of cash géoarfrom operation
cash requirements for acquisitions and the pricguofcommon stock. On October 17, 2014, the Boafirectors authorized the management to repurchpge 3.0 millior
shares of our outstanding common stock. This isemental to the remaining shares on our previoasestepurchase program. During the three monthscebecember 3
2014, we repurchased and retired, reported basedd® date, approximately 0.7 million shares ohgwn stock at a cost of $22.0 million under thighatization.

(2) During the three months ended December 31, 2014emerchased and retired, as reported on trade apeoximately 32,000 shares of common stock @ist of $1.!

million to help facilitate tax withholding for RSUs

Refer to Note 10Stockholders' Equityof the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemientisis Annual Report on Form 10-K for more

information regarding our stock repurchase programs
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Iltem 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated financial date qualified in their entirety, and should be réadonjunction with, the consolidal
financial statements and related notes thereto, slahagement's Discussion and Analysis of FinanCiahdition and Results of Operations
included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

We derived the selected consolidated statemenpefations data for the years ended December 34, 20013 and 201and the selectt
consolidated balance sheet data as of Decemb&034, and 2013 om our audited consolidated financial statememgearing elsewhere
this Form 10-K. We derived the selected consoldiai@mtement of operations data for the years emdmgmber 31, 2011 and 20a6d th
selected consolidated balance sheet data as ofiibece81, 2012 , 2011 and 20ft6m our audited consolidated financial statementgch are
not included in this Form 10-K. Historical resudi® not necessarily indicative of results to beeeigd for future periods.

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 (1) 2013 (1) 2012 2011 2010
(In thousands, except per share data)
Net revenue $ 1,393,511 $ 1,369,633 $ 1,271,922 $ 1,181,011 $ 902,05:
Cost of revenue (3) 995,59 976,01¢ 888,36! 811,57: 602,80"
Gross profit 397,91¢ 393,61! 383,55: 369,44t 299,24"
Operating expenses:
Research and development (3) 90,90: 85,16¢ 61,06¢ 48,69¢ 39,97:
Sales and marketing (3) 157,01 153,80 149,76t 154,56 131,57(
General and administrative (3) 46,55 48,91¢ 45,027 39,42: 36,22(
Restructuring and other charges 2,20¢ 5,33¢ 1,19( 2,092 (88)
Litigation reserves, net (1,019 5,35¢ 39C (207) 211
Goodwill impairment charges 74,19¢ — — _ —
Intangibles impairment charges — 2,00( — — =
Total operating expenses 369,86! 300,57¢ 257,43¢ 244 57" 207,88
Income from operations 28,05 93,03¢ 126,11 124,86¢ 91,36
Interest income 258 40C 49¢ 477 42¢€
Other income (expense), net 2,45¢ (457) 2,67(C (1,13¢) (564)
Income before income taxes 30,76 92,98: 129,28: 124,21( 91,22«
Provision for income taxes 21,97: 37,76¢ 42,74 32,84: 40,31t
Net income $ 8,78t % 55,217 $ 86,53¢ % 91,36¢ $ 50,90¢
Net income per share:
Basic (2) $ 028 % 144 $ 221§ 24¢ $ 1.44
Diluted (2) $ 02¢ % 14z $ 22 % 241 % 1.41

(1) Includes the impact of AirCard acquisition.fé&ao Note 2Business Acquisitioria Notes to Consolidated Financial StatementsamI8 of Part Il of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

(2) Information regarding calculation of per shdata is described in Note et Income Per Sharen Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementteim 8 of Part Il of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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(3) Stockbased compensation expense was allocated as ft

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)
Cost of revenue $ 2,037 $ 1577 $ 1347 $ 99¢ % 91z
Research and development 4,91¢ 3,94: 2,78 2,47¢ 2,271
Sales and marketing 6,16¢ 5,37¢ 4,751 5,13¢ 4,71(
General and administrative 6,89: 6,56: 5,48 5,151 4,307

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

As of December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments $ 257,12¢ $ 248,15: $ 376,87 $ 353,69! $ 270,73
Working capital $ 518,84¢ $ 500,02¢ $ 603,27¢ $ 525,26¢ $ 413,32:
Total assets $ 104868 $ 109393 $ 1,03456 $ 971,37  $ 780,32:
Total current liabilities $ 304,11« $ 300,08: $ 260,93( $ 308,96: $ 254,72:
Total non-current liabilities $ 23,00¢ $ 20,06 $ 19,02¢ $ 23,65 $ 25,16:
Total stockholders' equity $ 721,56 $ 773,78, $ 754,61, $ 638,75 $ 500,43¢
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Item 7. Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion of ouaificial condition and results of operations togethdth the audited consolidat
financial statements and notes to the financiatesteents included elsewhere in this Forn-K. This discussion contains forwatoieking
statements that involve risks and uncertaintiese Tdrwardiooking statements are not historical facts, buthea are based on curre
expectations, estimates, assumptions and projectidmout our industry, business and future finanogdults. Our actual results could dif
materially from the results contemplated by theseérd-looking statements due to a number of fa;torcluding those discussed und&isk
Factor<” in Part I, Item 1A above.

Business and Executive Overview

We are a global networking company that deliverouative products to consumers, businesses anttagiroviders. Our products
built on a variety of proven technologies such &ebess, Ethernet and powerline, with a focus diabdity and ease-ofise. Our product lir
consists of wired and wireless devices that enablevorking, broadband access and network connsctiVhese products are available
multiple configurations to address the needs ofema-users in each geographic region in which cadyrcts are sold.

We operate in three specific business segmentsl,rebmmercial, and service provider. Each busingst is managed by a Senior v
President/General Manager. We believe this stractmables us to better focus our efforts on oue castomer segments and allows us 1
more nimble and opportunistic as a company ovetall. CEO began temporarily serving as interim gain@anager of the retail business
in March 2014 and as interim general manager ofstheice provider business unit in February 2018 ttuthe previous general manag
departures from the Company. Our CEO will continoeserve as interim general manager of both businedts until replacements |
appointed. The retail business unit is focusedratividual consumers and consists of high perforraaniependable and easyttse hom
networking, home video security, storage and digitadia products. The commercial business unib@iged on small and mediwsirec
businesses and consists of business networkingg@nd security solutions that bring enterprigescfunctionality at an affordable price.
service provider business unit is focused on tiheice provider market and consists of made-to-oedet retailproven whole home networki
hardware and software solutions, as well as 4G h@tpots sold to service providers for sale torthebscribers. We conduct business ac
three geographic regions: Americas, Europe, MidtHist and Africa (“EMEA”) and Asia Pacific (“APAC").

The retail, commercial business, and broadbandicgeprovider markets are intensely competitive anbject to rapid technologic
change. We believe that the principal competitaetdrs in the retail, commercial, and service perimarkets for networking products incl
product breadth, size and scope of the sales chadmaad name, timeliness of new product introdautdi product availability, performan
features, functionality and reliability, easeioétallation, maintenance and use, and customeicgeand support. To remain competitive,
believe we must continue to aggressively investugses in developing new products and enhancingouent products while continuing
expand our channels and maintaining customer aatish worldwide.

We sell our networking products through multipldesachannels worldwide, including traditional réges, online retailers, wholes.
distributors, direct market resellers (‘DMRs”"), vatadded resellers (“VARs"gnd broadband service providers. Our retail chamudlide:
traditional retail locations domestically and imationally, such as Best Buy, Costco, Fry’'s Eleuts, K-mart, Sears, Staples, Target, Wa
Mart, Argos (U.K.), Dixons (U.K.), PC World (U.K.MediaMarkt (Germany, Austria), Dick Smith (Austegl JB HiFi (Australia), Elkjo
(Norway) and Lenovo (China). Online retailers imtduAmazon.com, Dell, Newegg.com and Buy.com. OurR3Nhclude CDW Corporatic
Insight Corporation and PC Connection in domestarkats and Misco throughout Europe. In addition, also sell our products throu
broadband service providers, such as multiple systperators (“MSOs”)DSL, and other broadband technology operators dicadg anc
internationally. Some of these retailers and braadbservice providers purchase directly from us|entihers are fulfilled through wholes
distributors around the world. A substantial partaf our net revenue to date has been derived &dimited number of wholesale distribut
and retailers. We expect that these wholesaleildlistrs and retailers will continue to contributsignificant percentage of our net revenue
the foreseeable future.

We experienced revenue growth of 1.7% during tlee gaded December 31, 201%he increase in net revenue was primarily attabig
to increased sales of our mobile products acquivemligh our acquisition of AirCard and broadbantegays, partially offset by a decreas
sales of our multimedia products. On a geograpagish net revenue increased in the APAC regiongdrprimarily by an increase in sale:
our mobile, home wireless and broadband gatewagugts, partially offset by a reduction in saleof small business wireless products.
revenue increased in the EMEA region, driven prilmdy an increase in sales of our broadband gagsyvpartially offset by a reduction
sales of our mobile products. Net revenue decreasdéide Americas region, driven primarily by a retlan in sales of our home wirele
multimedia, home security and automation products a
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switches, partially offset by an increase in salesur mobile products. On a segment basis, sepiogider net revenue increased, prime
due to an increase in gross shipments of mobildymts, as a result of the AirCard acquisition whieks completed on April 2, 2013. Retall
revenue decreased slightly, due primarily to a cédn in gross shipments of our multimedia and pdiwe products, partially offset by
increase in gross shipments of home wireless ptedaied broadband gateways. Commercial net reverueeased from prior year, ¢
primarily to a reduction in gross shipments of natwork storage and wireless products, partialfgeifby an increase in shipments of switc

In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2014, we satlealine in net revenue in the service provideorgpg unit. According to our custome
purchase constraints will tighten further in 208l or the foreseeable future. Due to the declinthé estimated fair value of the business
result of the decline in the lortgrm revenue and profitability projections of treporting unit, we recorded a goodwill impairmentuce
of $74.2 million related to the service providesimess unit in the fourth quarter of fiscal yeat20

Looking forward, we expect growth in retail busisesit mainly driven by continued introduction amiler adoption of our new 802.
ac technology, accelerated penetration of homergg@utomation products and establishment in caglalieway market. We expect growtl
our commercial business unit driven by sales of HiGig switches, POE switches, storage and wirgdesducts among small and medium
sized businesses and end users. Although servizédpr results remained strong for the first thogearters of 2014, we expect revenue
continue to decline due to further weakness intahpkpense spending by certain service providetsoth North America and in Europe.
also expect to incur restructuring charges of betw®7.0 and $9.0 million during the first half d15, as part of a plan to reduce the
structure of the service provider business unit suygporting functions to match the reduced revesuttok and to concentrate resource
longterm and profitable accounts. We remain focusedrgroving profitability, while investing in key @itegic growth areas. The areas
we are targeting continue to be mobile LTE, 802c]1t®me security and automation and the under-desuell and mediursized busine!
market.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements have beepaped in accordance with accounting principles galyeaccepted in the United Sts
of America and pursuant to the rules and regulatiohthe U.S. Securities and Exchange Commissi®EC"). The preparation of the
financial statements requires management to makenmggions, judgments and estimates that can hasign#icant impact on the report
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and exgzee base our estimates on historical experiandeon various other assumptions beli¢
to be applicable and reasonable under the circunossa Actual results could differ significantly fnothese estimates. These estimates
change as new events occur, as additional infoomagi obtained and as our operating environmemgés On a regular basis we evaluate
assumptions, judgments and estimates and make eharordingly. We also discuss our critical actiognestimates with the Aut
Committee of the Board of Directors. NoteThe Company and Summary of Significant Accountiolgcies , of the Notes to Consolidal
Financial Statements of this Annual Report on FdK describes the significant accounting policies duse the preparation of t
consolidated financial statements. We have listldvb our critical accounting policies that we beéieo have the greatest potential impac
our consolidated financial statements. Historicadiyr assumptions, judgments and estimates relatioer critical accounting policies have
differed materially from actual results.

Revenue Recognition

Refer to Note 1The Company and Summary of Significant Accountwoigies, of the Notes to Consolidatédnancial Statements of tl
Annual Report on Form 1B-for a discussion of our revenue recognition gekc Revenue from product sales is generally rezedmat th
time the product is shipped, provided that persigasvidence of an arrangement exists, title arldaidoss has transferred to the customer
selling price is fixed or determinable and collentiof the related receivable is reasonably ass@adently, for some of our customers, -
passes to the customer upon delivery to the pacbontry of destination, upon their receipt of gfreduct, or upon the customgnr'esale of tt
product. At the end of each fiscal quarter, wenesté and defer revenue related to product whéeehtits not transferred. The revenue conti
to be deferred until such time that title passetheéocustomer. We have not made any material clsaing@e accounting methodology we us
estimate deferred revenue related to product wtitdeehas not transferred. We do not believe theile be a material change in the fut
estimates or assumptions used in our estimate fefréd revenue. We assess collectability based pangber of factors, including gene
economic and market conditions, past transactistoty with the customer, and the creditworthineshe customer. If we determine t
collection of the corresponding receivable is matsonably assured, we defer the recognition ofwaventil receipt of payment.
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Allowances for Warranty Obligations, Returns due &tock Rotation, Sales Incentives and Doubtful Accds

Our standard warranty obligation to our direct oustrs generally provides for a right of return of @roduct for a full refund in ti
event that such product is not merchantable oousid to be damaged or defective. At the time regeBuecognized, an estimate of fu
warranty returns is recorded to reduce revenubdéramount of the expected credit or refund to lo@iged to our direct customers. At the t
we record the reduction to revenue related to wyreeturns, we include within cost of revenue aewlown to reduce the carrying value
such products to net realizable value. Our standanulanty obligation to endsers provides for replacement of a defective prbthr one o
more years. Factors that affect the warranty ohbibgainclude product failure rates, material usaged service delivery costs incurrec
correcting product failures. The estimated cosbeiased with fulfilling the warranty obligation tendusers is recorded in cost of revel
Because our products are manufactured by thirdrpagnufacturers, in certain cases we have recdorske thirdparty manufacturer fi
replacement or credit for the defective productse Wive consideration to amounts recoverable from third-party manufacturers
determining our warranty liability. Our estimatelfoevances for product warranties can vary from atresults and we may have to rec
additional revenue reductions or charges to cost\vnue, which could materially impact our finahgiosition and results of operations.

In addition to warrantyelated returns, certain distributors and retailgeserally have the right to return product forcktwotatior
purposes. Upon shipment of the product, we redexenue for an estimate of potential future stot¢&tion returns related to the current pe
product revenue. We analyze historical returnspnobhinventory levels, current economic trends ahdnges in customer demand for
products when evaluating the adequacy of the athoedor sales returns, namely stock rotation retu®ur estimated allowances for rett
due to stock rotation can vary from actual resaitd we may have to record additional revenue réhsstwhich could materially impact ¢
financial position and results of operations.

We accrue for sales incentives as a marketing espignve receive an identifiable benefit in exchamagd can reasonably estimate the
value of the identifiable benefit received; othessyiit is recorded as a reduction of revenues.edtimated provisions for sales incentives
vary from actual results and we may have to reeaiditional expenses or additional revenue redustaependent on the classification of
sales incentive.

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts destimated losses resulting from the inability of @ustomers to make requil
payments. We regularly perform credit evaluatioh®ur customersfinancial condition and consider factors such agohical experienc
credit quality, age of the accounts receivable riiada, and geographic or counspecific risks and economic conditions that mayectff
customers ability to pay. The allowance for doubtful acctauis reviewed quarterly and adjusted if necesbased on our assessments of
customers’ability to pay. If the financial condition of oumustomers should deteriorate or if actual defaufes lagher than our historic
experience, additional allowances may be requisdch could have an adverse impact on operating resgs.

Valuation of Inventory

We value our inventory at the lower of cost or nedylkost being determined using the first-in, fost method. We continually assess
value of our inventory and will periodically wriown its value for estimated excess and obsoletentory based upon assumptions a
future demand and market conditions. On a quartesis, we review inventory quantities on hand @marder under nonancelable purcha
commitments, including consignment inventory, irmparison to our estimated forecast of product deimfan the next nine months
determine what inventory, if any, are not saleallar analysis is based on the demand forecastaiestinto account market conditic
product development plans, product life expectasg other factors. Based on this analysis, we wddwn the affected inventory value
estimated excess and obsolescence charges. Atthe gl loss recognition, a new, lower cost bagis that inventory is established, :
subsequent changes in facts and circumstancestdesudt in the restoration or increase in that Iyesgtablished cost basis. As demonstr
during prior years, demand for our products cawtélate significantly. If actual demand is lowerrthaur forecasted demand and we fa
reduce our manufacturing accordingly, we coulddmpiired to write down the value of additional int@®, which would have a negative efl
on our gross profit.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the purchase price over estichtir value of net assets of businesses acqinracusiness combination. Good
acquired in a business combination is not amortibedl instead tested for impairment at least aywad the first day of the fourth quart
Should certain events or indicators of impairmestur between annual impairment tests, we will penfthe impairment test as those even
indicators occur. Examples of such events or cigtances include the following: a significant deelim our expected future cash flow:
sustained, significant decline in our stock pricel anarket capitalization, a significant adversengjeain the business climate, and slc
growth rates.
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Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reportingjt level by first performing a qualitative assessit to determine whether it is m
likely than not (that is, a likelihood of more th&f%) that the fair value of the reporting unitéss than its carrying value. We identified
reporting units as retail, commercial and servioevijgler reporting units, as this is the lowest lefee which discrete financial information
available and segment management regularly revid@soperating results. The qualitative assessmensiders the following factol
macroeconomic conditions, industry and market aw®rsitions, cost factors, overall company finangiatformance, events affecting
reporting units, and changes in our share pric¢hdfreporting unit does not pass the qualitatsgeasment, we estimate our fair value
compare the fair value with the carrying value of @met assets. If the fair value is greater than ¢hrrying value of our net assets,
impairment results. If the fair value is less tlwam carrying value, we would determine the fairneabf the goodwill by comparing the impl
fair value to the carrying value of the goodwill flhe same manner as if the business unit were tagggired in a business combinat
Specifically, we would allocate the fair value tb@f our assets and liabilities, including any eoognized intangible assets, in a hypothe
analysis that would calculate the implied fair walof goodwill. If the implied fair value of goodwils less than the recorded goodwiill,
impairment charge would be recorded to earningkdrconsolidated statements of operations.

In the fourth fiscal quarter of 2014, we completied annual impairment test of goodwill. The tessywarformed as of the first day of
fourth quarter, or September 29, 2014.

We performed a qualitative test for goodwill impaént of the retail and commercial reporting unésch September 29, 2014. Ba
upon the results of the qualitative testing, thepeetive fair values of the retail and commeraodglarting units were substantially in exces
these reporting units’ carrying values. We belithett it is more-likely-thamot that the fair value of these reporting units greater than the
respective carrying values and therefore perforntitegfirst step of the twetep impairment test for the retail and commenaabrting unit
was unnecessary. No goodwill impairment was recaghfor the retail and commercial reporting unitshie years ended December 31, 2
2013 or 2012.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2014, we satlealine in net revenue in the service provideorgpg unit. According to our custome
purchase constraints will tighten further in 201t dor the foreseeable future. Due to the declinthe longterm revenue and profit outloc
we identified our service provider reporting urstlzeing at higher risk of potential failure of tiirst step of the goodwill impairment test ¢
therefore elected to bypass the qualitative assssand proceed directly to estimating the faiueabf net assets for the service prov
reporting unit. In the fourth fiscal quarter of 20ive performed a quantitative test ("Step 1")goodwill impairment of the service provit
reporting unit as of September 29, 2014. The falue of the reporting unit was determined placingegual weighting of 50 percent on
income approach and market approach indicationslole. Under the income approach, we calculatedainealue based on the present v.
of the estimated cash flows. Cash flow projectiomse based on management's estimates of revenughgrates and net operating incc
margins, taking into consideration market and imgusonditions. The discount rate used was basetherweightedaverage cost of capi
adjusted for the risk, size premium, and busirggessific characteristics related to the businesslity to execute on the projected cash flc
Under the market approach, we evaluated the fdireveased on forward-looking earnings multipleswégt from comparable publiclyradec
companies with similar market position and sizéhasreporting unit. The unobservable inputs usedé¢asure the fair value included proje:
revenue growth rates, the weighted average cosamifal, the normalized working capital level, ¢apexpenditures assumptions, profitab
projections, control premium, the determinationappropriate market comparison companies and tefrgioavth rates. The results of -
guantitative test indicated the service provid@oréng unit's carrying value exceeded its estimhdidr value, and therefore a second pha
the goodwill impairment test ("Step 2") was perfedrspecific to this reporting unit. Under Step 2, determined the fair value of the good
by comparing the implied fair value to the carrywajue of the goodwill in the same manner as ifrigorting unit were being acquired i
business combination. Specifically, we allocateslfdir value to all of our assets and liabilitiesluding any unrecognized intangible asset
a hypothetical analysis that calculated the impladvalue of goodwill. Based on the results aétstep, the implied fair value of goodwill v
less than zero and therefore the entire goodwildiz® in the service provider reporting unit wapained. We recorded an impairment chi
of $74.2 million related to the service providepaging unit in the year ended December 31, 2014.

For retail and commercial reporting units, we dt Inalieve it is likely that there will be a matdrélhange in the estimates or assumpt

we use to test for impairment losses on goodwitiwver, if the actual results are not consistett wur estimates or assumptions, we me
exposed to a future impairment charge that coulchaterial.
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Intangibles, Net

Purchased intangibles with finite lives are amedizising the straighine method over the estimated economic lives efdhsets, whit
range from four to ten years. Finiiged intangibles are reviewed for impairment whesreevents or changes in circumstances indicatehk
carrying amount of such assets may not be recolerBletermination of recoverability is based onemtimate of undiscounted future ¢
flows resulting from the use of the asset andvienéual disposition.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2014, we satlealine in net revenue in the service provideorgpg unit. According to our custome
purchase constraints will tighten further in 201t dor the foreseeable future. Due to the declinthe longterm revenue and profit outloc
we performed the recoverability test of the Idivgd assets within the service provider reportingt. We estimated the undiscounted fu
cash flows directly associated with each assetmemd compared the amounts to the carrying val@ach asset group. Based on the resu
the recoverability test, the sum of undiscountemirei cash flows was greater than the carrying valueach asset group and therefor:
impairment was recorded. We also reviewed the a&gien and amortization policies for the loliged asset groups and ensured the rema
useful lives are appropriate.

Purchased intangibles determined to have indefirseful lives are not amortized. Indefinite-livedaingibles, namely iprocess resear
and development (“IPR&D")are reviewed for impairment at least annually durihe fourth quarter and whenever events or chaim
circumstances indicate that the carrying amourguch assets may not be recoverable. Measuremamt iofipairment loss for indefinitésed
assets that management expects to hold and uasesd lon the fair value of the asset. Indefihited assets to be disposed of are reported
lower of carrying amount or fair value less costsell. The carrying value of the asset is reviewea regular basis for the existence of fi
both internal and external, that may suggest inmpeaiirt.

In the third quarter of 2013, we recorded an impaint charge of $2.0 million related to the abandemiof certain IPR&D projec
obtained in AirCard acquisition in 2013. As of Jit 2014, all of the remaining IPR&D had reachechhical feasibility and was reclassil
to definite-lived intangibles with an estimated fuéife of four years. We recorded no other impaénts of londived assets in the years en
December 31, 2014, 2013 or 2012.

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment are stated at historicdl t&ss accumulated depreciation. We will performirapairment test if certain events
indicators of impairment occur. Examples of suckrgs or circumstances include the following: a igent decline in our expected futt
cash flows, a sustained, significant decline ingtock price and market capitalization, a significadverse change in the business climate
slower growth rates. Recoverability of assets tdélel and used is measured by comparing the carigiinount of an asset to the estim
undiscounted future cash flows expected to be gémeby the asset. If the carrying amount of trsetasxceeds its estimated undiscou
future net cash flows, an impairment charge isgazed in the amount by which the carrying amoudrthe asset exceeds the fair value o
asset. The carrying value of the asset is reviesre@ regular basis for the existence of facts, hottrnal and external, that may sug
impairment. Charges related to the impairment opprty and equipment were not material for the yesmded December 31, 2014 , 2@t8
2012.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under an asset anditlisdpproach. Under this method, income tax exgeeis recognized for the amoun
taxes payable or refundable for the current yearaddition, deferred tax assets and liabilities m@ognized for the expected future
consequences of temporary differences resulting fdifferent treatments for tax versus accountingceftain items, such as accruals
allowances not currently deductible for tax purgoSehese differences result in deferred tax assetdiabilities, which are included within 1
consolidated balance sheet. We must then asse$iketitwood that our deferred tax assets will beowered from future taxable income an
the extent we believe that recovery is not moreljikthan not, we must establish a valuation allasearOur assessment considers
recognition of deferred tax assets on a jurisdictidbasis. Accordingly, in assessing our futureabdex income on a jurisdictional basis,
consider the effect of its transfer pricing pol&ien that income. During the year ended DecembgeP @4, a valuation allowance was pla
against California deferred tax assets since thevery of the assets is uncertain. We believe #tlabf our other deferred tax assets
recoverable; however, if there were a change irability to recover our deferred tax assets, weld/te required to take a charge in the pe
in which we determined that recovery was not mikedy than not.

Uncertain tax provisions are recognized under quidathat provides that a company should use a tikalg-thannot recognitio
threshold based on the technical merits of thenredax position taken. Income tax positions thaetike more-likely-thamot recognitio
threshold should be measured in order to deterthiméax benefit to be recognized in the finandiatesments. We include interest expense
penalties related to uncertain tax positions astiaddl tax expense.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth, for the periods gmeted, the consolidated statements of operatiais, @vhich is derived from t
accompanying consolidated financial statements:

Net revenue

Cost of revenue

Gross profit

Operating expenses:
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Restructuring and other charges
Litigation reserves, net
Goodwill impairment charges
Intangibles impairment charges

Total operating expenses

Income from operations

Interest income

Other income (expense), net

Income before income taxes

Provision for income taxes

Net income

Net Revenue by Geographic Region

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(In thousands, except percentage data)

$ 1,393,51! 100.(% $ 1,369,63. 100.(% $ 1,271,92. 100.(%
995,59 71.4% 976,01¢ 71.2% 888,36¢ 69.8%
397,91t 28.€% 393,61! 28.7% 383,55! 30.2%
90,90z 6.5 % 85,16¢ 6.2% 61,06¢ 4.8%
157,01 11.4% 153,80 11.2% 149,76t 11.%
46,55 3.5% 48,91¢ 3.€% 45,027 3.5%
2,20¢ 0.2% 5,33¢ 0.4% 1,19(C 0.1%
(1,019 (0.1% 5,35¢ 0.4% 39C 0.C%
74,19¢ 5% — — % — —%
= — % 2,00( 0.1% = —%
369,86! 26.€% 300,57¢ 21.¢% 257,43¢ 20.2%
28,05 2L% 93,03¢ 6.8 % 126,11 9.€%
25¢ 0.C% 40C 0.C% 49¢ 0.1%
2,45¢ 0.2% (457) 0.C% 2,67( 0.2%
30,76: 2.2% 92,98 6.8 % 129,28: 10.2%
21,97: 1.€% 37,76¢ 2.8% 42,74: 3.4%
$ 8,78¢ 0€% $ 55,21% 4C% $ 86,53¢ 6.8%

Our net revenue consists of gross product shipmiess allowances for estimated returns for stotition and warranty, price protecti
enduser customer rebates and other sales incentivemedb to be a reduction of net revenue per the dtatiee guidance for reven
recognition, and net changes in deferred revenue.

We conduct business across three geographic reghomsricas, EMEA and APAC. For reporting purposegenue is attributed to each
geographic region based upon the location of tistocoer.

Americas

Percentage of net revenue
EMEA

Percentage of net revenue
APAC

Percentage of net revenue
Total net revenue

2014 vs 2013

Year Ended December 31,

2014 % Change 2013 % Change 2012
(In thousands, except percentage data)

$ 770,89( 239% $ 789,31t 16.2% $ 679,41

55.3% 57.7% 53.4%
$ 421,88 22% $ 412,68t 9.9% $ 457,72:

30.3% 30.1% 36.0%
$ 200,73t 19.6% $ 167,62 24L% $ 134,77t

14.4% 12.2% 10.6%
$ 1,393,51! 1.7% $ 1,369,63: 7.7% $ 1,271,92.

The decrease in Americas net revenue for the yedede December 31, 2014 compared to the prior year dviven primarily by
reduction in sales of our home wireless, multimgb@ame security and automation products and swstgbartially offset by an increase in si
of our mobile products and broadband gatewaysré&letnue for mobile products increased for the pealed December 31, 2014 as a resl
the AirCard acquisition which was completed on ARri2013. In contrast to 2013, the
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positive effect of the acquisition is included iar@esults of the entire year ended December 314.20 our retail and distribution channels,
continue to see strong demand for our products. édew we are managing our inventory levels at oi8. Wetail partners to be more alig
with historic levels, which has contributed to thecline in the Americas net revenue for the yealedrDecember 31, 2014 compared tc
prior year.

The increase in EMEA net revenue for the year erldedember 31, 2014 compared to the prior year waerd primarily by a
increase in sales of our switches and broadbarehvggs, partially offset by a reduction in sale®of mobile products. The increase in EV
net revenue was primarily driven by sales to ouvise provider customers in fiscal 2014. We expssatvice provider revenue in EMEA
decrease in fiscal year 2015. These positive effexinet revenue in fiscal year 2014 were partiaffget by challenges resulting from
macroeconomic environment, increased competition ancingipressures in Europe, and weakening of foreigrencies compared to the L
dollar.

The increase in APAC net revenue for the year eridlecember 31, 2014 compared to the prior year waerd primarily by a
increase in sales of our mobile, home wireless lmoddband gateway products, partially offset byduction in sales of our small busir
wireless products. Net revenue for mobile prodsgscifically increased for the year ended Decen®ier2014 as a result of the AirC
acquisition which was completed on April 2, 2013.cbntrast to 2013, the positive effect of the &sitian is included in our results for 1
entire year ended December 31, 2014.

2013 vs 2012

The increase in Americas net revenue for the yade@ December 31, 2013 compared to the prior year primarily attributable
increased sales of our mobile, home security arndnzation products and switches, partially offseteébgecrease in sales of our broadi
gateways. Net revenue for mobile products incredsethe year ended December 31, 2013 as a refthecAirCard acquisition which w
completed in April 2, 2013.

The decrease in EMEA net revenue for the year efrmember 31, 2013 compared to the prior year wiasaply attributable to
decrease in sales of our broadband gateways and waraless products. Net revenue for broadbandngste decreased for the year er
December 31, 2013 due, in part, to consolidationragrEuropean cable operators in Europe in the sklealf of the year.

The increase in APAC net revenue for the year erfdedember 31, 2013 compared to the prior year wasaply attributable t
increased sales of our mobile products, home veisepeoducts and switches, partially offset by aelese in sales of our broadband gatev
Net revenue for mobile products increased for th&r ynded December 31, 2013 as a result of theadr&cquisition which was completec
April 2, 2013.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Margin

Cost of revenue consists primarily of the followirthe cost of finished products from our third gamanufacturers; overhead co
including purchasing, product planning, inventopntrol, warehousing and distribution logistics;rthparty software licensing fees; inbot
freight; warranty costs associated with returneddso writedowns for excess and obsolete inventory, amortinagikxpense of certain acqui
intangibles and acquisition accounting adjustmemtsventory.

We outsource our manufacturing, warehousing anilolision logistics. We believe this outsourcingaseégy allows us to better man.
our product costs and gross margin. Our gross mamgn be affected by a number of factors, includingtuation in foreign exchange rai
sales returns, changes in average selling pricekger customer rebates and other sales incentinds;t@nges in our cost of goods sold
to fluctuations in prices paid for components, ofetendor rebates, warranty and overhead costeumt freight, conversion costs, charge:
excess or obsolete inventory and amortization glimed intangibles . The following table presentsts of revenue and gross margin, fol
periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 % Change 2013 % Change 2012
(In thousands, except percentage data)
Cost of revenue $ 995,59° 2% $ 976,01 9.¢% $ 888,36!
Gross margin percentage 28.6% 28.7% 30.2%
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2014 vs 2013

Cost of revenue increased for the year ended DeeeB1h 2014 compared to the prior year due pripacilthe increase in net revel
and related product costs driven by higher shipsjer@mbined with an increase in excess and obsioltatory charges of $7.5 million.

Our gross margin slightly decreased for the yededrDecember 31, 2014 compared to the prior yaarapity attributable to the slig
increase in segment product mix toward service igdesy which generally maintains lower margins. Nevenue from service providi
increased as a percentage of net revenue to 4h.8% year ended December 31, 2014, compared @4id. the prior year.

We expect gross margin percentage to increaselglighthe near term, as we expect less net revémune our service provider busin
unit as a percentage of total net revenue, whicteigdly carries lower margins than the retail aochmercial business units. Forecasting ft
gross margin percentages is difficult, and theee anumber of risks related to our ability to maimtor improve our current gross mai
levels. Our cost of revenues as a percentage @ntms can vary significantly based upon a numbefactiors such as the followir
uncertainties surrounding revenue levels, includintgre pricing and/or potential discounts as aultesf the economy or in response to
strengthening of the U.S. dollar in our internatibmarkets, and related production level variances)petition; changes in technology; chai
in product mix; variability of stoclkased compensation costs; royalties to third maftiectuations in freight and repair costs; mantifeing
and purchase price variances; changes in priceoommodity components; warranty and recall costs; the timing of sales, particularly
service providers which generally carry lower masgi

2013 vs 2012

Cost of revenue increased for the year ended DeseBih 2013 compared to the prior year due pripaoilthe increase in net revel
and related product costs driven by higher shipsjesimbined with increases of $4.0 million in irgdoles amortization expense, prima
attributable to assets acquired from AirCard anddar $3.5 million increase in freight costs, andB3$8illion in excess and obsolete inven
charges.

Our gross margin decreased for the year ended DexreBi, 2013 compared to the prior year due prisn&oirelatively faster growth
revenue from service providers, which generallyiearlower gross margins than our other producifesSto service providers increased
percentage of net revenue to 40.0% for the yeaedrecember 31, 2013, compared to 36.1% for the ge@ded December 31, 2012, wt
was primarily attributable to our acquisition ofr@ard.

Operating Expenses
Research and Development Expense

Research and development expenses consist prin@ripersonnel expenses, payments to suppliers ésigd services, safety ¢
regulatory testing, product certification expenditito qualify our products for sale into specifiarkets, prototypes and other consulting -
Research and development expenses are recognizéiteyasare incurred. We have invested in building cesearch and developm
organization to enhance our ability to introduceowvative and easy-tase products. The following table presents reseanthdevelopme
expense, for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 % Change 2013 % Change 2012
(In thousands, except percentage data)
Research and development expense $ 90,90: 6.7% $ 85,16¢ 39.5% $ 61,06¢

2014 vs 2013

Research and development expense increased foretreended December 31, 2014 compared to the pe@r due primarily to ¢
increase of $3.9 million in personnel and faciligfated expenses driven by the overall growth seaech and development headcoul
comparison to prior year, and an increase of $JlBomin variable compensation. The average headtdor the year ended December
2014 increased to 352 from 339 in the prior yeathasadditional headcount from the AirCard and Aragdquisitions were included in th
quarters of 2013 as compared to the entire ye201d.

We believe that innovation and technological lealigris critical to our future success, and wecaramitted to continuing a significe
level of research and development to develop netni@ogies and products to combat competitive piress We
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continue to invest in research and developmenkpared our cloud platform capabilities, grow our losecurity camera and home autome
device portfolio, and develop innovative whole howld=i coverage solutions. In the near term, we ekpesearch and development expe
as a percentage of net revenue will be consistéhtfigcal year 2014 as we are allocating resouncdke key areas that we expect will d
future growth and profitability. Research and depehent expenses will fluctuate depending on theéntimand number of developm
activities in any given quarter and could vary ffigantly as a percentage of revenue dependingatnabrevenues achieved in any gi
quarter.

2013 vs 2012

Research and development expenses increased foretveended December 31, 2013 compared to the pear due primarily 1
significant growth in research and development beadt as a result of our acquisitions during theosd quarter of 2013. Personnel
facility-related expenses increased by $22.9 million, apereses related to projects and outside professgeraices also increased by 4
million. These increases were partially offset byegrease in variable compensation of $0.9 millié@adcount increased by 104 employe:
355 employees at December 31, 2013 compared te@ployees at December 31, 2012.

Sales and Marketing Expense

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarilydeEwising, trade shows, corporate communicatiams$ aether marketing expens
product marketing expenses, outbound freight cqgsssonnel expenses for sales and marketing stafftechnical support expenses.
following table presents sales and marketing expeios the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 % Change 2013 % Change 2012
(In thousands, except percentage data)
Sales and marketing expense $ 157,01° 21% $ 153,80 2.7% $ 149,76¢

2014 vs 2013

Sales and marketing expense increased for theeyslad December 31, 2014 compared to the prior de@amprimarily to an increase
$1.6 million in personnel-related expense, drivaimprily by additional stoclbased compensation expense recognized relatinde
modification of equity awards in connection witke tleparture of the retail business unit generalagen $1.4 million in variable compensa
expense, $1.2 million in marketing expenses and $fillion in intangibles amortization, partially feét by a decrease of $2.3 million
projects and professional services. Headcount deeteby 10 employees to 377 employees at Decemb@034 compared to 3&Mmployee
at December 31, 2013.

We expect our sales and marketing expenses to meoagisistent with fiscal year 2014 as a percentdgeet revenue. Expenses r
fluctuate depending on revenue levels achievedestsin expenses, such as commissions, are detetrhased upon the revenues achie
Forecasting sales and marketing expenses as angmgeeof revenues is highly dependent on expeatednue levels and could vi
significantly depending on actual revenues achiénethy given quarter. Marketing expenses will dlsotuate depending upon the timing
extent of marketing programs as we introduce newdynts.

2013 vs 2012

Sales and marketing expense increased for theeyelad December 31, 2013 compared to the prior deamprimarily to an increase
$6.4 million in intangibles amortization expensegkly related to intangibles acquired from AirGaadd $1.1 million in personnel and faci
related expenses. These increases were partifdlgtdfy a decrease of $1.7 million in variable cemgation expenses, $0.7 million in proj
and outside professional services, $0.6 milliomerketing expenses and $0.5 million in freight sobteadcount increased by 35 employe
387 employees at December 31, 2013 compared te®pbyees at December 31, 2012.
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General and Administrative Expense

General and administrative expenses consist ofisaland related expenses for executives, finandeagcounting, human resourc
information technology, professional fees, allowafar doubtful accounts and other general corpcgateenses. The following table pres:
general and administrative expense, for the peiitdisated:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 % Change 2013 % Change 2012
(In thousands, except percentage data)
General and administrative expense $ 46,55 4.89% $ 48,91¢ 8.6% $ 45,027

2014 vs 2013

General and administrative expense decreased doyahr ended December 31, 2014 compared to theywér due primarily to a $:
million decrease in outside professional servigesnarily resulting from litigation and merger aadquisition services incurred in 2013 :
were not repeated in 2014, partially offset by &8$tillion increase in variable compensation expehteadcount increased by d@ployees t
156 employees at December 31, 2014 compared terd¥byees at December 31, 2013.

We expect our general and administrative expersemain consistent with fiscal year 2014 in abotiollar value in the near term
they could fluctuate depending on a number of factimcluding the level and timing of expenditueessociated with the litigation describe:
Note 9,Commitments and Contingenci@sthe Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemantgeim 8 of Part Il of this Annual Report on Fc
10-K. Future general and administrative expense isg®ar decreases in absolute dollars are diffioybredict due to the lack of visibility
certain costs, including legal costs associatet défending claims against us, as well as legabassociated with asserting and enforcing
intellectual property portfolio and other factors.

2013 vs 2012

General and administrative expenses increasedhéoyaar ended December 31, 2013 compared to theywmar due primarily to a $:
million increase in outside legal services duedditonal litigation and merger and acquisitioniaty in 2013, and a $1.4 million increase
personnel and facilityelated expenses. These increases were partidflgtdfy a $1.2 million decrease in variable comp&os. Headcoul
increased by 16 employees to 144 employees at Dmredd, 2013 compared to 128 employees at Dece®ih@012.

Restructuring and Other Charges

Year Ended December 31,

2014 % Change 2013 % Change 2012
(In thousands, except percentage data)
Restructuring and other charges $ 2,20¢ (58.6% $ 5,33t 348.% $ 1,19(C

2014 vs 2013

Restructuring and other charges decreased for ¢he gnded December 31, 2014 compared to the pear. YDuring the year enc
December 31, 2014, we recognized a charge of $lllibmmrelating primarily to expenses associatedhwthe early termination of a le:
agreement in Canada and a charge of $0.8 milliongily relating to ondime separation charges associated with the depasfuthe reta
business unit general manager. During the yearceDdeember 31, 2013, we recognized $3.3 millioariatime separation charges associ
with the consolidation of certain teams and logaim effort to drive efficiencies and realign resmes to better focus on key growth marl
In addition, we recognized $1.9 million in transiticosts relating to the AirCard acquisition congdiein the second quarter of 2013 and
million relating to an office lease exit liability.

In the first half of 2015, we expect to incur resturing charges of between approximately $7.0%50 million related to the reducti
of the cost structure of the service provider beisinunit and supporting functions. Such restrucguactions are subject to significant rit
including delays in implementing expense contralgpams or workforce reductions and the failure tetroperational targets due to the los
employees, all of which would impair our ability achieve anticipated cost reductions. If we doauttieve the anticipated cost reductions
financial results could be negatively impacted.
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2013 vs 2012

Restructuring and other charges increased for s gnded December 31, 2013 compared to the peiar. Youring the year enc
December 31, 2013, we recognized $3.3 million ie-ttme separation charges associated with the calaamn of certain teams and locati
to drive efficiencies and realign resources todsefibcus on key growth markets. In addition, weoggtzed $1.9 million in transition co
associated with the AirCard acquisition and $0.Rioni relating to an office lease exit liability.Ubing the year ended December 31, 201Z
recognized $1.2 million in charges, relating priflyato employee severance attributable to the chaation of product groups and i
consolidation of the EMEA sales team within our coancial business unit.

For a further discussion of restructuring and ottiearges, refer to Note Restructuring and Other Charge# the Notes to Consolidat
Financial Statements in Item 8 of Part Il of thisnval Report on Form 10-K.

Litigation Reserves, Net

Year Ended December 31,

2014 % Change 2013 % Change 2012
(In thousands, except percentage data)
Litigation reserves, net $ (2,019 (118.9% $ 5,35¢ % 39C
**Percentage data not meaningful

2014 vs 2013

We recognized $1.0 million benefits in litigatioalated reserves during the year ended Decembe034, resulting from the adjustme
made to decrease the accrued litigation reserdating to Ericsson after the Federal Circuits iskits opinion and order in our appeal
contrast, we recognized $5.4 million expenses duifie year ended December 31, 2013 for costsmglatimarily to the Ericsson and Ruc
litigation matters.
2013 vs 2012

We recognized $5.4 million in litigatiorelated charges during the year ended Decembe2(@B compared to $0.4 million in the pi
year due primarily to estimated costs relatingh® Ericsson and Ruckus litigations matters whichewecorded in 2013. During the year er

December 31, 2012, we recorded $0.4 million foinestied costs relating to the settlement of variaussuits.

For a detailed discussion of our litigation matteefer to Note 9Commitments and Contingencies Notes to Consolidated Finant
Statements in Item 8 of Part Il of this Annual Repm Form 10-K.

Goodwill Impairment Charges

Year Ended December 31,

2014 % Change 2013 % Change 2012
(In thousands, except percentage data)
Goodwill impairment charges $ 74,19¢ ** ¢ — »* g _
**Percentage data not meaningful

We recognized a goodwill impairment charge of $7#iftion during the year ended December 31, 2014dted to our service provic
business unit. The goodwill impairment was due tieerease in the estimated fair value of the bgsinesulting from a decline in the lotey+r
revenue and profitability projections of the busisie

We did not recognize any goodwill impairment chardaring the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012

Refer to Note 3Balance Sheet Componenfer additional information regarding the Comparybodwill impairment assessment.
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Intangibles Impairment Charges

Year Ended December 31,

2014 % Change 2013 % Change 2012
(In thousands, except percentage data)

Intangibles impairment charges $ — (100.0% $ 2,00( » o § —
**Percentage data not meaningful

We did not recognize any intangibles impairmentrgba during the year ended December 31, 2014. Werded an intangibl
impairment charge of $2.0 million during the yeaded December 31, 2013 relating to the abandonofergrtain IPR&D projects acquired
the AirCard acquisition. No impairment charges we@gnized during the year ended December 31,.2012

Refer to Note 2Business Acquisitionand the Intangibles section of Note Balance Sheet Componentsn Notes to Consolidat
Financial Statements in Item 8 of Part Il of thisnyal Report on Form 10-K for further discussion.

Interest Income and Other Income (Expense), Net

Interest income represents amounts earned on alr, cash equivalents and shitm investments. Other income (expense),
primarily represents gains and losses on transectitenominated in foreign currencies and other etlaareous income and expenses.
following table presents interest income and otheome, net, for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 % Change 2013 % Change 2012
(In thousands, except percentage data)
Interest income $ 252 (36.% $ 40C (19.%% $ 49¢
Other income (expense), net 2,45¢ *k (457) (117.% 2,67(C
Total interest income and other income, net $ 2,70¢ o $ (57) (101.9% $ 3,16¢

** Percentage change not meaningful.
2014 vs 2013

Interest income decreased for the year ended DexreBih 2014 compared to the prior year due primawitthe decrease in our cash, ¢
equivalents and short term investment balancebatable to the AirCard and Arada acquisitions ceatga in the second quarter of 2013
repurchase of shares in the fourth quarter of 201Bfiscal year 2014.

Other income (expense), net increased for the geded December 31, 2014 compared to the prior gearprimarily to $2.8 millio
received relating to the execution of a litigatgettlement agreement during the year, partiallgeifby foreign currency losses incurred.

Interest income and other expense, net will fluigtidue to changes in interest rates and returraupash, cash equivalents and shor
term investments, any future impairment of investtagforeign currency rate fluctuations on hedgeabsures, fluctuations in costs associ
with our hedging program, gains and losses on aspbsals and timing of ndneome based taxes and license fees. The cashchatanil(
also decrease depending upon the amount of cashiugeir stock repurchase activity, any future asitjons and other factors which wo
also impact our interest income.

2013 vs 2012

Interest income decreased for the year ended DeareBih 2013 compared to the prior year due priypddlthe decrease in our ci
balance, attributable to the AirCard and Arada &itions completed in the second quarter of 2018 mepurchase of shares in the fo
quarter of 2013.

Other income (expense), net, decreased for thegreded December 31, 2013 compared to the prior daprimarily to a $3.1 millic
gain on sale of cost method investment recogniretie year ended December 31, 2012, as comparneal ¢gains recognized during the y
ended December 31, 2013.

For details of our hedging program and relatediforeurrency contracts, refer to NoteZerivative Financial Instrumentsin Notes ti
Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 of Rart this Annual Report on Form 10-K for furtheiscussion.
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Provision for Income Taxes

Year Ended December 31,

2014 % Change 2013 % Change 2012
(In thousands, except percentage data)
Provision for income taxes $ 21,97 (41.9% $ 37,76t (11.0% $ 42,74:
Effective tax rate 71.4% 40.6% 33.1%

2014 vs 2013

Provision for income taxes decreased for the yade@ December 31, 2014 compared to the prior yearpdimarily to lower prete
income. The effective tax rate for the year endeddmber 31, 2014 differed from the U.S. statutatg of 35% due to earnings from fore
jurisdictions, impairment of goodwill not deductbllor tax, valuation allowance established to redtertain deferred tax assets, state taxe
credits and nomteductible expenses. The effective tax rate foreDdwer 31, 2013 differed from the U.S. statutorg i@t 35% due to the sa
items with the exception of the goodwill impairmemd the valuation allowance. For the year endeze®der 31, 2014, tax on earnings f
foreign operations increased the effective tax Btel9.8 percentage points compared to an increb89 percentage points for 2013.
increase in the effective tax rate from earning$ooéign operations in 2014 compared to 2013 reduiitom the tax effect of nogeductibl
losses caused by the impairment of goodwill inifymgurisdictions where no benefit can be claimElde 2014 effective tax rate was incree
by 7.8 percentage points for goodwill impairmehiztare not deductible for U.S. federal and setetirposes.

2013 vs 2012

Provision for income taxes decreased for the yrde@ December 31, 2013 compared the prior yeapduoarily to lower consolidate
pretax income. The effective tax rate for both esi differed from the U.S. statutory rate of 35% do earnings from foreign jurisdictio
state taxes, tax credits and ndeductible expenses. For the year ended Decemh&033, tax on earnings from foreign operationsease
the effective tax rate by 3.9 percentage pointspared to a decrease of 4.8 percentage points fi2. Zlhe increase in the effective tax
from earnings of foreign operations in 2013 comgace2012 resulted from the tax effect of nbeductible losses in foreign jurisdictions wt
no benefit can be claimed as well as increasesdruals for uncertain tax positions in foreign galictions. The tax rate increase was pari
offset by the recognition of a tax benefit for @12 U.S. federal research credit. On January P3 #e American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2(
reinstated the research credit, retroactive to aani, 2012. Accordingly, the entire benefit foe th012 research credit of approximately :
million was recognized in 2013.

Segment Information
A description of our products and services, as wsllsegment financial data, for each segment cafolred in Note 12,Segmer

Information, Operations by Geographic Area and ©ustr Concentratiol, in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementiseim 8 of Part |
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Retail
Year Ended December 31,
2014 % Change 2013 % Change 2012
(in thousands, except percentage data)
Net revenue $ 508,10( 0.49% $ 509,92: 1C% $ 504,79
Percentage of net revenue 36.5% 37.3% 39.7%
Contribution income 76,26¢ 3.€% 73,41¢ (15.9)% 86,80¢
Contribution margin 15.0% 14.4% 17.2%

2014 vs 2013

Retail net revenue decreased for the year endeérilmer 31, 2014 compared to the prior year due pilynt a reduction in gro:
shipments of our multimedia and powerline produgtstially offset by an increase in gross shipmefitsome wireless products and broadt
gateways. Geographically, we experienced an ineree8&PAC and a decrease in EMEA and the Amerid&s.continue to see strong ense
demand for our retail products, however our neenexe was partially constrained by a reduction iekseof inventory orrand with our U.
retail channel partners.
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Contribution income increased for the year endedeber 31, 2014 compared to the prior year duegrifynto the reduction of $4
million in operating expenses, primarily driven dylecrease in product marketing expenses.
2013 vs 2012

Retail net revenue increased for the year endeckidber 31, 2013 compared to the prior year due pifynt increased sales of ¢
multimedia products, home security and automatioaycts, and mobile products, partially offset lyegrease in home wireless products.

Contribution income decreased for the year endecedéer 31, 2013 compared to the prior year duegpiliynto increased cost
revenues driven by an increase in freight and wiyreosts, and an unfavorable product mix.

Commercial
Year Ended December 31,
2014 % Change 2013 % Change 2012
(in thousands, except percentage data)
Net revenue $ 305,67 1.9% $ 311,26: 1.1% $ 307,94!
Percentage of net revenue 21.9% 22.7% 24.2%
Contribution income 70,81( 6.5% 66,50¢ (1.9% 67,82¢
Contribution margin 23.2% 21.4% 22.0%

2014 vs 2013

Commercial net revenue decreased for the year eBdeedmber 31, 2014 compared to the prior year dingaply to a reduction in gro
shipments of our network storage and wireless prisdypartially offset by an increase in shipmetitsvatches. Geographically, we experien
an increase in EMEA and a decrease in the AmedndsAPAC.C ommercial net revenue was negatively impacted byemsed competitio
particularly in our network storage products.

Contribution income increased for the year endedeber 31, 2014 compared to the prior year duegriiynto a reduction in freig
costs of $2.4 million and a reduction of $1.2 roifliin warranty costs, partially offset by the retilut in net revenue for the year en
December 31, 2014 compared to the prior year.

2013 vs 2012

Commercial net revenue increased for the year ebdegmber 31, 2013 compared to the prior year piiyndue to increased sales of
switches, partially offset by a decrease in safemiowireless products.

Contribution income decreased for the year endetk®ber 31, 2013 compared to the prior year duegpiynto an increase in cost
revenues driven by increased freight and warraasgsc The decrease in contribution income as dtrekthe increase in cost of revenues
partially offset by a reduction in sales and margtnd research and development costs.

Service Provider

Year Ended December 31,

2014 % Change 2013 % Change 2012

(in thousands, except percentage data)

Net revenue $ 579,73t 57% $ 548,44¢ 19.06 $ 459,17¢
Percentage of net revenue 41.6% 40.0% 36.1%

Contribution income 47,54; (7.99% 51,62( 26.5% 40,79+
Contribution margin 8.2% 9.4% 8.9%

2014 vs 2013

Service provider net revenue increased for the gaded December 31, 2014 compared to the prior d@amprimarily to an increase
gross shipments of our mobile products. Net revdoumobile products increased for the year endeddinber
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31, 2014 as a result of the AirCard acquisitionalihivas completed on April 2, 2013. In contrast@&2, the positive effect of the acquisitio
included in our results for the entire year of 20Athough service provider results remained stréogthe first three quarters of 2014,
expect revenue will continue to decline due toHertweakness in capital expense spending by cesgairice providers in both North Amer
and in Europe.

Contribution income decreased for the year endezb@Déer 31, 2014 compared to the prior year duegriiyrto the increase in operat
expenses of $6.4 million, primarily relating to easch and development and sales and marketingamridcrease in charges for excess
obsolete inventory. These expenses were partiffihgioby the increase in gross profit attributatdlenet revenue growth compared to the |
year.

2013 vs 2012

Service provider net revenue increased for the gaded December 31, 2013 compared to the priordwaprimarily to increased sa
of our mobile products and home security and autimmgroducts, partially offset by a decrease ilesaf our broadband gateways.
revenue for mobile products increased for the yemled December 31, 2013 as a result of the Air@agisition which was completed
April 2, 2013. The decrease in sales of our broadlgateways was partially due to consolidation agnmable operators in Europe in the sec
half of 2013.

Contribution income increased for the year endedeDwer 31, 2013 compared to the prior year duegsilynto an increase in grc
profit, largely attributable to revenue growth, fily offset by an increase in excess and obsadietentory charges and increased researc
development costs.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2014 , we had cash, cash eguitgland short-term investments totaling $257.1ianil. Our cash and ca
equivalents balance decreased from $143.0 millkenof December 31, 2013 to $141.2 million as of ddewer 31, 2014 . Our shdsrr
investments, which represent the investment of $umdhilable for current operations, increased f&i05.1 million as of December 3201:
to $115.9 million as of December 31, 2014 sulting from net purchases of treasuries. Qe activities during the year ended Decembe
2014 generated cash of $109.0 milliocompared to $86.9 million in 2013, resulting paiity from an increase in net income when exclu
the $74.2 million of non-cash goodwill impairmetiiiacge. Investing activities during the year endetdmnber 31, 2014 used $30.7 million
mainly due to purchases of property and equipmam, net purchases of short-term investments. Duliagyear ended December 31, 2014
financing activities used cash of $80.0 millioprimarily due to the repurchase of common stpektially offset by proceeds from the issue
of common stock upon exercise of stock optionsaircemployee stock purchase program.

Our days sales outstanding ("DSO") as of Decembgp@14 was 73 days, an increase from 69 days Be@mber 31, 2013DSO of 7.
days is in the normal range for the fourth quaofehe year.

Our accounts payable decreased from $114.5 mitdbecember 31, 2013 to $106.4 million at Decenier2014, primarily as a rest
of timing of payments.

Inventory decreased from $224.5 million at Decenier2013 to $222.9 million at December 31, 20Efding inventory turns decrea:
to 4.5 turns in the three months ended Decembe2@1Y , slightly down from 4.6 turns in the threenths ended December 31, 2013 .

We enter into foreign currency forwaekchange contracts, which typically mature in thiedive months, to hedge a portion of
exposure to foreign currency fluctuations of forewurrencydenominated revenue, costs of revenue, certairabpgrexpenses, receivab
payables, and cash balances. We record on the ltated balance sheet at each reporting periodfalrevalue of our forwardexchang
contracts and record any fair value adjustmentsuinconsolidated statements of operations and tirconsolidated balance sheets. Gains
losses associated with currency rate changes ogeheghtracts that are nalesignated under the authoritative guidance foivdtves an
hedging are recorded within other income (expenset), offsetting foreign exchange gains and lossesur monetary assets and liabilit
Gains and losses associated with currency rategelsaon hedge contracts that are designated cagihéidges under the authoritative guid:
for derivatives and hedging are recorded withinuanglated other comprehensive income until the edlaevenue, costs of revenue
expenses are recognized.

On October 21, 2008, the Board of Directors auteatimanagement to repurchase up to 6.0 millioneshaf our outstanding comn
stock. Under this authorization, the timing anduattnumber of shares subject to repurchase arbeatliscretion of management and
contingent on a number of factors, such as levietash generation from operations, cash requiresrfent
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acquisitions and the price of our common stock.@tober 17, 2014, the Board of Directors authorizethagement to repurchase up tc
million shares of our outstanding common stockrentental to the remaining shares under on our pusvéhare repurchase program. Dt
the year ended December 31, 2014, we repurchaskgttired, reported based on trade date, approglynat8 million shares of common st
at a cost of $90.6 million under this authorizatidhis leaves 3.0 million shares remaining in ouyliack program and we expect to contint
repurchase opportunistically. During the year end®ecember 31, 2013, we repurchased and retiredhrtegp based on trade d:
approximately 2.0 million shares of common stock a@bst of $63.1 million under this authorizatitvie did not repurchase any shares dt
the year ended December 31, 2012 .

We also repurchased, as reported on trade datepapgtely 82,000 shares of common stock at a @b$2.6 millionunder a repurcha
program to help administratively facilitate the kbiblding and subsequent remittance of personalniecand payroll taxes for individu
receiving RSUs during the year ended December @14 2 Similarly, during the years ended Decembe2813 and December 31, 201®e
repurchased, as reported on trade date, approxyriated00 shares of common stock at a cost of tlkon and 22,006hares of commic
stock at a cost of $0.9 milliorrespectively, under the same program to helpitie tax withholding for RSUs. These shares wetged upo
repurchase.

Based on our current plans and market conditiorshe&lieve that our existing cash, cash equivalentsshorterm investments will
sufficient to satisfy our anticipated cash requieets for at least the next twelve months. Howewermay require or desire additional fund
support our operating expenses and capital reqemesror for other purposes, such as acquisitions n@ay seek to raise such additional ft
through public or private equity financing or frasther sources. We cannot assure you that additfovaalcing will be available at all or that
available, such financing would be obtainable amgefavorable to us and would not be dilutive. @uure liquidity and cash requirements
depend on numerous factors, including the intradaadf new products and potential acquisitionsedéted businesses or technology.

Backlog

As of December 31, 2014 we had a backlog of approximately $114.6 millimompared to approximately $139.4 million as
December 31, 2013 primarily due to product demand required in theufe. Our backlog consists of products for whicistomer purcha:
orders have been received and that are scheduladiwe process of being scheduled for shipmentil&tie expect to fulfill the order backl
within the current year, most orders are subjegeszheduling or cancellation with minimal penaltiBecause of the possibility of custo
changes in product scheduling or order cancellatiom backlog as of any particular date may notabeindicator of net revenue for ¢
succeeding period.

Contractual Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet Arragements
Contractual Obligations

The following table describes our commitments ttilseion-cancelable lease and purchase commitnzentd December 31, 20X
thousands).

Less Than 1-3 3-5 More Than
1 Year Years Years 5 Years Total
Operating leases $ 9,76( $ 13,687 $ 513t % 9,23: $ 37,81t
Purchase obligations 165,85¢ — — — 165,85¢
$ 175,61¢ $ 13,687 $ 513t % 9,23: $ 203,67:

We lease office space, cars and equipment undecaacelable operating leases with various expiratiates through December 2C
Rent expense in the years ended December 31, 22043, , and 2012 was $10.8 million , $9.9 milliamde$7.6 million, respectively. TF
terms of some of the office leases provide foraepayments on a graduated scale. We recognizeexpeinse on a straighie basis over tt
lease period, and have accrued for rent expenser@ttbut not paid. The amounts presented are stensiwith contractual terms and are
expected to differ significantly, unless a substdrnthange in our headcount needs requires us itcaaxoffice facility early or expand ¢
occupied space.

We enter into various inventorglated purchase agreements with suppliers. Géyetaider these agreements, 50% of the ordel
cancelable by giving notice 46 to 60 days prioth® expected shipment date and 25% of orders aeelzble by giving notice 31 to 45 d
prior to the expected shipment date. Orders areaotelable within 30 days prior to the expectadrabnt date. At December 31, 20.1we
had $165.9 million in norancelable purchase commitments with suppliers.éifgect to sell all products for which we have cotien
purchases from suppliers.
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As of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2048 had $16.3 million and $14.6 million, respeelyy of total gross unrecognized
benefits and related interest and penalties. Thimg of any payments that could result from thesecognized tax benefits will depend upe
number of factors. The unrecognized tax benefit® ieeen excluded from the contractual obligati@imet because reasonable estimates c
be made of whether, or when, any cash paymentsuidr items might occur. The possible reductioriahilities for uncertain tax positions
multiple jurisdictions that may impact the statemnehoperations in the next 12 months is approxetya$1.1 million, excluding the intere
penalties and the effect of any related deferredissets or liabilities.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of December 31, 2014 , we did not have any affsbce sheet arrangements as defined in Iltem 3@3(g)of Regulation S-K.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1,The Company and Summary of Significant AccountiiggiBs, in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementiem 8 o
Part Il of this Annual Report on Form ¥)-for a full description of recent accounting poomcements, including the expected dates of ada
and estimated effects on financial condition arsiiits of operations, which are hereby incorporétedeference.

Iltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MagkRisk
Interest Rate Risk

We do not use derivative financial instrumentsim imvestment portfolio. We have an investmentfotict of fixed income securities tr
are classified as available-feale securities. These securities, like all fixecbime instruments, are subject to interest rakeansl will fall in
value if market interest rates increase. We attetogdimit this exposure by investing primarily irighly rated shorterm securities. O
investment policy requires investments to be ratigte-A with the objective of minimizing the potentiatki of principal loss. Due to the st
duration and conservative nature of our investnpentfolio, a movement of 10% by market interesesatvould not have a material impac
our operating results and the total value of thefplio over the next fiscal year. We monitor outdrest rate and credit risks, including
credit exposure to specific rating categories anddividual issuers. There were no impairment gharon our investments during fiscal 2014 .

Foreign Currency Transaction Risk

We invoice some of our international customersareign currencies including, but not limited toe tAustralian dollar, British pour
euro, and Japanese yen. As the customers thauaently invoiced in local currency become a largercentage of our business, or to
extent we begin to bill additional customers ineign currencies, the impact of fluctuations in fgreexchange rates could have a n
significant impact on our results of operationsr #mse customers in our international markets wWeicontinue to sell to in U.S. dollars,
increase in the value of the U.S. dollar relatiwddreign currencies could make our products mapeesive and therefore reduce the der
for our products. Such a decline in the demanaéorproducts could reduce sales and negatively éimpar operating results. Certain opera
expenses of our foreign operations require payrnnethie local currencies.

We are exposed to risks associated with foreigmaxge rate fluctuations due to our internationddssand operating activities. Th
exposures may change over time as business pseticdve and could negatively impact our operatesylts and financial condition. We |
foreign currency forward contract derivatives tortigdly offset our business exposure to foreign hargge risk on our foreign currer
denominated assets and liabilities. Additionally, @nter into certain foreign currency forward caats that have been designated as cast
hedges under the authoritative guidance for deviestand hedging to partially offset our businegsosure to foreign exchange risk on port
of our anticipated foreign currency revenue, co$teevenue, and certain operating expenses. Thecig of these foreign currency forw
contracts is to reduce the impact of currency emghaate movements on our operating results byetiff§ gains and losses on the forw
contracts with increases or decreases in foreigrecay transactions. The contracts are markemtddet on a monthly basis with gains
losses included in other income (expense), ndigrconsolidated statements of operations, anddanaglated other comprehensive incom:
the consolidated balance sheets. We do not usigfiocarrency contracts for speculative or tradingppses. Hedging of our balance shee!
anticipated cash flow exposures may not alwaysffeeteve to protect us against currency exchange flactuations. In addition, we do |
fully hedge our balance sheet and anticipated ftashexposures, leaving us at risk to foreign
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exchange gains and losses on théhnedged exposures. If there were an adverse movemerthange rates, we might suffer significansés
See Note 5,Derivative Financial Instrumentspf the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemémtsadditional disclosure on our fore
currency contracts, which are hereby incorporateceference into this Part I, Item 7A.

As of December 31, 2014we had net assets in various local currencieypgothetical 10% movement in foreign exchange rateslc
result in an after-tax positive or negative impat®0.5 million net income, net of our hedged posit at December 31, 2014Actual future
gains and losses associated with our foreign cayrerposures and positions may differ materialyrfrthe sensitivity analyses performed ¢
December 31, 201due to the inherent limitations associated withdfténg the foreign currency exchange rates, andactual exposures a
positions. For the year ended December 31, 20844, df total net revenue was denominated in a cayrether than the U.S. dollar.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of NERREInc.:

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetselisted in the index appearing under Item 15(9) dresent fairly, in all materi
respects, the financial position of NETGEAR, Inndats subsidiaries at December 31, 2014 and DeeeBih 2013 and the results of th
operations and their cash flows for each of theghyears in the period ended December 31, 20Bbénformity with accounting principl
generally accepted in the United States of Ameticaaddition, in our opinion, the financial statemhechedule listed in the index appea
under Item 15(a)(2presents fairly, in all material respects, the infation set forth therein when read in conjunctigith the relate
consolidated financial statements. Also in our apinthe Company maintained, in all material respeeffective internal control over financ
reporting as of December 31, 2014 , based on ierigstablished iinternal Control - Integrated Framework (201i8sued by the Committee
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commis@@@SO). The Company's management is responsibkadse financial statements |
financial statement schedule, for maintaining dffecinternal control over financial reporting afat its assessment of the effectivenes
internal control over financial reporting, included Management's Report on Internal Control overaRcial Reporting under Item 9A. C
responsibility is to express opinions on theserfaia statements, on the financial statement sdbedind on the Company's internal cor
over financial reporting based on our integrateditau We conducted our audits in accordance with standards of the Public Comp
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Thas@dards require that we plan and perform the audibbtain reasonable assurance ¢
whether the financial statements are free of materisstatement and whether effective internal mdmver financial reporting was maintair
in all material respects. Our audits of the finahdtatements included examining, on a test basiglence supporting the amounts
disclosures in the financial statements, asseshm@ccounting principles used and significantestés made by management, and evalu
the overall financial statement presentation. Quditaof internal control over financial reportingciuded obtaining an understanding of inte
control over financial reporting, assessing thé isat a material weakness exists, and testing ewaduating the design and opera
effectiveness of internal control based on the sk risk. Our audits also included performing sattter procedures as we considt
necessary in the circumstances. We believe thaaadits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions

A company's internal control over financial repogtiis a process designed to provide reasonableassuregarding the reliability
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsiatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting princig
A company's internal control over financial repogtincludes those policies and procedures thgiefifain to the maintenance of records the
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleet ttansactions and dispositions of the assetseotdmpany; (ii) provide reasonable assur
that transactions are recorded as necessary toitpgraparation of financial statements in accor@amdgth generally accepted accoun
principles, and that receipts and expenditureshef dompany are being made only in accordance withoasizations of management
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readsleaassurance regarding prevention or timely deteaf unauthorized acquisition, use
disposition of the company's assets that could hawaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @eteisstatements. Also, projections
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periodssabject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in conditior
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, CA
February 20, 2015
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NETGEAR, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

As of
December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 141,23 $ 143,00¢
Short-term investments 115,89! 105,14!
Accounts receivable, net 275,68¢ 266,48:
Inventories 222,88: 224,45t
Deferred income taxes 29,03¢ 27,23¢
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 38,22¢ 33,77¢
Total current assets 822,96! 800,11:
Property and equipment, net 29,69 27,19:
Intangibles, net 66,23( 84,11¢
Goodwill 81,72 155,91¢
Other non-current assets 48,07 26,59:
Total assets $ 1,048,68 $ 1,093,93

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 106,35 $ 114,53:
Accrued employee compensation 21,58¢ 16,55
Other accrued liabilities 143,74: 143,21t
Deferred revenue 30,02: 24,49¢
Income taxes payable 2,40¢ 1,28i
Total current liabilities 304,11¢ 300,08:
Non-current income taxes payable 15,25: 13,80«
Other non-current liabilities 7,754 6,26(
Total liabilities 327,12: 320,14

Commitments and contingencies (Note 9)

Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock: $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 shart®orized; none issued or outstanding — —
Common stock: $0.001 par value; 200,000,000 shard®rized; shares issued and outstanding:

34,709,022 and 36,839,522 at December 31, 2012@h8, respectively 35 37
Additional paid-in capital 454,14: 421,90:
Accumulated other comprehensive income 38 69
Retained earnings 267,34¢ 351,77¢
Total stockholders’ equity 721,56! 773,78:
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 1,048,68 $ 1,093,93i

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottbeasolidated financial statements.
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NETGEAR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Net revenue $ 1,393,51! $ 1,369,63: $ 1,271,92
Cost of revenue 995,59 976,01¢ 888,36
Gross profit 397,91¢ 393,61! 383,55:
Operating expenses:

Research and development 90,90: 85,16¢ 61,06¢

Sales and marketing 157,01 153,80« 149,76t

General and administrative 46,55 48,91t 45,027

Restructuring and other charges 2,20¢ 5,33t 1,19C

Litigation reserves, net (1,017 5,35¢4 39C

Goodwill impairment charges 74,19¢ — —

Intangibles impairment charges — 2,00( —

Total operating expenses 369,86! 300,57¢ 257,43¢

Income from operations 28,05:¢ 93,03¢ 126,11
Interest income 258 40C 49¢
Other income (expense), net 2,45¢ (457) 2,67(
Income before income taxes 30,76: 92,98: 129,28.
Provision for income taxes 21,97: 37,76 42,74
Net income $ 8,78t $ 55,217 $ 86,53¢
Net income per share:

Basic $ 02t $ 144 % 2.27

Diluted $ 024 $ 14z $ 2.2¢
Weighted average shares used to compute net inpenghare:

Basic 35,77: 38,37¢ 38,05

Diluted 36,44¢ 38,94¢ 38,747

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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NETGEAR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Net income $ 8,78¢ $ 55210 $ 86,53¢
Other comprehensive income (loss), before tax:

Unrealized gain (loss) on derivative instruments (22 8¢ (30

Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale sa@gi 19 (40) 16
Other comprehensive income (loss), before tax (36) 49 (14)
Tax benefit (expense) related to items of otherm@mensive income 5 16 (5)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 31) 65 (19
Comprehensive income $ 8,751 $ 55,28: $ 86,52(

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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NETGEAR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(In thousands)

Common Stock

Accumulated Other

Balance at December 31, 2011

Change in unrealized gains and losses
on available-for-sale securities, net of
tax

Change in unrealized gains and losse
on derivatives, net of tax
Net income

Stock-based compensation expense

Purchase and retirement of common
stock

Issuance of common stock under stoc
based compensation plans

Tax impact from exercises and
cancellations of stock options

Balance at December 31, 2012

Change in unrealized gains and losses
on available-for-sale securities, net of
tax

Change in unrealized gains and losse
on derivatives, net of tax
Net income

Stock-based compensation expense

Purchase and retirement of common
stock

Issuance of common stock under stoc
based compensation plans

Tax impact from exercises and
cancellations of stock options

Balance at December 31, 2013

Change in unrealized gains and losses
on available-for-sale securities, net of
tax

Change in unrealized gains and losse
on derivatives, net of tax

Net income

Stock-based compensation expense

Purchase and retirement of common
stock

Issuance of common stock under stoc
based compensation plans

Tax impact from exercises and
cancellations of stock options

Balance at December 31, 2014

Additional Paid-In Comprehensive
Shares Amount Capital Income (Loss) Retained Earnings Total

37,64% 38 $ 364,24: $ 23 % 274,45  $ 638,75
— — e 11 e 11

— — — (30 — (30

— — e e 86,53¢ 86,53¢

— — 14,36¢ — — 14,36¢
(22 — e e (850) (850)
717 = 14,69 = = 14,69°
— — 1,121 e e 1,121
38,34: 38 394,42 4 360,14. 754,61:
_ — — (24 — (29)

— — — 89 — 8¢

— — e e 55,217 55,217

= = 17,41¢ = = 17,41¢
(2,019 (1) e e (63,587) (63,589
51€ — 9,62¢ — — 9,62¢
— — 42¢ e e 42¢
36,84( 37 421,90 69 351,77¢ 773,78.
— — — C) — ©)
_ — — (22 — (22

—_ —_ — — 8,78¢ 8,78¢

= = 19,98:¢ = = 19,98:¢
(2,909¢) 2 — — (93,21¢) (93,219
777 — 12,74: — — 12,74:
—_ —_ (48)) — — (48))
34,70¢ 3Bz $ 454,14: % 38 $ 267,34¢ $ 721,56!

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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NETGEAR, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 8,78¢ $ 55,217 $ 86,53¢
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigeal by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 35,59( 32,85¢ 16,77¢
Purchase premium amortization/discount accretiomeastments, net 11 1,10¢ 2,49(
Non-cash stock-based compensation 20,01« 17,46: 14,37:
Income tax impact associated with stock option ezes (48)) 42¢ 1,121
Gain on sale of cost method investment — — (3,126
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation (485) (767) (1,559
Goodwill impairment charges 74,19¢ — —
Intangibles impairment charges — 2,00(¢ —
Deferred income taxes (20,26 (7,927 (2,545
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effecafuisitions:
Accounts receivable (9,205 (10,470 5,317
Inventories 1,57: (46,679 (20,590
Prepaid expenses and other assets (7,905 (4,615 2,61¢
Accounts payable (8,236 36,25( (30,615
Accrued employee compensation 5,03 (1,787 (8,782
Other accrued liabilities 2,57¢ 15,07( 3,44¢
Deferred revenue 5,18¢ (1,217 (12,680
Income taxes payable 2,56¢ (26) (7,749
Net cash provided by operating activities 108,96- 86,90: 55,04:
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of short-term investments (145,18¢) (153,469 (369,939
Proceeds from maturities of short-term investments 134,82 275,40¢ 284,41t
Purchase of property and equipment (19,339 (18,050 (14,762
Payments for patents — (275) (1,400
Proceeds from sale of cost method investments — 3,89( —
Payments made in connection with business acarsitinet of cash acquired (2,050 (147,240 (28,625
Net cash used in investing activities (30,74°) (39,739 (130,309)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Purchase and retirement of common stock (93,219 (63,58% (850)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 9,97¢ 7,487 12,70(
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under era@lstpck purchase plan 2,76 2,13¢ 1,997
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation 48~ 767 1,552
Net cash provided by (used in) by financing adtgit (79,997 (53,197 15,39¢
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1,775 (6,029 (59,86¢)
Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of year 143,00¢ 149,03: 208,89¢
Cash and cash equivalents, at end of year $ 141,23  $ 143,00¢ $ 149,03:
Supplemental Cash Flow Information:
Cash paid for income taxes $ 38,93¢ $ 45908: $ 52,40:¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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NETGEAR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. The Company and Summary of Significant Acamting Policies
The Company

NETGEAR, Inc. (“NETGEAR” or the “Company’\vas incorporated in Delaware in January 1996. Tom@any is a global networki
company that delivers innovative products to coregmbusinesses and service providers. The Congppryducts are built on a variety
proven technologies such as wireless, Ethernepanerline, with a focus on reliability and easedsk. The product line consists of wired
wireless devices that enable networking, broadtzaneéss and network connectivity. These productsaa@able in multiple configurations
address the needs of the end-users in each geagragton in which the Company's products are sold.

The Company operates in three specific businestieets: retail, commercial, and service providerctERusiness unit is managed
Senior Vice President/General Manager. The Comgsiigves this structure enables it to better foitsisefforts on the Company's ¢
customer segments and allows it to be more nimideagportunistic as a company overall. The Compa@#£O began temporarily serving
interim general manager of the retail business imi¥larch 2014 and as interim general manager efsérvice provider business uni
February 2015 due to the previous general manadepsirtures from the Company. The Company's CEOcwiitinue to serve as inter
general manager of both business units until reptents are appointed. The retail business uniicissed on individual consumers and con
of high performance, dependable and easys®-home networking, home video security, storagkdigital media products. The commer
business unit is focused on small and medsimed businesses and consists of business networtiorage and security solutions that k
enterprise class functionality at an affordableeriThe service provider business unit is focusethe service provider market and consis
made-to-order and retgikoven whole home networking hardware and softwatetions, as well as 4G LTE hotspots sold to sergirovider
for sale to their subscribers.

The Company sells networking products through rldtisales channels worldwide, including traditiomedailers, online retailel
wholesale distributors, direct market resellers\ifRs”), value-added resellers (“WARS"), and broadthaervice providers.

Basis of presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemimiside the accounts of the Company and its whoWyed subsidiaries. All inter-
company accounts and transactions have been etadiirathe consolidation of these subsidiaries.

Fiscal periods

The Company's fiscal year begins on January 1 efydar stated and ends on December 31 of the saare fhe Company reports
results on a fiscal quarter basis rather than calendar quarter basis. Under the fiscal quartsisbaach of the first three fiscal quarters
on the Sunday closest to the calendar quartenveittdthe fourth quarter ending on December 31.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith U.S. generally accepted accounting priresp{GAAP) requires managemer
make estimates and assumptions that affect theteebamounts of assets and liabilities and disctstfi contingent assets and liabilities ai
date of the financial statements and the reponeduats of revenues and expenses during the reppergad. Actual results could differ frc
those estimates.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmentth an original maturity at the time of purchasfethree months or less to be ¢
equivalents. The Company deposits cash and casbadents with high credit quality financial institans.

Short-term investments

Shortterm investments are partially comprised of mailetaecurities that consist of government secuwritigh an original maturity or
remaining maturity at the time of purchase, of tggethan three months and no more than 12 monties.nfarketable securities are held in
Company's name with one high quality financialitmgibn, which acts as the Company's custodianianelstment manager. These market
securities are classified as available-for-sal@sges in accordance with the provisions
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)

of the authoritative guidance for investments arelcarried at fair value with unrealized gains &stes reported as a separate compon:
stockholders' equity.

Short-term investments are also comprised of mabiketsecurities related to deferred compensatiatreuthe Companyg’ Deferrel
Compensation Plan. Mutual funds are the only imaests allowed in the Company's Deferred Compensé&tian and the investments are |
in a grantor trust formed by the Company. The Camplaas classified these investments as tradingriiesuas the grantor trust activ
manages the asset allocation to match the panitspaotional fund allocations. These securities areonded at fair market value w
unrealized gains and losses included in other imc(empense), net.

Certain risks and uncertainties

The Company's products are concentrated in theamkimg industry, which is characterized by rapidhieological advances, change
customer requirements and evolving regulatory megouénts and industry standards. The success dfahgany depends on managem:
ability to anticipate and/or to respond quickly aadequately to such changes. Any significant delaythe development or introduction
products could have a material adverse effect efCiimpany's business and operating results.

The Company relies on a limited number of thirdtiearto manufacture all of its products. If any the Company's thirgarty
manufacturers cannot or will not manufacture itedpicts in required volumes, on a ceffective basis, in a timely manner, or at all,
Company will have to secure additional manufactuapacity. Any interruption or delay in manufaatgrcould have a material adverse el
on the Company's business and operating results.

Derivative financial instruments

The Company uses foreign currency forward contrect®ianage the exposures to foreign exchange eisked to expected future ci
flows on certain forecasted revenue, costs of reeeaperating expenses, and on certain existirgfsaasd liabilities. Foreign currency forw
contracts generally mature within five months ofeption. Under its foreign currency risk managemsnategy, the Company utiliz
derivative instruments to reduce the impact of @ucy exchange rate movements on the Company'stiogerasults by offsetting gains €
losses on the forward contracts with increaseseorahses in foreign currency transactions. The eosploes not use derivative finan
instruments for speculative purposes.

The Company accounts for its derivative instrumest®ither assets or liabilities and records thefaiavalue. Derivatives that are |
defined as hedges in the authoritative guidancedéivatives and hedging must be adjusted to falues through earnings. For deriva
instruments that hedge the exposure to variabilitgxpected future cash flows that are designasechah flow hedges, the effective portio
the gain or loss on the derivative instrument oréed as a component of accumulated other compséfesincome in stockholders' equity .
reclassified into earnings in the same period eiopgs during which the hedged transaction affeatniegs. The ineffective portion of the g
or loss on the derivative instrument is recogniredurrent earnings. To receive hedge accountiegtrinent, cash flow hedges must be hi
effective in offsetting changes to expected futash flows on hedged transactions. For derivatilesignated as cash flow hedges, chanc
the time value are excluded from the assessméradije effectiveness and are recognized in earnings.

Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject @@mmpany to a concentration of credit risk consistash and cash equivalents, shertr
investments and accounts receivable. The Compadigvbes that there is minimal credit risk associatéih the investment of its cash and ¢
equivalents and shotérm investments, due to the restrictions placedhentype of investment that can be entered intteuthe Company
investment policy. The Company's short-term investts consist of investmegtade securities, and the Company's cash and meess ar
held and managed by recognized financial instihgio

The Company's customers are primarily distribussrsvell as retailers and broadband service providéio sell or distribute the produ
to a large group of endsers. The Company maintains an allowance for dolultcounts for estimated losses resulting fromittability of the
Company's customers to make required payments Chinepany regularly performs credit evaluations & @ompany's customers' finan
condition and considers factors such as histoggglerience, credit quality, age of the accountgivable balances, geographic or countr
specific risks and current economic conditions timaty affect customers' ability to pay. The Compadogs not require collateral from
customers. The Company secures credit insuranaeftain customers in international and domestidketa.
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As of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, B@stinc. accounted for 21%f the Company's total accounts receivable. Nor
customers accounted for 10% or greater of the Cagipaotal accounts receivable.

The Company is exposed to credit loss in the esEnbnperformance by counterparties to the foreigmency forward contracts usec
mitigate the effect of foreign currency exchange ighanges. The Company believes the counterpdotigs outstanding contracts are la
financially sound institutions and thus, the Compadnes not anticipate nonperformance by these egpatties. However, given the rec
unprecedented turbulence in the financial markkesfailure of additional counterparties is pogsibl

Fair value measurements

The carrying amounts of the Company's financiarimsents, including cash equivalents, shertn investments, accounts receivable,
accounts payable approximate their fair valuestdubeir short maturities. Foreign currency forwaahtracts are recorded at fair value b.
on observable market data. See NoteFEs; Value Measurementsf the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementslisclosures regardi
fair value measurements in accordance with theosiiive guidance for fair value measurementsdiedosures.

Cost method investments

The Company's cost method investments are inclirdether noneurrent assets in the consolidated balance sheétara carried at co
adjusted for any impairment, because the Compameg dot have a controlling interest and does nothhe ability to exercise significe
influence over these companies. The Company manita@se investments for impairment on a quarteaidy and adjusts carrying value
any impairment charges recognized. Realized gaitk lasses on these investments are reported ir antbeme (expense), net in
consolidated statements of operations.

Allowance for doubtful accounts

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtfuloants for estimated losses resulting from the iitgbof its customers to ma
required payments. The Company regularly perforneslit evaluations of its customers' financial cdiodi and considers factors suck
historical experience, credit quality, age of tlteaunts receivable balances, and geographic ortigespecific risks and economic conditic
that may affect a customer's ability to pay. THevednce for doubtful accounts is reviewed quartenriyl adjusted if necessary based ol
Company's assessments of its customers' abilipajo If the financial condition of the Company'stmmers should deteriorate or if ac
defaults are higher than the Company's historigpkegence, additional allowances may be requirdtichvcould have an adverse impac
operating expenses.

Inventories
Inventories consist primarily of finished goods wathiare valued at the lower of cost or market, witht being determined using the first
in, first-out method. The Company writes down its inventobiased on estimated excess and obsolete inventigtesmined primarily
future demand forecasts. At the point of loss redan, a new, lower cost basis for that invent@yestablished, and subsequent chang
facts and circumstances do not result in the rastor or increase of the newly established cossbas

Property and equipment, net

Property and equipment are stated at historical, dess accumulated depreciation. Depreciationoisputed using the straighte
method over the estimated useful lives of the assefollows:

Computer equipment 2 years

Furniture and fixtures 5 years

Software 2-5 years

Machinery and equipment 2-3 years

Leasehold improvements Shorter of the lease term or 5 years

Recoverability of assets to be held and used isored by comparing the carrying amount of an gesite estimated undiscounted fur
cash flows expected to be generated by the assle¢ ¢arrying amount of the asset exceeds itsmastid
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undiscounted future cash flows, an impairment obhasgecognized in the amount by which the carrdangount of the asset exceeds the
value of the asset. The carrying value of the assetviewed on a regular basis for the existerfdaais, both internal and external, that 1
suggest impairment. Charges related to the impaitroeproperty and equipment were not materialtfar years ended December 31, 2014
2013 and 2012 .

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the purchase price over estichtgir value of net assets of businesses acqgiriracdusiness combination. Good»
acquired in a business combination is not amortibed instead tested for impairment at least aryal the first day of the fourth quart
Should certain events or indicators of impairmertus between annual impairment tests, the Companfpins the impairment test as th
events or indicators occur. Examples of such eventsrcumstances include the following: a sigrafit decline in the Comparsyexpecte
future cash flows; a sustained, significant declm¢he Companys stock price and market capitalization; a sigaificadverse change in
business climate; and slower growth rates.

Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reportungjt level by first performing a qualitative assesst to determine whether it is m
likely than not (that is, a likelihood of more th&0%) that the fair value of the reporting unitiéss than its carrying value. The comg
identified the reporting units as retail, commereiad service provider reporting units, as thishis lowest level for which discrete finan:
information is available and segment managementiladyg reviews the operating results. The qualiatassessment considers the follov
factors: macroeconomic conditions, industry andketaconsiderations, cost factors, overall compangricial performance, events affec
the reporting units, and changes in the Comparhgsesprice. If the reporting unit does not pass dhalitative assessment, the Comg
estimates its fair value and compares the fairevalith the carrying value of its net assets. If fdie value is greater than the carrying valu
its net assets, no impairment is recorded. If "ieValue is less than its carrying value, the Canypwould determine the fair value of
goodwill by comparing the implied fair value to tearrying value of the goodwill in the same manasrif the reporting unit were bei
acquired in a business combination. Specificaliyy Company would allocate the fair value to allitefassets and liabilities, including ¢
unrecognized intangibles, in a hypothetical analyisat would calculate the implied fair value obduwill. If the implied fair value of goodw
is less than the recorded goodwill, an impairmésatrge would be recorded to earnings in the corstadistatements of operations.

In the fourth fiscal quarter of 2014, the Compaegarded a goodwill impairment charge of $74.2 wnillielated to the service provit
reporting unit. For additional discussion regarding goodwill impairment analysis, refer to NotdB8Jance Sheet Components.

Intangibles, net

Purchased intangibles with finite lives are amedizising the straighine method over the estimated economic lives efdhsets, whit
range from four to ten years. Finiiged intangibles are reviewed for impairment whesreevents or changes in circumstances indicatehk
carrying amount of such assets may not be recolerBletermination of recoverability is based onemtimate of undiscounted future ¢
flows resulting from the use of the asset andvienéual disposition.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2014, the Campsaw a decline in net revenue in the serviceigeo reporting unit. According to
customers, purchase constraints will tighten furth€2015 and for the foreseeable future. Due ¢odécline in the longerm revenue and prc
outlook, the Company performed the recoverabilégt tof the londived assets within the service provider reportingt. The Compar
estimated the undiscounted future cash flows direstsociated with each asset group and compaeedrttounts to the carrying value of €
asset group. Based on the results of the recoVigyabst, the sum of undiscounted future cash #avas greater than the carrying value of
asset group and therefore no impairment was redofidee company also reviewed the depreciation amattization policies for the lontived
asset groups and ensured the remaining usefuldieeappropriate.

Purchased intangibles determined to have indefusedul lives are not amortized. Indefiniteed intangibles are reviewed for impairm
at least annually during the fourth quarter andwaver events or changes in circumstances indibatehe carrying amount of such assets
not be recoverable. Measurement of an impairmes# for indefinitelived assets that management expects to hold amisummsed on the f
value of the asset. Indefinitered assets to be disposed of are reported atothier of carrying amount or fair value less costssell. The
carrying value of the asset is reviewed on a redhdasis for the existence of facts, both intermal external, that may suggest impairment.

In the third quarter of 2013, the Company recordedmpairment charge of $2.0 millioelated to the abandonment of certain IPF
projects obtained in the AirCard acquisition in 20As of June 29, 2014, all of the remaining IPRE& reached
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technical feasibility and was reclassified to diedirived intangibles with an estimated useful ld&efour years. No other impairments to long
lived assets were recognized in the years endedrbleer 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 .

Warranty obligations

The Company provides for estimated future warranfiligations at the time revenue is recognized. Toenpany's standard warra
obligation to its direct customers generally pr@ddor a right of return of any product for a ftéfund in the event that such product is
merchantable or is found to be damaged or defecfivéhe time revenue is recognized, an estimatkiifre warranty returns is recordec
reduce revenue in the amount of the expected coediefund to be provided to its direct customésthe time the Company records
reduction to revenue related to warranty retutms,Gompany includes within cost of revenue a wditem to reduce the carrying value of s
products to net realizable value. The Companytsistal warranty obligation to its enbers provides for replacement of a defective prbfiu
oneor more years. Factors that affect the warrantigatibn include product failure rates, materialgesaand service delivery costs incurre
correcting product failures. The estimated cosbeiased with fulfilling the Company's warranty ajdition to endisers is recorded in cost
revenue. Because the Company's products are mamgfddy thirdparty manufacturers, in certain cases the Compasyrécourse to t
third-party manufacturer for replacement or credit fa tefective products. The Company gives considerdtd amounts recoverable from
third-party manufacturers in determining its warrantpilisy. Changes in the Company's warranty liabijliyhich is included as a componen
“Other accrued liabilities” in the consolidated drate sheets, are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013
Balance as of beginning of the year $ 48,75¢ % 46,65¢
Provision for warranty obligations made during ylear 62,70¢ 69,75¢
Settlements made during the year (66,575 (67,660)
Balance at end of year $ 44,88t $ 48,75«

Revenue recognition

Revenue from product sales is generally recogratede time the product is shipped provided thasymesive evidence of an arranger
exists, title and risk of loss has transferredhi ¢ustomer, the selling price is fixed or deteable and collection of the related receivab
reasonably assured. Currently, for some of the Gmyp customers, title passes to the customer dptwery to the port or country
destination, upon their receipt of the productupon the customer's resale of the product. At tiek @& each fiscal quarter, the Comp
estimates and defers revenue related to productewtitee has not transferred. The revenue contiiadse deferred until such time that 1
passes to the customer. The Company assessedatullgcbased on a number of factors, includinggr@l economic and market conditic
past transaction history with the customer, andctieelitworthiness of the customer. If the Compaatednines that collection of the fee is
reasonably assured, then the Company defers tlatkeecognizes revenue upon receipt of payment.

The Company has an insignificant amount of prodfferrings with multiple elements. The Company's tiplé-element product offerin
include networking hardware with embedded softwaagious software subscription services, and suppdrich are considered separate
of accounting. In general, the networking hardwaith embedded software is delivered up front, whtile subscription services and suppor
delivered over the subscription and support peribde Company allocates revenue to the softwarevatalbles and the naoftware
deliverables (including software deliverables whighction together with hardware deliverables toviste the product's essential functiona
based upon their relative selling price. Revenudecated to each unit of accounting is then recagghizvhen persuasive evidence ol
arrangement exists, title and risk of loss hasstemed to the customer, the selling price is fisedieterminable and collection of the rel:
receivable is reasonably assured.

When applying the relative selling price methode tbompany determines the selling price for eacivelglble using vendaspecific
objective evidence ("VSOE") of fair value of theliderable, or when VSOE of fair value is unavailabits best estimate of selling pi
(“ESP"), as the Company has determined it is untbkstablish thirgsarty evidence of selling price for the deliverablin determining VSOI
the Company requires that a substantial majorithefselling prices for a deliverable sold on adtalone basis fall within a reasonably nar
pricing range, generally evidenced by approxima88l96 of such historical stand-alone transactioimfawithin +/-15% of the median pric
The Company determines ESP for a deliverable bwidenng multiple factors including, but not limiteo, market conditions, competit
landscape, internal costs, gross margin objectwekpricing practices. The objective of ESP is étethine the price at which the Comp
would transact a sale if the deliverable
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were sold on a staramlone basis. The determination of ESP is made tfirozonsultation with and formal approval by the @amy's
management, taking into consideration the go-toketastrategy.

Certain distributors and retailers generally haheright to return product for stock rotation puses. Upon shipment of the product,
Company reduces revenue for an estimate of potduatizre product warranty and stock rotation returalated to the current period proc
revenue. Management analyzes historical returranredi inventory levels, current economic trends emahges in customer demand for
Company's products when evaluating the adequatlyeoéllowance for sales returns, namely warranty stock rotation returns. Revenue
shipments is also reduced for estimated price ptiote and sales incentives deemed to be caetranue under the authoritative guidance
revenue recognition.

Sales incentives

The Company accrues for sales incentives as a tiragkexpense if it receives an identifiable benefiexchange and can reasoni
estimate the fair value of the identifiable bengditeived; otherwise, it is recorded as a redudborevenues. As a consequence, the Con
records a substantial portion of its channel mamgetosts as a reduction of revenue.

The Company records estimated reductions to reefuresales incentives at the later of when thateel revenue is recognized or w
the program is offered to the customer or end coresu

Shipping and handling fees and costs

The Company includes shipping and handling fedsdib customers in net revenue. Shipping and lrandbsts associated with inbot
freight are included in cost of revenue. In casbéene the Company gives a freight allowance to tistamer for their own inbound freig
costs, such costs are appropriately recorded aslection in net revenue. Shipping and handlingscassociated with outbound freight
included in sales and marketing expenses and th#16.5 million , $11.6 million and $12.1 million the years ended December 31, 2014
2013 and 2012 respectively.

Research and development
Costs incurred in the research and developmengwfproducts are charged to expense as incurred.
Advertising costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Tateérising and promotional expenses were $19.lianil] $18.0 million , ands19.(
million in the years ended December 31, 2014 , 20482012 respectively.

Income taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under art asddiability approach. Under this method, incotae expense is recognized
the amount of taxes payable or refundable for teeat year. In addition, deferred tax assets &aidlities are recognized for the expec
future tax consequences of temporary differencsslting from different treatment for tax versus @aating for certain items, such as accr
and allowances not currently deductible for taxpoges. These differences result in deferred taatsssd liabilities, which are included wit
the consolidated balance sheet. The Company mestahsess the likelihood that the Company's deféae assets will be recovered fr
future taxable income and to the extent the Compieatigves that recovery is not more likely than, tieé Company must establish a value
allowance. The Comparg’assessment considers the recognition of deféaredssets on a jurisdictional basis. Accordinglyassessing i
future taxable income on a jurisdictional basis, @ompany considers the effect of its transferipgipolicies on that income.

In the ordinary course of business there is inhtaranertainty in assessing the Company's incom@aaitions. The Company assesse
tax positions and records benefits for all yearBjext to examination based on management's evatuati the facts, circumstances
information available at the reporting date. Farsth tax positions where it is more likely than tiwt a tax benefit will be sustained,
Company records the largest amount of tax benéfit a greater than 50 percent likelihood of beiaglized upon ultimate settlement wit
taxing authority that has full knowledge of alleeant information. For those income tax positioere it is not more likely than not that a
benefit will be sustained, no tax benefit has bemorded in the financial statements. Where apiplicaassociated interest and penalties
also been recognized as a component of incomexizense.
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Net income per share

Basic net income per share is computed by dividiegincome by the weighted average number of comshamnes outstanding for
period. Diluted net income per share reflects theiteonal dilution from potential issuances of conmstock, such as stock issuable pursus
the exercise of stock options and awards. Potgntillitive shares are excluded from the computatib diluted net income per share w
their effect is anti-dilutive.

Stock-based compensation

The Company measures stdzksed compensation at the grant date based oaithalue of the award. The fair value of stockiops is
estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricingleloEstimated compensation cost relating to iestli stock units (“RSUs'(s based on tt
closing fair market value of the Company’s commtotls on the date of grant. The fair value of Empleystock Purchase Plan (“ESPR)
based on the 15% discount at purchase, since iteegfrthe shares is determined at the purchage dat

The compensation expense for equity awards is sztlby an estimate for forfeitures and is recogniaeer the vesting period of t
award under a graded vesting method. In additiom,Company will recognize an excess benefit fréotksbased compensation in eqt
based on the difference between tax expense cothpite consideration of the windfall deduction amithout consideration of the windf
deduction. In addition, the Company accounts feritfdirect effects of stockased compensation on the research tax credithentbreign ta
credit in the income statement. See NoteEiployee Benefit Planf the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemfmta further discussic
on stock-based compensation.

Comprehensive income

Comprehensive income consists of net income aner @hins and losses affecting stockholder's edhéy the Company excluded fri
net income, including gains and losses relatediitovialue of shorterm investments and the effective portion of ctiev hedges that we
outstanding as of the end of the year.

Foreign currency translation and re-measurement

The Company's functional currency is the U.S. ddba all of its international subsidiaries. Foneigurrency transactions of internatic
subsidiaries are re-measured into U.S. dollarbatend-ofperiod exchange rates for monetary assets anditieeyi and historical exchan
rates for non-monetary assets. Expenses amgepsured at average exchange rates in effect desicly period, except for expenses relat
non-monetary assets, which are re-measured atib@texchange rates. Revenue isreasured at average exchange rates in effect dewict
period. Gains and losses arising from foreign awyedransactions are included in other income (egpg net.

Recent accounting pronouncements

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2008; "Revenue from Contracts with Customer” (Top@i6)6 The guidance in this upd
supersedes the revenue recognition requirement®jiic 605, Revenue Recognition. Under the new gquidaan entity should recogn
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goodseorices to customers in an amount that reflé&sonsideration to which the entity exp
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or sesviThe guidance also specifies the accountingdore costs to obtain or fulfill a contr
with a customer. An entity should apply the amenthimen the update either retrospectively to eadbrmeporting period presented
retrospectively with the cumulative effect of iaity applying this update recognized at the datmitial application. ASU 20149 is effectivi
for the Company beginning in the first quarter dis2017. Early adoption is not permitted. The Comypss in the process of evaluating
available transition methods and the impact of skagmdard on its financial position, results of @piens or cash flows.

Note 2. Business Acquisitions

Arada Systems, Inc.

On June 21, 2013 , the Company acquired certaigtsaasd operations of Arada Systems, Inc. (“AradaPrivatelyheld company th
develops, licenses, and provides solutions fomthe generation of uses of Wi-Fi, for total purahasnsideration of $5.3 millioim cash. Th
Company believes the acquisition will bolster itisaless product offerings in its commercial busges
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unit and strengthen its position in the small tadiam-sized campus wireless LAN market. The Comppaig $4.2 millionof the aggrega
purchase price in the second quarter of 2013, aritpe remaining $1.1 million in the second quanfe2014.

The acquisition qualified as a business combinaséind was accounted for using the acquisition methfodccounting. The results
Arada have been included in the consolidated filhretatements since the date of acquisition. Proné results of operations for
acquisition are not presented as the financial ohfzathe Company's consolidated results of opamatis not material.

The allocation of the purchase price was as follwshousands):

Property and equipment, net $ 15
Intangibles, net 4,04(
Goodwill 1,19¢

Total purchase price $ 5,25(

Of the $1.2 million of goodwill recorded on the aition of Arada, approximately $0.7 million and.$ million are deductible for U.
federal and state income tax purposes, respectiVhly goodwill recognized, which was assigned &@@ompany's commercial business un
primarily attributable to expected synergies rasglfrom the acquisition.

The Company designated $4.0 milliohthe acquired intangibles as technology. The eakas calculated based on the present val
the future estimated cash flows derived from edtthaavings attributable to the existing technolagy discounted at 21.5%rlhe acquire
existing technology is being amortized over amested useful life of five years .

AirCard Division of Sierra Wireless, Inc

On April 2, 2013, the Company completed the acquisition of seleset and operations of the Sierra Wireless, linCakd busines
("AirCard"), including customer relationships, a nabclass LTE engineering team, certain intellectualpprty, inventory and property &
equipment. The Company believes this acquisitidhagcelerate the mobile initiative of the servfm®vider business unit to become a gl
leader in providing the latest in LTE data netwngkaccess devices.

The Company paid $140.0 milliasf the aggregate purchase price in the secondequair2013. The acquisition qualified as a busi
combination and was accounted for using the adguismethod of accounting. The results of AirCaeVd been included in the consolid:
financial statements since the date of acquisitRevenue and earnings for AirCard as of the adipuistdate are not presented as the bus
was fully integrated into the service provider Im@sis unit subsequent to the acquisition and therdfopracticable for the Company

quantify.

The allocation of the purchase price was as folliwshousands):

Inventories $ 2,87¢
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 12,25¢
Property and equipment, net 7,45¢
Intangibles, net 69,70(
Goodwill 53,84:
Liabilities assumed (6,096

Total purchase price $ 140,03

In the third quarter of 2013, the Company madedjusément of $0.5 million to goodwill related tovreed inventory estimates.

Of the $53.8 million of goodwill recorded on theqatsition of AirCard, approximately $35.8 millior$53.8 million and $2.3 millioris
deductible for U.S. federal, U.S. state and Camadiaome tax purposes, respectively. The goodwitbgnized, which was assigned to
Company's service provider business unit, is piilsnattributable to expected synergies resultirarfrthe acquisition.
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The Company designated $16.3 milliohthe acquired intangibles as technology. Theevakas calculated based on the present val
the future estimated cash flows derived from edtthaavings attributable to the existing technolagy discounted at 10.0%rlhe acquire
technology is being amortized over an estimatefulite of four years .

The Company designated $40.5 millioh the acquired intangibles as customer relatigpshihe value was calculated based ol
present value of the future estimated cash flowivee from projections of future operations atttiole to existing customer relationships
discounted at 12.0% . The acquired customer reishiips are being amortized over an estimated ukfefuf eight years

The Company designated $2.3 million of the acquirgdngibles as nonempete agreements. The value was calculated twasdiok
present value of the future estimated cash flows/elé from projections of future operations atttidhle to the nortompete agreements ¢
discounted at 12.0% . The acquired agreementsegmg mortized over an estimated useful life of fiears .

The Company designated $1.1 milliohthe acquired intangibles as backlog. The valas ealculated based on the present value
future contractual revenue and discounted at 10.0Be acquired backlog was fully amortized in theand quarter of 2013.

The Company acquired $9.5 million in in-processagsh and development (“IPR&Dprojects. The value was calculated based o
present value of future estimated cash flows distamiat 13.0% derived from projections of future revenues httrable to the assets, expe!
economic life of the assets, and royalty rates.&BPRcquired is considered indefinite lived intarigk until research and development efi
associated with the projects are completed or afrsedl The most significant of the acquired IPR&Djects relate to multimode L7
technologies, Mobile Hot Spot, USB dongle, and Medorm factors. During the third quarter of 2013¢ Company recorded an intangil
impairment charge of $2.0 million related to #gandonment of certain IPR&D projects previouslguaeed. As of June 29, 20147.5
million of the acquired IPR&D had reached techhfeasibility and was reclassified to definifeed intangibles and with an estimated us
life of four years.

Pro forma financial information

The unaudited pro forma financial information ir tiable below summarizes the combined results obparations and those of AirCi
for the periods shown as though the acquisitiorAio€ard occurred as of the beginning of the fisgahr 2012. The pro forma financ
information for the periods presented includesabeounting effects of the business combinationuding adjustments to the amortizatior
intangibles, fair value of acquired inventory, asgiion-related costs, integration expenses and relatedffaxts of these adjustments, wt
applicable. This information is for informationaligposes only, is subject to a number of estimatesyumptions and other uncertainties,
may not be indicative of the results of operatithvag would have been achieved if the acquisitiocth ia&ken place at January 1, 2012.

The unaudited pro forma financial information isf@lfows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012
(in millions)
Net revenue $ 1,418 $ 1,51¢
Net income $ 57 $ 8¢

AVAAK, Inc.

On July 2, 2012 , the Company acquired 100% ofvtiteng equity interests of AVAAK, Inc. (“AVAAK?"), aprivatelyheld company th
developed wire-free video networking products fitet purchase consideration of $24.0 million infcaBheCompany believes the acquisit
will bolster its retail business unit product offegs and expand its presence into the smart homkema& he Company paid $21.6 milliarf the
aggregate purchase price in the third quarter @228nd the remaining $2.4 million was paid intthied quarter of 2013.

The acquisition qualified as a business combinasind was accounted for using the acquisition methifodccounting. The results
AVAAK have been included in the consolidated fin@ahcstatements since the date of acquisition. Broné results of operations for
acquisition are not presented as the financial ehfzathe Company's consolidated results of opamatis not material.
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The allocation of the purchase price was as follwshousands):

Net tangible assets acquired $ 172
Deferred income taxes 5,931
Intangibles, net 6,00(
Goodwill 11,89t

Total purchase price $ 24,00«

Noneof the goodwill recognized related to AVAAK is dedible for income tax purposes. The goodwill redagd, which was assign
to the Company's retail business unit, is primaatlyibutable to expected synergies resulting ftbenacquisition.

In connection with the acquisition, the Companyorded $5.9 milliorof deferred tax assets net of deferred tax liagditThe deferred ti
assets arise from the tax benefit of the estima&tdperating losses as of the date of the acmuisifter consideration of limitations on the
under U.S. Internal Revenue Code section 382. Eiierged tax assets are reduced by deferred taifitleb recorded for the book basis
intangibles and in-process research and developfi@R&D™) for which the Company has no tax basis.

The Company designated $2.3 milliohthe acquired intangibles as technology. The eakas calculated based on the present val
the future estimated cash flows derived from edtthaavings attributable to the existing technolagy discounted at 14.0%rlhe acquire
existing technology is being amortized over itsneated useful life of five years .

The Company designated $0.3 milliohthe acquired intangibles as customer relatiggshThe value was calculated based on the pi
value of the future estimated cash flows derivamimfrprojections of future operations attributableetdsting customer relationships
discounted at 14.0% . The acquired customer reiships are being amortized over an estimated ukfefuf five years .

The Company designated $1.4 milliohthe acquired intangibles as trade name andrmades. The value was calculated based o
present value of the future estimated cash flowivel@ from projections of future operations atttddule to existing trade name and tradernr
and discounted at 16.0% . The acquired trade nawhérademarks are being amortized over an estimegefil life of five years .

In addition, $2.0 millionof the consideration paid represents the fair valfieacquired IPR&D projects. The IPR&D acquirec
considered indefinite lived intangibles until resdeand development efforts associated with th@epte are completed or abandoned. The
significant of the acquired IPR&D projects relatecamera technology and applications. As of tret fiscal quarter of 2013, all of the acqu
IPR&D had reached technical feasibility and wadassified to definite intangibles with an estimateseful life of four years.

Firetide, Inc.

On June 4, 2012 , the Company acquired certaifienteal property of Firetide, Inc. (“Firetide”) fan aggregate purchase priceba@fz
million in cash. The acquisition included intangibles thaisted at the closing date, including IP contratéghnology assets, busin
technology, and goodwill. The Company believesabguisition will bolster its wireless product offggs in its commercial business unit
strengthen its market position in the small to meudsize campus wireless LAN market.

The acquisition qualified as a business combinaséind was accounted for using the acquisition methfodccounting. The results
Firetide have been included in the consolidatedrfgmal statements since the date of acquisition. fBrma results of operations for
acquisition are not presented as the financial ohfzathe Company's consolidated results of opamatis not material.

The Company paid $6.6 million of the aggregate pase price in the second quarter of 2012, andettmaining $0.6 milliorwas paid i
the second fiscal quarter of 2013. The ongoingscotteveloping these assets subsequent to theoflatguisition have been included in
consolidated financial statements since the datacqfiisition. The historical results of operatigetated to the acquired assets prior tc
acquisition were not material to the Company’s ltesaf operations.
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The allocation of the purchase price was as follwshousands):

Intangibles, net $ 4,15¢
Goodwill 3,041
Total purchase price $ 7,20(

Of the $3.0 million of goodwill recorded on the adsijtion of Firetide, approximately $1.6 million @$3.0 millionis deductible for U.¢
federal and state income tax purposes, respectiValy goodwill recognized, which was assigned eéoGompany's commercial business un
primarily attributable to expected synergies areldhsembled workforce of Firetide.

The Company designated the $4.2 milliaracquired intangibles as technology. The valus ealculated based on the present vali
the future estimated cash flows derived from ed@eh@avings attributable to the existing technolagy discounted at 22.0%The acquire
existing technology is being amortized over itsneated useful life of five years .

Note 3. Balance Sheet Components (in thousands)

Available-for-sale short-term investments

As of
December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
Unrealized Unrealized Estimated Fair Unrealized Unrealized Estimated Fair
Cost Gain Loss Value Cost Gain Loss Value
U.S. treasuries $ 114,94 $ 6 $ (15 $ 11493 $ 104,59 $ 7% (1) $ 104,60
Certificates of deposits 15¢ — — 15¢ 15¢ — — 15¢
Total $ 11510. $ 6 $ (15 $ 11509. $ 104,75 $ 7 % (1) $ 104,76

The Company’s short-term investments are prima&dlynprised of marketable securities that are cliaskds available-fosale and consi
of government securities with an original matudtyremaining maturity at the time of purchase afager than three monthsd no more the
12 months . Accordingly, none of the available-$afe securities have unrealized losses greaterlthamonths.

Cost method investments

As of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013cahging value of the Company's cost method imaests was $1.3 millionThes:
investments are included in other nourrent assets in the consolidated balance shedtsw@ carried at cost, adjusted for any impairg
because the Company does not have a controlliegeisit and does not have the ability to exercisaifgignt influence over these compan
The Company monitors these investments for impaitnen a quarterly basis, and adjusts carrying vdhreany impairment charg
recognized. There were no impairments recognizethényears ended December 31, 2014 , December@3B ghd December 31, 20:
Realized gains and losses on these investmentggoeted in other income (expense), net in the aladeted statements of operations. In
third fiscal quarter of 2012 the Company recogniaeghin of $3.1 millioron the partial sale of one of its cost method itmesits. No othe
gains or losses were recorded in the years endedniieer 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012.

Accounts receivable, net

As of

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013

Gross accounts receivable $ 296,23¢ % 289,47
Allowance for doubtful accounts (1,255 (1,255
Allowance for sales returns (17,489 (17,467
Allowance for price protection (1,806 (4,279
Total allowances (20,55() (22,995

Total accounts receivable, net $ 275,68¢ $ 266,48:
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Inventories
As of
December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
Raw materials $ 3,628 $ 8,67¢
Work-in-process 8 6,23:
Finished goods 219,25( 209,54
Total inventories $ 222,88 $ 224,45¢

The Company records provisions for excess and etesalventory based on forecasts of future dem¥rdle management believes
estimates and assumptions underlying its currergcésts are reasonable, there is risk that addltioharges may be necessary if cul
forecasts are greater than actual demand.

Property and equipment, net

As of
December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
Computer equipment $ 9,77¢ $ 8,527
Furniture, fixtures and leasehold improvements 19,37¢ 14,01¢
Software 29,29 25,72
Machinery and equipment 60,13: 50,65¢
Construction in progress — 21
Total property and equipment, gross 118,58 98,94!
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (88,897 (71,757
Total property and equipment, net $ 29,69 $ 27,19¢

Depreciation and amortization expense pertainingoperty and equipment was $17.6 million , $17iion and $11.9 million for the
years ended December 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectively.

Intangibles, net

The following tables present details of the Compapyrchased intangibles:

Accumulated

Gross Amortization Net
December 31, 2014
Technology $ 61,09¢ $ (39,34) $ 21,75¢
Customer contracts and relationships 56,50( (16,205 40,29¢
Other 10,54¢ (6,36¢) 4,177
Total intangibles, net 128,14 (61,919 66,23(
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Accumulated

Gross Amortization Net

December 31, 2013
Technology $ 60,99¢ $ (29,59) $ 31,40¢
Customer contracts and relationships 56,50( (9,120 47,38(
Other 10,54¢ (5,319 5,23:
Finite-lived intangibles, net 128,04« (44,02¢) 84,01¢
Indefinite-lived intangibles 10C — 10C
Total intangibles, net $ 128,14«  $ (44,020 $ 84,11¢

Amortization of purchased intangibles in the yeamded December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 was $1illiém $15.5 million andb4.¢
million , respectively. In the year ended DecemBé&r 2013, the Company recorded an impairment chafg$2.0 million due to th
abandonment of IPR&D acquired as part of the AidCacquisition. Ndmpairment charges were recorded in the years ebdsgmber 3.
2014 and 2012 .

Estimated amortization expense related to finitediintangibles for each of the next five years tiredeafter is as follows:

Year Ending December 31, Amount
2015 $ 17,28
2016 16,92:
2017 11,38¢
2018 7,871
2019 6,02¢
Thereafter 6,741
Total expected amortization expense $ 66,23(
Goodwill

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill aigithe years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 dodaws:

Service

Retail Commercial Provider Total
Goodwill at December 31, 2012 $ 4544: % 35,08 $ 20,35t $ 100,88:
Goodwill acquired during the period — 1,19t 53,84: 55,03¢
Goodwill at December 31, 2013 45,44; 36,27¢ 74,19¢ 155,91t
Goodwill impairment charges — — (74,19¢) (74,19¢)
Goodwill at December 31, 2014 $ 4544. $ 36,27¢ $ — $ 81,72

In the fourth fiscal quarter of 2014, the Companynpleted the annual impairment test of goodwille Tast was performed as of the
day of the fourth quarter, or September 29, 2014.

The Company performed a qualitative test for godldmipairment of the retail and commercial repogtimnits as of September 29, 2(
Based upon the results of the qualitative testihg,respective fair values of the retail and conmaéreporting units were substantially
excess of these reporting units’ carrying valudsee Tompany believes it is more-likely-thaat that the fair value of these reporting unit
greater than their respective carrying values aedefore performing the first step of the tatep impairment test for the retail and comme
reporting units was unnecessary. No goodwill impaint was recognized for the retail and commer@gbrting units in the years enc
December 31, 2014, 2013 or 2012.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2014, the Campsaw a decline in net revenue in the serviceigeo reporting unit. According to
customers, purchase constraints will tighten furth€2015 and for the foreseeable future. Due ¢odécline in the longerm revenue and prc
outlook, the Company identified its service provideporting unit as being at higher risk of potehfailure of the first step of the goodv
impairment test and therefore elected to bypassghétative assessment and
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proceed directly to estimating the fair value of assets for the service provider reporting unithle fourth fiscal quarter of 2014, the Comg
performed a quantitative test ("Step 1") for godtimpairment of the service provider reporting tuas of September 29, 2014. The fair v
of the reporting unit was determined placing ana¢geeighting of 50 percent on the income approathraarket approach indications of va
Under the income approach, the Company calcul&ediair value based on the present value of thmattd cash flows. Cash flow projecti
were based on management's estimates of revenwéhgiates and net operating income margins, takitggconsideration market and indu
conditions. The discount rate used was based owdighted-average cost of capital adjusted forrigle size premium, and businegsecific
characteristics related to the business's abiitgxecute on the projected cash flows. Under thikeh@pproach, the Company evaluatec
fair value based on forward-looking earnings miggpderived from comparable publidsaded companies with similar market position
size as the reporting unit. The unobservable inpsigl to measure the fair value included projectgdnue growth rates, the weighted ave
cost of capital, the normalized working capital devcapital expenditures assumptions, profitabilitsojections, control premium, t
determination of appropriate market comparison camgs and terminal growth rates. The results ofgtentitative test indicated the sen
provider reporting unit's carrying value exceedsdstimated fair value, and therefore a secondgbhthe goodwill impairment test ("Step
was performed specific to this reporting unit. Un8&ep 2, the Company determined the fair valuthefgoodwill by comparing the impli
fair value to the carrying value of the goodwill ihe same manner as if the Company were being r@chim a business combinati
Specifically, the Company allocated the fair vakaeall of its assets and liabilities, including anprecognized intangible assets, i
hypothetical analysis that calculated the implied ¥alue of goodwill. Based on the results of thiisp, the implied fair value of goodwill w
less than zero and therefore the entire goodwilhriz® in the service provider reporting unit wapdamed. The Company recorded
impairment charge of $74.2 milliorrelated to the service provider reporting unittire year ended December 31, 2014. No goo
impairment was recognized for the service provigeorting unit in the years ended December 31, 20132012.

There were no impairments to goodwill in the yeamsled December 31, 2013 and 20¥cumulated goodwill impairment charges for
years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013,$74.2 million and $0.0 million , respectively. Refe Note 1,The Company and Summan
Significant Accounting Policiesfor additional information regarding the Compamybodwill impairment assessment.

Other non-current assets

As of
December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
Non-current deferred income taxes $ 38,69t $ 20,23t
Cost method investments 1,322 1,322
Other 8,05¢ 5,03¢
Total other non-current assets $ 48,070 $ 26,59:
Other accrued liabilities
As of
December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
Sales and marketing programs $ 54,58 $ 47,94:
Warranty obligation 44,88¢ 48,754
Freight 6,821 5,79(
Other 37,44 40,73:
Total other accrued liabilities $ 143,74. $ 143,21¢

Note 4. Restructuring and Other Charges

The Company accounts for its restructuring plandeurthe authoritative guidance for exit or dispasetivities. The Company prese
expenses related to restructuring and other chagasseparate line item in its consolidated stamésof operations.
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During the year ended December 31, 2014 , the Compacurred restructuring and other charges of2$aillion . The Compan
recognized a charge of $1.4 millioslating primarily to expenses associated withethdy termination of a lease agreement in Canadaaad
$0.8 million relating to ondéime separation costs, primarily relating to theatéure of the general manager of the retail bssinmit in the fir:
quarter of 2014. As of December 31, 2014, the raingicost related to the departure is expectedetpdid over the next fourteen mon
During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Coynpmurred restructuring and other charges of $8illion . Restructuring charg
consisted of $3.3 million in severance costs relétethe consolidation of certain teams and locetiduring the fourth quarter of 2013, @iz
million related to an office lease exit liabilitglated to the AVAAK acquisition. Other charges detesl of $1.9 milliortransition costs relat:
to the AirCard acquisition. Refer to NoteBYsiness Acquisitiorfer additional information regarding the AirCarddaAVAAK acquisitions.

The following tables provide a summary of accruestnucturing and other charges activity for theryesmded December 31, 2014 and 2

Acquisition transition

Restructuring costs Total
(in thousands)
Balance at December 31, 2012 $ 99¢ % — ¢ 99¢
Additions 3,531 1,892 5,42¢
Cash payments (3,429 (1,882 (5,31))
Adjustments (94) — (99
Balance at December 31, 2013 1,01 10 1,02
Additions 2,22¢ 6 2,23¢
Cash payments (2,907 (16) (2,917
Adjustments (24) — (29
Balance at December 31, 2014 $ 31 $ — % 31¢

Note 5. Derivative Financial Instruments

The Companys subsidiaries have had, and will continue to hmegerial future cash flows, including revenue ardemses, which a
denominated in currencies other than the Compafwictional currency. The Company and all its &libges designate the U.S. dollar as
functional currency. Changes in exchange rates dmiwhe Companyg’ functional currency and other currencies in whisa Compan
transacts business will cause fluctuations in ¢ash expectations and cash flow realized or setthectordingly, the Company uses derivat
to mitigate its business exposure to foreign exgbatisk. The Company enters into foreign currerayvérd contracts in Australian dolle
British pounds, Euros, and Japanese yen to mainagexposures to foreign exchange risk related peaked future cash flows on cer
forecasted revenue, costs of revenue, operatingnsgs and existing assets and liabilities. The @ommloes not enter into derivati
transactions for trading or speculative purposes.

The Company’s foreign currency forward contractsxdbcontain any credit-riskelated contingent features. The Company is exptn
credit losses in the event of nonperformance bycthenterparties of its forward contracts. The Company enieto derivative contracts w
high-quality financial institutions and limits themount of credit exposure to any one couptmty. In addition, the derivative contre
typically mature in less than six months and then@any continuously evaluates the credit standinijgsofounterparty financial institution:
The counter-parties to these arrangements are hagipy rated financial institutions and the Compatoes not consider ngrerformance
material risk.

The Company may choose not to hedge certain foreigihange exposures for a variety of reasons, ditdy but not limited tc
materiality, accounting considerations and the jitkie economic cost of hedging particular exp@surThere can be no assurance the h
will offset more than a portion of the financialpict resulting from movements in foreign excharages. The Company’accounting policie
for these instruments are based on whether theumshts are designated as hedge or hmedge instruments in accordance with
authoritative guidance for derivatives and hedgiffte Company records all derivatives on the balasheet at fair value. The effective porti
of cash flow hedges are recorded in other comphernncome ("OCI") until the hedged item is recizgd in earnings. Derivatives that
not designated as hedging instruments and theeictefé portions of its designated hedges are astjust fair value through earnings in of
income (expense), net in the consolidated statenfeoyierations.
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The fair values of the Comparsyderivative instruments and the line items oncihesolidated balance sheet to which they were dec
as of December 31, 2014 , and December 31, 20E3suamarized as follows (in thousands):

Balance Sheet Fair value at Balance Sheet Fair value at
Derivative Assets Location December 31, 2014 Location December 31, 2013
Derivative assets not designated as hedgin¢ Prepaid expenses and Prepaid expenses and
instruments other current assets $ 2,41¢ other current assets $ 842
Derivative assets designated as hedging Prepaid expenses and Prepaid expenses and
instruments other current assets — other current assets 63
Total $ 2,41¢ $ 90¢&
Balance Sheet Fair value at Balance Sheet Fair value at
Derivative Liabilities Location December 31, 2014 Location December 31, 2013
Derivative liabilities not designated as hedgi
instruments Other accrued liabilities $ 40¢ Other accrued liabilities $ 36¢&
Derivative liabilities designated as hedging
instruments Other accrued liabilities 38 Other accrued liabilities 13
Total $ 447 $ 381

For details of the Company’s fair value measuresiesge Note 13air Value Measurements.
Offsetting Derivative Assets and Liabilities
The Company has entered into master netting armaeges which allow net settlements under certainditms. Although netting

permitted, it is currently the Company's policy grdctice to record all derivative assets and litids on a gross basis in the consolid
balance sheets.

The following tables set forth the offsetting ofigdative assets as of December 31, 2014 and Deaedih@013 (in thousands):

Gross Amounts Not Offset in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets

Net Amounts Of Assets

Gross Amounts Offset Presented in the
Gross Amounts of in the Consolidated Consolidated Balance
As of December 31, 2014 Recognized Assets Balance Sheets Sheets Financial Instruments  Cash Collateral Pledgec Net Amount
Barclays $ 31¢ $ —  $ 31¢ $ (16 $ —  $ 302
Wells Fargo 2,09i — 2,097 (431 — 1,66¢€
Total $ 2,41¢ % — 9 2,41¢  $ 447 $ — 1,96¢

Gross Amounts Not Offset in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets

Net Amounts Of Assets

Gross Amounts Offset Presented in the
Gross Amounts of in the Consolidated Consolidated Balance
As of December 31, 2013 Recognized Assets Balance Sheets Sheets Financial Instruments  Cash Collateral Pledgec Net Amount
Barclays $ 90t $ — 90t $ (287 $ —  $ 61€
Wells Fargo — — — — — —
Total $ 90t $ — 3 90 $ (287) $ — 3 61€
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The following tables set forth the offsetting ofidative liabilities as of December 31, 2014 anc:@mber 31, 2013 (in thousands):

Gross Amounts Not Offset in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets

Net Amounts Of
Gross Amounts Offset Liabilities Presented in

Gross Amounts of in the Consolidated the Consolidated Balance
As of December 31, 2014 Recognized Liabilities Balance Sheets Sheets Financial Instruments  Cash Collateral Pledgec Net Amount
Barclays $ 16 $ —  $ 16 $ (16) $ —  $ =
Wells Fargo 431 — 431 (431 — —
Total $ 447 $ — 8 447 $ (447 $ — 3 —

Gross Amounts Not Offset in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets

Net Amounts Of
Gross Amounts Offset Liabilities Presented in

Gross Amounts of in the Consolidated the Consolidated Balance
As of December 31, 2013 Recognized Liabilities Balance Sheets Sheets Financial Instruments  Cash Collateral Pledgec Net Amount
Barclays $ 287 $ — 3 287 $ (287 $ — 3 —
Wells Fargo 94 — 94 — — 94
Total $ 381 $ — 8 381 $ (287 $ — 3 94

Cash flow hedges

To help manage the exposure of operating margifisdtuations in foreign currency exchange ratee,Company hedges a portion o
anticipated foreign currency revenue, costs of maeeand certain operating expenses. These hedgégsignated at the inception of the he
relationship as cash flow hedges under the audtiwét guidance for derivatives and hedging. Effesiess is tested at least quarterly
prospectively and retrospectively using regressionlysis to ensure that the hedge relationshipbleasn effective and is likely to rem
effective in the future. The Company typically hedgportions of its anticipated foreign currency asyre for three to fivenonths. Th
Company enters into about five forward contracts quearter with an average size of approximatelyn#iifion USD equivalent related to
cash flow hedging program.

The Company expects to reclassify to earningsfath@ amounts recorded in OCI associated withashdlow hedges over the neki
months. OCI associated with cash flow hedges didor currency revenue is recognized as a compafamdt revenue in the same perio
the related revenue is recognized. OCI associatéld aash flow hedges of foreign currency costs efenue and operating expenses
recognized as a component of cost of revenue aerhtipg expense in the same period as the relatstd of revenue and operating expe
are recognized.

Derivative instruments designated as cash flow bgsdgust be ddesignated as hedges when it is probable the fetetchedge
transaction will not occur within the designatedif¢pe period or if not recognized within @@ys following the end of the hedge period. Defd
gains and losses in OCI associated with such demvanstruments are reclassified immediately isrnings through other income
expense. Any subsequent changes in the fair vdlsaah derivative instruments are reflected in enrrearnings unless they aredesignate
as hedges of other transactions. The Company didecognize any material net gains or losses mltiethe loss of hedge designatior
discontinued cash flow hedges during the yearseeBaeember 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 .
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The effects of the Comparg/derivative instruments on OCI and the consoldiatatement of operations for the years ended Deel
31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 are summarized as fol{fowtbousands):

Year Ended December 31, 2014

Location of Gain (Loss) Location of
Gain (Loss) Reclassified Gain (Loss)
Gain (Loss) Reclassified from from Recognized in Amount of Gain (Loss)
Recognized in ocCl OCl into Income and Recognized in
OClI - into Income - Income - Excluded from Income and
Effective Effective Effective Effectiveness Excluded from
Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments Portion (a) Portion Portion (a) Testing Effectiveness Testing
Cash flow hedges:
Other income
Foreign currency forward contracts 29z Netrevenue $ 45¢  (expense), net $ (144)
Other income
Foreign currency forward contracts — Cost of revenue 4 (expense), net —
Operating Other income
Foreign currency forward contracts — expenses (149) (expense), net —
Total 29z $ 314 $ (1449
Year Ended December 31, 2013
Location of Gain (Loss) Location of
Gain (Loss) Reclassified Gain (Loss)
Gain (Loss) Reclassified from Recognized in Amount of Gain (Loss)
Recognized in from OCI OCl into Income and Recognized in
OcCI - into Income - Income - Excluded from Income and
Derivatives Designated as Effective Effective Effective Effectiveness Excluded from
Hedging Instruments Portion (a) Portion Portion (a) Testing Effectiveness Testing
Cash flow hedges:
Other income
Foreign currency forward contracts 77% Netrevenue $ 844 (expense),net $ (1179
Other income
Foreign currency forward contracts — Cost of revenue (9) (expense), net —
Operating Other income
Foreign currency forward contracts — expenses (149) (expense), net —
Total 77% $ 68€ $ (117
Year Ended December 31, 2012
Location of Gain (Loss) Location of
Gain (Loss) Reclassified Gain (Loss)
Gain (Loss) Reclassified from Recognized in Amount of Gain (Loss)
Recognized in from OCI OCl into Income and Recognized in
OCI - into Income - Income - Excluded from Income and
Derivatives Designated as Effective Effective Effective Effectiveness Excluded from
Hedging Instruments Portion (a) Portion Portion (a) Testing Effectiveness Testing
Cash flow hedges:
Other income
Foreign currency forward contracts 164 Netrevenue $ 26z (expense),net $ (15¢)
Other income
Foreign currency forward contracts — Cost of revenue (1) (expense), net —
Operating Other income
Foreign currency forward contracts — expenses (67) (expense), net —
Total 164 $ 194 $ (15¢)

(a) Refer to Note 1®Btockholders' Equitywhich summarizes the accumulated other compréfeimeome activity related to derivativ
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The Company did not recognize amgaterial net gains or losses related to the losedfe designation as there were no discontinugh
flow hedges during the years ended December 34 20013 and 2012 .

Non-designated hedges

The Company enters into naiesignated hedges under the authoritative guidionagerivatives and hedging to manage the exposi
nonfunctional currency monetary assets and liabilitiell on its financial statements to fluctuatiom$dareign currency exchange rates, as
as to reduce volatility in other income and expeii$e nondesignated hedges are generally expected to dffsathanges in value of its
non{functional currency asset and liability positiorsuking from foreign exchange rate fluctuationsreign currency denominated accot
receivable and payable are hedged with designated hedges when the related anticipate@jforevenue and expenses are recognized
Company’s financial statements. The Company alsipée certain nofunctional currency monetary assets and liabilitiest may not
incorporated into the cash flow hedge program. Twenpany adjusts its non-designated hedges montidy eamters into about 15 non-
designated derivatives per quarter. The averaged$iits non-designated hedges is approximatelyn#iion USD equivalent and these hed
normally range from one to five months in duration.

The effects of the Comparg/'derivatives not designated as hedging instrumientsther income (expense), net in the consolic
statements of operations for the years ended Dese®ih 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , are as follows @ushands):

Amount of Gains (Losses)
Recognized in Income on Derivative

Year ended December 31,

Location of Gains (Losses)
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments Recognized in Income on Derivative 2014 2013 2012

Foreign currency forward contracts Other income (expense), net 4,89 45¢ $ (502)

Note 6. Net Income Per Share

Basic net income per share is computed by dividirggnet income for the period by the weighted ayemraumber of common sha
outstanding during the period. Diluted net inconee gphare is computed by dividing the net incometfier period by the weighted aver
number of shares of common stock and potentialiytide common stock outstanding during the periBdtentially dilutive common shai
include outstanding stock options and unvestedicesti stock awards, which are reflected in dilubed income per share by application of
treasury stock method. Under the treasury stoclhhaoagtthe amount that the employee must pay foroesieg stock options, the amount
stockbased compensation cost for future services tlea€Cthmpany has not yet recognized, and the estiniatdoknefit that would be recorc
in additional paid-in capital upon exercise araiassd to be used to repurchase shares.
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Net income per share for the years ended Decenih@034 , 2013 and 2012 are as follows (in thousagexicept per share data):

Year Ended
December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013  December 31, 2012
Numerator:
Net income $ 8,78¢ % 55,217 $ 86,53¢

Denominator:

Weighted average common shares - basic 35,77: 38,37¢ 38,057
Potentially dilutive common share equivalent 674 56¢ 69C
Weighted average common shares - dilutive 36,44¢ 38,94¢ 38,74,
Basic net income per share $ 0.2t $ 144 $ 2.21
Diluted net income per share $ 022 % 1.4z $ 2.2%
Anti-dilutive employee stock-based awards, excluded 2,617 2,84¢ 2,611

Note 7. Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense), net consisted of the fatigwWin thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Foreign currency transaction gain (loss), net $ (5,642 $ (1,597 $ 204
Foreign currency contract gain (loss), net 4,75: 341 (660)
Gain on litigation settlements 2,80( — —
Other 544 794 3,12¢
Total $ 2,458 % (457 $ 2,67(

Note 8. Income Taxes

Income before income taxes consists of the follgwin thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
United States $ 25,15: $ 91,31¢ $ 102,15¢
International 5,60¢ 1,66« 27,12:
Total $ 30,76. $ 92,98: $ 129,28.
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Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Current:
U.S. Federal $ 29,08¢ $ 30,98¢ $ 34,66¢
State 2,87: 3,751 4,55k
Foreign 10,93( 11,22 6,091
42,89:. 45,96¢ 45,31¢
Deferred:
U.S. Federal (20,347 (6,747) (2,069)
State (326) (1,169 (58¢)
Foreign (24€) (299 82
(20,919 (8,199 (2,575
Total $ 21,97 $ 37,76¢ $ 42,74

Net deferred tax assets consist of the followingliousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013
Deferred Tax Assets:
Accruals and allowances $ 25,75¢ % 24,48¢
Net operating loss carryforwards 6,21( 7,06¢
Stock-based compensation 12,41¢ 11,06:
Deferred rent 2,13i 1,96:
Deferred revenue 1,65¢ 1,53t
Tax credit carryforwards 1,76¢ 1,18:
Acquired intangibles 21,91¢ 1,791
Other 142 —
Total deferred tax assets 72,00( 49,09(
Deferred Tax Liabilities:
Depreciation and amortization (1,24%) (1,519
Other — (102)
Total deferred tax liabilities (1,245 (1,616
Valuation Allowance*: (3,020 —
Net deferred tax assets $ 67,738 $ 47,47:
Current portion $ 29,03¢ $ 27,23¢
Non-current portion 38,69¢ 20,23t
Net deferred tax assets $ 67,73t § AT AT

* Valuation allowance is presented gross. The \tanallowance net of the federal tax effect is, @5B).

Management's judgment is required in determinirgg@ompany's provision for income taxes, its defetex assets and any valua
allowance recorded against its deferred tax as&stef December 31, 2014, a valuation allowanc®360 millionwas placed against Califori
deferred tax assets since the recovery of the sagsatncertain. There was no valuation allowan@ezed against deferred tax assets i
December 31, 2013. Accordingly, the valuation alioee increased $3.0 million during
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2014. In management's judgment it is more likenthot that the remaining deferred tax assetsheillealized in the future as BEcember 3:
2014 , and as such no valuation allowance has te@ended against the remaining deferred tax assets.

The effective tax rate differs from the applicabl&. statutory federal income tax rate as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Tax at federal statutory rate 35.C% 35.C% 35.C%
State, net of federal benefit 2.5% 2.2% 2.1%
Impact of international operations 19.€ % 3.£% (4.8%
Stock-based compensation 5.5% 1.8% 0.€%
Tax credits (3.8% (1.9% 0.1%
Valuation allowance 3.E% — % — %
Goodwill impairment 7.€% — % — %
Others 1.1% (0.9% 0.1%
Provision for income taxes 711.4% 40.€ % 33.1%

Income tax benefits (detriments) in the amount @ million , $0.4 million and $1.1 milliorelated to stock options were credite
additional paid-in capital during the years endest@&mber 31, 2014 , 2013 , and 2Q12spectively. As a result of changes in fair eat
available for sale securities, income tax ben€fi$® 000 and $16,000 and a tax expense of $5v@¥ recorded in comprehensive inct
related to the years ended December 31, 2014 , 28182012 , respectively.

As of December 31, 2014 , the Company has apprdglyn17.7 million and $0.1 millioof acquired federal and state net operating
carry forwards as well as $1.4 million of Califaartax credits carryforwards. All of these lossed 0.1 millionof these credits are subjec
annual usage limitations under Internal RevenueeCekction 382. The federal losses expire in diffeyears beginning in fiscal 2021The
state loss begins to expire in fiscal 2015 . Thtesiax credit carryforwards have no expiration.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.Slefal jurisdiction and various state, local, andeiign jurisdictions. With fe
exceptions, the Company is no longer subject ta féderal, state, or local income tax examinatimng/ears before 2009. The Company i
longer subject to foreign income tax examinatioa®ie 2004. In 2011, the US federal Internal ReeeBarvice (IRS) commenced an aud
the Company's 2008 and 20@& years. The audit was completed in October 28a@,all issues under examination by the IRS wHeetéely
settled. In November, 2012, the Italian Tax AuthoiTA) commenced an audit of the Company004 through 2011 tax years, and
subsequently extended audit procedures to inclwel®12 tax year. The Company has limited audiviacin various states and other fore
jurisdictions. Due to the uncertain nature of ongoiax audits, the Company has recorded its lighidir uncertain tax positions as part of
longterm liability as payments cannot be anticipatedrdtie next 12 months. The existing tax positiohthe Company continue to genel
an increase in the liability for uncertain tax piosis. The liability for uncertain tax positions ynbe reduced for liabilities that are settled
taxing authorities or on which the statute of leibns could expire without assessment from takaittes. The possible reduction in liabilit
for uncertain tax positions resulting from the eapon of statutes of limitation in multiple jurigtions in the next 12 months is approxima
$1.1 million , excluding the interest, penaltiesl éine effect of any related deferred tax asselisbilities.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amoaingross unrecognized tax benefits (“UTB”) is akdws (in thousands):

Federal, State, and Foreign

Tax
Gross UTB Balance at December 31, 2011 $ 17,33t
Additions based on tax positions related to theendryear 711
Additions for tax positions of prior years 95¢
Settlements (2,620
Reductions for tax positions of prior years (3,590
Reductions due to lapse of applicable statutes (449)
Adjustments due to foreign exchange rate movement 4)
Gross UTB Balance at December 31, 2012 12,33¢
Additions based on tax positions related to theentryear 1,86¢
Additions for tax positions of prior years 4,10¢
Settlements (3,139
Reductions for tax positions of prior years (1,169)
Reductions due to lapse of applicable statutes (1,319
Adjustments due to foreign exchange rate movement 43
Gross UTB Balance at December 31, 2013 12,74
Additions based on tax positions related to theendryear 1,89¢
Additions for tax positions of prior years 1,72z
Settlements (503)
Reductions for tax positions of prior years (152
Reductions due to lapse of applicable statutes (1,83¢)
Adjustments due to foreign exchange rate movement (502)
Gross UTB Balance at December 31, 2014 $ 13,36¢

The total amount of net UTB that, if recognized Vaoaffect the effective tax rate as of DecemberZfiL,4 is $12.3 million The endin
net UTB results from adjusting the gross balandeeatember 31, 201fbr items such as U.S. federal and state defemedforeign tax credit
interest, and deductible taxes. The net UTB isuithetl as a component of noarrent income taxes payable within the consolidtaelanc
sheet.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties ederlated to unrecognized tax benefits in incaameskpense. During the years er
December 31, 2014 , 2013 , and 2012 , total intered penalties expensed were $1.1 million , $0Gl4om and $74,000 respectively. As «
December 31, 2014 and 2013 , accrued interest andlfes on a gross basis was $3.0 million and $i#llon , respectively. Included
accrued interest are amounts related to tax pasifior which the ultimate deductibility is highlgrtain but for which there is uncertainty at
the timing of such deductibility.

With the exception of those foreign sales subsieafor which deferred tax has been provided, ten@any intends to indefinite
reinvest foreign earnings. These earnings werecxppately $78.3 million and $60.5 million as of @ecber 31, 2014 anBecember 3:
2013, respectively. Because of the availability of Uki@eign tax credits, it is not practicable to detime the income tax liability that would
payable if such earnings were not indefinitely vested.

Note 9. Commitments and Contingencies
Leases

The Company leases office space, cars and equipuretdr noncancelable operating leases with various expiratlates throuc
December 2026 . Rent expense in the years endegniber 31, 2014 , 2013 , and 2012 was $10.8 milli$8.9 million and $7.6 million

respectively. The terms of some of the Companyfis@feases provide for rental payments on a grizduscale.
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The Company recognizes rent expense on a straighbésis over the lease period, and has accruedrfbexpense incurred but not paid.

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancetgd@deating leases are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31,

2015 $ 9,76(
2016 7,721
2017 5,96¢
2018 2,99¢
2019 2,13¢
Thereafter 9,23:
Total minimum lease payments $ 37,81t

Employment Agreement

The Company has signed various employment agresnveith key executives pursuant to which, if themptoyment is terminate
without cause, such employees are entitled to ved#ieir base salary (and commission or bonusppbcable) for 52 weeks (for the Ch
Executive Officer), 39 weeks (for the Senior Viceedtdent of Worldwide Operations and Support) apdta 26 weeks (for other k
executives). Such employees will also continueaeehstock options vest for up to a ogear period following such termination without cel
If a termination without cause or resignation food reason occurs within one yedra change in control, such employees are entidedll
acceleration (for the Chief Executive Officer) amglto two yearscceleration (for other key executives) of any wee portion of his or h
equity awards. The Company has no liabilities réedrfor these agreements as of December 31, 2014 .

Purchase Obligation:

The Company has entered into various inventorytedlpurchase agreements with suppliers. Generailyer these agreements, 50%
orders are cancelable by giving notice 46 to 6Gsdajor to the expected shipment date and 25%d#rerare cancelable by giving noticetd1
45 days prior to the expected shipment date. Ordershon-cancelable within 30 days prior to theeetgd shipment date. Aecember 3:
2014 , the Company had $165.9 million in rzamcelable purchase commitments with suppliers.ddrapany establishes a loss liability fol
products it does not expect to sell for which i§ lkammitted purchases from suppliers. Such loszes hot been material to date. From tirr
time the Companyg suppliers procure unique complex components enGbmpany's behalf. If these components do not repetifie(
technical criteria or are defective, the Companyusth not be obligated to purchase the materialsvéder, disputes may arise as a resull
significant resources may be spent resolving sigutes.

Guarantees and Indemnifications

The Company, as permitted under Delaware law aradordance with its Bylaws, indemnifies its offe@and directors for certain eve
or occurrences, subject to certain limits, while dfficer or director is or was serving at the Camys request in such capacity. The term o
indemnification period is for the officer’s or dater’s lifetime. The maximum amount of potential futimdemnification is unlimited; howewt
the Company has a Director and Officer Insurandeythat limits its exposure and enables it toorer a portion of any future amounts p
As a result of its insurance policy coverage, tlmn@any believes the fair value of these indemrificaagreements is minimal. According
the Company has no liabilities recorded for thegeements as of December 31, 2014 .

In its sales agreements, the Company typically egyte indemnify its direct customers, distributarsl resellers for any expense:
liability resulting from claimed infringements ofagents, trademarks or copyrights of third partieee terms of these indemnificat
agreements are generally perpetual any time akecution of the agreement. The maximum amount eémt@l future indemnification
unlimited. The Company believes the estimatedvaiue of these agreements is minimal. Accordintilg, Company has r@bilities recorde
for these agreements as of December 31, 2014 .

84




Table of Contents
NETGEAR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)

Litigation and Other Legal Matters

The Company is involved in disputes, litigationdasther legal actions, including, but not limitex] the matters described below. Ir
cases, at each reporting period, the Company eealuaghether or not a potential loss amount or @&rg@t range of loss is probable
reasonably estimable under the provisions of thkaaitative guidance that addresses accountingdatingencies. In such cases, the Com
accrues for the amount, or if a range, the Compatyues the low end of the range as a compondagaf expense within litigation reserv
net. The Company monitors developments in thesal legtters that could affect the estimate the Caomed previously accrued. In relat
to such matters, the Company currently believesttieae are no existing claims or proceedings @hatlikely to have a material adverse ef
on its financial position within the next twelve ntbs, or the outcome of these matters is currently determinable. There are m.
uncertainties associated with any litigation, amelse actions or other thighrty claims against the Company may cause the @oynio incu
costly litigation and/or substantial settlementrges. In addition, the resolution of any intelledtproperty litigation may require the Comp
to make royalty payments, which could have an aveffect in future periods. If any of those evemése to occur, the Company's busin
financial condition, results of operations, andnclisws could be adversely affected. The actudliliiz in any such matters may be materi
different from the Company's estimates, which coakllt in the need to adjust the liability andorecadditional expenses.

Northpeak Wireless, LLC v. NETGEAR, Inc.

In October 2008, a lawsuit was filed against thenfany and 30 other companies by Northpeak Wireldss, (“Northpeak”)in the U.S
District Court, Northern District of Alabama. Nopak alleges that the Company's 802.11b compatiblgucts infringe certain claims of U
Patent Nos. 4,977,577 (the “577 Patent”) and 5@83 (the “058 Patent”)The Company filed its answer to the lawsuit in fimerth quarter ¢
2008. On January 21, 2009, the District Court grdrat motion to transfer the case to the U.S. BisBourt, Northern District of California.
August 2009, the parties stipulated to a litigatgiay pending a reexamination request to the UrBtedes Patent and Trademark Of
(“USPTQ") on the asserted patents. The reexaminations gfatemts are proceeding. In March 2011, the USPT@iraned the validity of th
asserted claims of th&77 Patent over certain prior art references. Inl&911, the USPTO issued a final office actiojecéing both assert
claims of the 058 Patent as being obvious in light of the pritr lm March 2013, the Board of Patent Appeals brterferences of the USP”
affirmed the rejection of both asserted claimshaf ‘058 Patent. One of the defendants in the ¢, Corporation (“Intel”),recently filed i
second petition for reexamination against the ‘Bafent. The USPTO initially rejected all claimstloé ‘577 Patent under Intslpetition, an
Northpeak responded. Ultimately, the USPTO allowerain modified claims of th'577 Patent and issued a reexamination certificaitét.
The stay of the case previously imposed by the DiStrict Court, Northern District of California habeen lifted, and the litigation
Northpeal's allegations of infringement of th&77 Patent will move forward, but no trial date bagn set. The Company does not expect
to be a material financial impact to the Comparsuhéng from this litigation matter.

Ericsson v. NETGEAR, Inc.

On September 14, 2010, Ericsson Inc. and Telefeetakbaget LM Ericsson (collectively “Ericssonfijed a patent infringement laws
against the Company and defendants D-Link Corpmradink Systems, Inc., Acer, Inc., Acer America Corgaon, and Gateway, Inc. in 1
U.S. District Court, Eastern District of Texas glieg that the defendants infringe certain Ericspatents. The Company has been accus
infringing eight U.S. patents: 5,790,516 (the “5R&tent”); 6,330,435 (the “435 Patent”); 6,424,8#% “625 Patent”); 6,519,223 (the22:
Patent”); 6,772,215 (the “215 Patent”); 5,987,0iBe “019 Patent”); 6,466,568 (the “568 Patentgnd 5,771,468 (the 468 Patent"
Ericsson generally alleges that the Company andtiher defendants have infringed and continue fianipe the Ericsson patents through
defendants' IEEE 802.1dempliant products. In addition, Ericsson allegleat the Company infringed the claimed methods qpdatuses
the '468 Patent through the Company's PCMCIA reufBne Company filed its answer to the Ericssonmaimt on December 17, 2010 wh
it asserted the affirmative defenses of noninfringat and invalidity of the asserted patents. Ondidr, 2011, the defendants filed a motic
transfer venue to the District Court for the NorthBistrict of California and their memorandum a# in support thereof. On March 21, 2(
Ericsson filed its opposition to the motion, andAgril 1, 2011, defendants filed their reply to &son's opposition to the motion to tran:
On June 8, 2011, Ericsson filed an amended contplzén added Dell, Toshiba and Belkin as defendaitshe status conference held on
9, 2011, the Court set a Markman (claim constragtioearing for June 28, 2012 and trial for Jun€@®l3. On June 14, 2011, Erics
submitted its infringement contentions against@oenpany. On September 29, 2011, the Court deniddfendants' motion to transfer ve
to the Northern District of California. In advancéthe Markman hearing, the parties on March 9,226%changed proposed constructior
claim terms and on April 9, 2012 filed the Jointi@i Construction Statement with the District Co@h May 8, 2012, Ericsson submittec
opening Markman brief and on June 1, 2012 the diefiets submitted their responsive Markman briefcgson's Reply Markman brief v
submitted June 15, 2012,
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and on June 28, 2012 the Markman hearing was heflei Eastern District of Texas. On June 21, 2EtR;sson dismissed the '468 Pa
(“Multi-purpose base stationtyith prejudice and gave the Company a covenantmstie as to products in the marketplace now thérpas
On June 22, 2012, Intel filed its Complaint in hviention, meaning that Intel became an officialedefant in the Ericsson case. The pa
thereafter completed fact discovery and exchangeérereports. During the exchange of the expgronts, Ericsson dropped the '516 Pe
(the OFDM “pulse shapingpatent). In addition, Ericsson dropped the ‘222 Rtafpacket discard patent) against all the defetstaroduct:
except for those products that use Intel chips.sTIwicsson has now dropped the '468 Patent (\Bdiase station), the '516 Patent (OF
pulse shaping), and the '223 Patent (packet digeaieht) for all non-Intel products.The fivemaining patents are all only asserted ag
802.11-compliant products.

At a Court ordered mediation in Dallas on Janudry2D13, the parties did not come to an agreenoesettle the litigation. On March
2013, the parties received the Markman Order iparse to the claim construction briefing and claonstruction hearing.

A jury trial in the Ericsson case occurred in theestern District of Texas from June 3 through JuBe2D13. After hearing the eviden
the jury found no infringement of the '435 and 'B&8ents, and the jury found infringement of cldirof the '625 Patent, claims 1 and 5 of
'568 Patent, and claims 1 and 2 of the '215 Patdetjury also found that there was no willful infyfement by any defendant. Additionally,
jury found no invalidity of the asserted claimstié '435 and '625 Patents.The jury assessed tloavio) damages against the defendant-
Link: $435,000 ; NETGEAR: $3,555,000 ; Acer/Gatew#&j,170,000 ; Dell: $1,920,000 ; Toshiba: $2,488,0 Belkin: $600,00Q The
damages awards equate to 15 cepér unit for each accused 802.11 device soldabli defendant. Thus, unless the defendants’ vaajopesal
are successful, the Company will likely have a &Btper unit obligation on its 802.11 devices until 8QWhen one infringed patent in ¢
expires), 10 cent per unit obligation from 2016otigh 2018 (when a second infringed patent in syitres), and a 5 cemter unit obligatio
from 2018 through 2020 (when the third and lastifigled patent in suit expires).

The Company and other defendants submitted vaposstrial motions and briefs to the Court for its catesiation, including motior
and briefs for judgment as a matter of law in favbdefendants on noimfringement and invalidity of the patents in saitd for a reduction
damages, and the defendants have also moved &w #&ial. These motions were argued before the Gouduly 16, 2013. On August 6, 20
the Court issued its orders on the various JMOLJadgment as a Matter of Law”) and other poil motions. The Court denied all -
defendantsimotions and set the reasonable and nondiscrimn@RAND) royalty rate for the infringed patents @glent to the jury verdict (
15 cents per unit.

After negotiations, Ericsson and the Company agtedie following as collateral while the appealttoé verdict, Cours rulings, and tf
RAND royalty rate are pending. Ericsson will foregallecting the $3,555,000 verdict plus varioussf€Brejudgment interest of $224,141
Post-judgment interest of $336 per day; Costs df,G8F) assigned to the Company pending appeal, so lsng @ompany represental
declares and provides Ericsson with adequate glyasesurances that the judgment can still be gaid.the ongoing royalties of 15 cents
802.11n or 802.11ac device sold by the companyttieajury and Court awarded, the Company will plee= ongoing royalty amount into
Court’s registry (escrow account) and will give dsdon a corresponding royalty report until the Canys appeals of the jury verdict, -
Court’s orders, and the RAND royalty rate are exibad.

On December 16, 2013, the defendants submitteddpeeal brief to the Federal Circuit. Ericssoadilts response brief on February
2014, and the defendants filed their reply briegfbbe on March 24, 2014. The oral arguments befoeeRederal Circuit took place on Jun
2014.

On December 4, 2014, the Federal Circuit issuedgision and order in the CompasyEricsson appeal. The Federal Circuit vacate
entirety of the $3.6 million jury verdict againket Company and the ongoing 15 cent per unit royadtdict, and also vacated the entirety o
verdict against the other defendants and their imggmyalties, finding that the District Court hatproperly instructed the jury on royalty re
and Ericsson’s licensing promises. The Federalutiteeld that the lower court had failed to adeglyainstruct the jury about Ericss@mactue
commitments to license the infringed patents osapable and nondiscriminatory (“‘RANDtgrms. Further, the Federal Circuit stated tha
lower court had neglected to inform the jury thaibwgalty for a patented technology must be remdvenh the value of the entire standard,
that a RAND royalty rate should be based on therntion’'s value, rather than any added value froamddrdization. The jurg’ damage
awards were therefore completely vacated, andake was remanded for further proceedings. As oémigeof the fourth quarter of 2014, ba
on the Federal Circuit’'s opinion and order, the @any made adjustments to decrease the accruadetathis case.

While the Federal Circuit found the district cohed inadequate jury instructions, it held that ¢hems enough evidence for the jur
find infringement of two claims of U.S. Patent Nuenl,466,568 and two claims of U.S. Patent Numbgérg215,
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but reversed the lower cowstdecision not to grant a noninfringement judgmahta matter of law regarding the third patent, BP&ter
Number 6,424,625, finding that no reasonable juyid find that the 625 Patent was infringed by the defendants.

Neither Ericsson nor the defendants appealed ther&eCircuits decision, and the Federal Circuit issued its rawndnd sent the c:
back to the U.S. District Court in the Eastern fiistof Texas for a new damages trial. No procegslinave yet taken place in the U.S. Dis
Court in the Eastern District of Texas followingetRederal Circuis mandate. It is too early to reasonably estimagefimancial impact to tf
Company resulting from this litigation matter.

ReefEdge Networks, LLC v. NETGEAR, Inc.

On September 17, 2012, the Company was sued b¥EBgeMNetworks, LLC, a nopracticing entity. The Company received an exten
from the plaintiff until November 8, 2012 to answiee complaint and answered the complaint on thtg.d

The complaint alleges that NETGEAR infringes threlated patents: 6,633,761 B1; 6,975,864 B2; 7308/ B2. In general terms, th
asserted patents involve seamlessly handfhgortable wireless devices from one access pwirgnother so as to provide roaming with
wireless network.

The complaint specifically accuses the CompanysS&ie wireless controller of infringing these thmgents. On August 15, 20
ReefEdge filed complaints in Delaware against Ariletworks Inc., Cisco Systems Inc., Meru Networks land Ruckus Wireless Inc. alleg
infringement of the same three patents. In the remkctranche of lawsuits, ReefEdge sued--in addittonthe CompanyBrocadt
Communications Systems, Inc., Extreme Networks, IADTRAN, Inc., Alcatel-Lucent Inc., Dink Systems, Inc., Enterasys Networks, |
Motorola Solutions Inc., CDW Corporation, Avaya Irend ZyXEL Communications Corporation. During tiérd quarter of 2013, tl
Company submitted its initial disclosures to Reegf&Ednd also produced its core technical documeniReefEdge. Without admitting &
wrongdoing or violation of law and to avoid the tthetion and expense of continued litigation anel @mcertainty of a jury verdict on 1
merits, on April 2, 2014, the Company and ReefEsigftled the lawsuit for a ortene payment from the Company to ReefEdge in retarrz
fully-paid-up license from ReefEdge to the Comptmwll of ReefEdge’s currentljeld patents. The Court dismissed the case wiflugioe or
April 14, 2014. The settlement did not have a maké&nancial impact to the Company.

Agenzia Entrate Provincial Revenue Office 1 of Mi¥a NETGEAR International, Inc.

In November 2012, the Italian Tax Police beganrap@hensive tax audit of NETGEAR International,.1sdtalian Branch. The scope
the audit initially was from 2004 through 2011 amds subsequently expanded to include 2012. Thaudit encompasses Corporate Inc
Tax (IRES), Regional Business Tax (IRAP) and Valuled Tax (VAT). In December 2013 and December 2@hdassessment was issue
Inland Revenue Agency, Provincial Head Office NafIMilan-Auditing Department (Milan Tax Office) for the 20@&dx year and the 20
through 2007 tax years, respectively. All otherrgg@main under audit. May 2014, the Company filéth the Provincial Tax Court of Mile
(Tax Court) a Request for Hearing in Open Court Reduest for Suspension of the Tax Assessmenh&R®04 year. The hearing was |
and decision was issued on November 7, 2014. ThkeCiaurt found in favor of the Company and nullifidte assessment by the Inl
Revenue Agency for 2004. The Inland Revenue Agdrasyuntil June 19, 2015 to appeal the decisiom@fTiax Court. With respect to 2(
through 2007, the Company is currently evaluatiogsible responses and defenses to the assesshientso early to reasonably estimate
financial impact to the Company resulting from tliigation matter.

Pragmatus Telecom, LLC v. NETGEAR, Inc.

On December 6, 2012, Pragmatus Telecom, LLC (“Pedgsi),filed a lawsuit against the Company asserting tth@tCompany's use o
system “to provide live chat service over the Iné&dt infringes U.S. Patent Nos. 6,311,231, 6,668,286 189,043 ("'231 Patent", "2
Patent” and "043 Patent", respectively).

The '231 Patent is entitled "Method and SystenCloordinating Data and Voice Communications via Guner Contact,'the '286 Pate
is entitled "Method and System for Coordinating @ahd Voice Communications via Customer Contacin@blaChanging System Over
and the '043 Patent is entitled "Method and SystanCoordinating Data and Voice Communications @@ntact Channel Changing Syste
The patents very generally allegedly relateltee“chat” services of companies, which can givstamers the ability to exchange text mess
with a virtual or real customer support persorappears that most companies named in the varisusgligs by Pragmatus license the “live chat
technology and software from a third-party supplfefew of these third-party suppliers have beem@a in some of the over 108@wsuits filec
by Pragmatus in California, Delaware,
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and the Eastern District of Texas, and two thirdypauppliers of texthat (LivePerson and LogMeln) have filed declarajadgment actior
on the patents in suit in Delaware.

Pragmatus and the Company agreed to extend théirde#mt the Company to answer or otherwise resgoréragmatus's complaint ul
February 11, 2013. The Company answered the comiptei that day by denying Pragmatus's infringenadlggations and requesting
declaratory judgment by the Court that the patentsuit are not infringed and invalid. On Febru2@; 2013, the Company filed a motior
stay the case, and, on March 6, 2013, Pragmagg ifé8 opposition to the Company's motion to steydase. The Company filed its reply
March 13, 2013. On May 14, 2013, the Court grantedCompany's motion to stapénding final exhaustion of all pending reexamior
proceedings.’On June 22, 2013, both the '231 and '286 Patemhishwvere the two asserted patents against the @oynihat were put in
reexam by the defendants in a parallel Delawarraend the basis of the stay in the Pragmatug against the Company, emerged 1
reexam. In addition, the Delaware Court lifted $it@y in the Pragmatus cases pending in Delawase pafties submitted a status report tc
Court in January of 2014 indicating that: (1) tB81 Patent emerged from reexamination with allhetaconfirmed, and all rights of appeal h
been exhausted; (2) the request for reexaminafidgheo‘043 Patent was denied; and (3) all claimshef 286 Patent were confirmed dur
reexamination, but the reexamination requestor @ppethe examines’ decision and the matter is now on appeal. Theeganave asked t
Court to lift the stay of the case and set a cageagement conference and an early neutral evatyatial the Court has not yet acted or
parties’ request.

It is too early to reasonably estimate any finanioigact to the Company resulting from this litiget matter.
Freeny v. NETGEAR, Inc.

On April 29, 2013, the Company and several othenganies, including Apple Inc. ("Apple"), Asustek@puter Inc., Belkin, Buffalo, D-
Link, IC Intracom, Ruckus Wireles Inc., TiRrk, Vizio and Western Digital Corporation, wengesl in separate actions in the Eastern Distr
Texas by Charles C. Freeny lll, Bryan E. Freeny Jamdes P. Freeny. The complaint alleges that lolad- wireless routers infringe U.S. Pa
No. 7,110,744 (th#744 Patent”).The patent lists Charles Freeny as the inventor.Avieny's sons, Charles Il and Bryan, now own'THAé€
Patent, as Mr. Freeny is deceased. On June 21, #dLompany's answer and counterclaims were ytifiled with the Court. The initii
status conference was held on August 8, 2013. Atsthtus conference, the Markman hearing was stdedor August 7, 2014, which t
since been scheduled for August 29, 2014, andiiedate was set for April 6, 2015.

On August 2, 2013, the plaintiffs produced itsialiinfringement contentions to the Company. ThanPanys initial disclosures we
given to the plaintiffs on September 23, 2013, amdOctober 10, 2013, the Company produced irigighnical documents, as required by
Court’s local rules. Discovery is ongoing.

The Company, along with Belkin, filed a petitiorr fan inter partes review of th&44 Patent on April 28, 2014. Without admitting
wrongdoing or violation of law and to avoid the tthetion and expense of continued litigation anel @mcertainty of a jury verdict on 1
merits, on August 19, 2014, the Company and pléénsiettled the lawsuit. As part of the settlemémtreturn for dropping of the inter par
review and a onéme payment from the Company to the plaintiffee thompany received a license and/or covenant nsti¢oon all of th
patents owned by the plaintiffs, including the paia suit. The Court dismissed the lawsuit witkjpdice on August 22, 2014.

The settlement did not have a material financigdast to the Company.

NETGEAR, Inc. v. ASUS

On July 22, 2013, the Company filed a complaintirmgjaAsustek Computer, Inc. and ASUS Computer h#tonal, Inc collectivel
“ASUS") seeking permanent injunctive relief, damages amthdetory relief for false advertising in violatiari the Lanham Act, damages
tortious interference with the Company's prospectdusiness relations, injunctive relief for unfammpetition in violation of Californ
Business and Professions Code, injunctive relieffédse advertising pursuant to California Businassl Professions Code, damages
injunctive relief pursuant the Sherman Antitrust,Aand various forms of declaratory relief.

The Company has asserted that contrary to ASUS'esentations to the Federal Communications Cononigd~CC”), ASUS's wireles
routers, including without limitation models RT-N8%nd RTAC66U, produce power outputs far in excess of thepeesented to the FC
produce power outputs that exceed FCC maximum olgpals, unlawfully cause interference with adjgcdeandwidths (potentially includil
critically important navigation, communicationsdasafety devices), and operate in
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a manner that has never been accurately reportdtet6CC. The Company contends that ASUS's repiasams that its RT-N65U and RT-
AC66U wireless routers are FCC compliant are fatés®e] are made with the intent to deceive potemisisumers. The Company furt
contends that ASUS's misrepresentations regardingkance of its wireless routers with the FCC tagjons constitute unfair competition ¢
false advertising, tortuously interfere with then@many's prospective business advantage, and haveetidhe Company because the Com
has lost expected sales due to such wrongful carashetmisrepresentations by ASUS.

After a series of extensions to answer the complgianted by the Company to ASUS, on Septembe0332ASUS filed a motion
dismiss the complaint. ASUS’s motion was generaliyged on the following arguments: a) the Compamjaims are preempted by F
regulations; b) the Company is improperly seekimgigate cause of action for violation of FCC reaidns that create no such cause of ac
c¢) the Companyg claims should be stayed or dismissed in deferemtge primary jurisdiction of the FCC; and d) tiempany fails to alleg
with sufficient specificity the nature of defendsintrrongful conduct nor how that conduct causedrinjo the Company.

On October 7, 2013, the Company responded to AStstion to dismiss by arguing that: a) the defetslaiolated unambiguous Ft
regulations, thus, the Company's claims are in bagmnot conflict, with the FCC's regulatory godi$;the Company damages arise not fri
defendants' private, regulatory dealings with tiCFbut rather from ASUS’s conduct in the marketpla-a realm regulated not by the F
but by the courts; c) the Court should be alloweeddjudicate garden variety claims of false adseng, unfair competition and deceptive tr
practices that in no way implicate complex regulaiaterpretations or policy judgments; and d) toenplaint pleads facts in exacting detail.

On December 12, 2013, the Court refused to disthes€€ompany’s antitrust and false advertising ag#inst ASUS by denying ASUS’
motion, thereby indicating that proceeding with tase would not violate the FCCauthority. In July 2014, the Company and ASU&ex
into a settlement agreement, the terms of whichcardidential, but which included an undisclosedoant to be paid by ASUS to i
Company, which amount was collected in the Compafigtal third quarter of 2014.

Spansion LLC v. NETGEAR, Inc.

On August 1, 2013, Spansion LLC (“Spansion”) filedsection 337 complaint with the U.S. Internatiomedde Commission (“ITQ"
naming: the Company; Belkin International, Inc. €lkin”); ASUSTek Computer Inc. and Asus Computdeinational (collectively, “ASUS’,
D-Link Corporation and D-Link System, Inc. (collaglly, “D-Link”); Nintendo Co., Ltd. and Nintendo of America, Incollectively,
“Nintendo”); and Macronix America, Inc., Macronixsia Limited, and Macronix (Hong Kong) Co., Ltd. (eatively “Macronix”), as propose
respondents. The complaint is styled Certain FMsimory Chips and Products Containing the Same. Spans seeking a general exclus
order, or in the alternative a limited exclusioden, as well as a cease and desist order.

Spansion has asserted six patents related to thefatdure, structure, and operation of flash menoalis, as well as security protect
systems for flash memory devices:

* US Patent No. 6,369,416 “Semiconductor Devicdwiontacts Having a Sloped Profile” (the “416 Pdite

» US Patent No. 6,459,625 “Three Metal Proces©fatimizing Layout Density” (the “625 Patent”)

* US Patent No. 6,731,536 “Password and DynamiteBtion of Flash Memory Data” (the “536 Patent”)

» US Patent No. 6,900,124 “Patterning for Elliptigas Contact on Flash Memory” (the “124 Patent”)

* US Patent No. 7,018,922 “Patterning for Elongated Contact on Flash Memory” (the “922 Patent”)

e US Patent No. 7,151,027 “Method and Device foduréing Interface Area of a Memory Device” (the “DPRatent”)

Four of the asserted patents, the '416, '625, 424,922 Patents, were previously asserted bysgpam the 337-TA£35 Investigatio
against Samsung, Apple, Nokia, PNY, RIM, and Transc ITC records indicate the 735 Investigatiormieated based on settlem
agreements prior to the hearing on the merits.

The accused products are identified as flash merdloigs manufactured and sold by Macronix, as weldawnstream products wh
contain the accused Macronix flash memory chipse Tbmplaint specifically identifies the Company WNRO wireless router, as
exemplary accused product, but makes clear thatsspaintends to expand the scope of accused pt®tluinclude additional products, if a
which contain the accused Macronix flash memorpghi
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In addition, on August 1, 2013, Spansion filed gaflal similar complaint against the same partieshie Northern District of Californi
Discovery in the ITC case has commenced and isinggand the Northern District of California casestbeen stayed pending the outcon
the ITC case.

On January 27, 2015, Spansion and Macronix annaoutita the companies had settled all outstandirtgnpalisputes and actio
including their respective complaints at the USetnational Trade Commission as well as District i§onter partes review proceeding:
USPTO, and Macronix's patent infringement complaigainst Spansion in Germany. As part of the sedid, both companies agreec
dismiss all patent cases between them and theinstogam customers worldwide. Shortly after thislesmient, Spansios’lawsuits against t
Company were dismissed by Spansion.

This litigation matter did not have a material ficl impact to the Company.
Garnet Digital v. NETGEAR, Inc.

On September 9, 2013, the Company was sued ingkei District of Texas by a non-practicing entigmed Garnet Digital (“Garnét”
that is based in Texas. There is one assertedtpateh Patent No. 5,379,421 (th#21 Patent), which is directed to an interactiventeal fol
the access of remote database information. Gasradleiging infringement by the Company by its pradwor systems, such as the NTV200,
are responsive to output signals from a telephone.

The patent has previously been litigated againgiéSamsung, RIM, and a number of other wirelesspanies in Eastern Texas and
ITC. Garnets lawsuit against the Company is one of multipleesafiled by Garnet in the Eastern District of Tex#her defendants sued
Garnet in the Eastern District of Texas includex®mn Diink Systems, Logitech, Roku, TiVo, DirecTV, DISHeNvork, Verizon, AT&T
Comcast, Panasonic, Western Digital, Pioneer, YamBknon, D&M Holdings, Marantz and Onkyo. The Campanswered the complaint
December 9, 2013 by asserting various affirmatigfedses. In February of 2014, the Court consoliite Company case with the oth
pending Garnet cases in the Eastern District oB$ex

In May 2014, the remaining defendants (NETGEAR,.,I8eagate Technology LLC, DISH Network Corporatiand DISH Networ
L.L.C.) agreed with the plaintiff and the Court whpulation that the defendants will either payi@& $50,000 each or $0 each dependir
the results of a limited, but case dispositive, suary judgment motion by the defendants regardictaisn construction issue. The defend.
and plaintiff submitted briefs on this issue to ©eurt in June of 2014, and the Court held a hgasimthe issue on July 17, 2014. On July
2014, the Court ruled in the defendaritsior on the summary judgment motion and orderedptirties to file a joint motion to dismiss thea
within 21 days of this Order. On July 30, 2014, the Courtiéssits Order Dismissing Case, whereby all claimd eounterclaims betwe
Garnet Digital and the Company were dismissed widjudice.

This litigation matter did not have a material ficél impact to the Company.
Penovia LLC v. NETGEAR, Inc.

On September 27, 2013, a non-practicing entity mhRenovia LLC (“Penovia’filed suit against the Company in the Eastern idistf
Texas. Penovia asserts the Company’s wireless reoutiéringe U.S. Patent No. 5,822,221 (the “221tdpd’), entitled ‘Office Maching
Monitoring Device.” Penovia’'s complaint specifigaliames the DGN2000 WireleBsproduct as an example of an infringing produendvic
admits in the complaint that th221 Patent expired on October 13, 2010, due t@seln maintenance fee payments. Consequently via
seeks damages for an approximately tlyesr period of time starting six years before flieg date of the complaint, September 27, 200d
ending on October 13, 2010. Penovia has asserte@21 Patent in 22 cases, all in the Eastern ibistf Texas. Penovia filed nineases o
May 21, 2013, and filed the remainder on Septen®¥er2013. The Company filed its answer on Novenffr2013 -asserting variot
affirmative defenses. On December 23, 2013, the gamy received Penovia’s infringement contentiongh@it admitting anywrongdoing o
violation of law and to avoid the distraction angbense of continued litigation and the uncertaofta jury verdict on the merits, on March
2014, the Company and Penovia settled the lawsuia fone-time payment from the Company to Penaviaturn for a fully-paidip licens:
from Penovia to the Company to the patent in gtie Court dismissed the case with prejudice onl/Ar2014. The settlement did not ha
material financial impact to the Company.
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Innovative Wireless Solutions LLC v. NETGEAR, Inc.

In November of 2013, Innovative Wireless Solutigtisnovative Wireless Solutions”) filed a new wawé suits targeting 14vireles:
router and networking companies including Adtramih Aruba Networks, Belkin, Buffalo, Engenius Teologies, Fortinet, IC Intraco
Motorola Solutions, SMC Networks, Ubiquiti Networké/estern Digital and Zoom Telephonics. Previougty April of 2013, Innovativ
Wireless had filed 41 suits targeting hotels aredangrant chains over wireless Internet services. Gompany was sued on November 6, :
in the District of Delaware.

The three patents-in-suit (5,912,895 entitléafdrmation network access apparatus and methadsocimmunicating information pack
via telephone lines” ( the “895 Patent”); 6,32742éntitled ‘Information network access apparatus and methadsofamunicating informatic
packets via telephone lines” (the 264 Patent¥)d &,587,473 entitledififormation network access apparatus and methadsofomunicatin
information packets via telephone lines” (the “4fPatent”) originally were part of a portfolio of Nel Networks’ patents before they we
eventually transferred to Innovative Wireless inrbfa2013.

The Company filed its answer on January 13, 204derting various affirmative defenses. The ingieheduling conference occurred
May 22, 2014. At the conference, the Court requetitat the parties agree on a dispositive motiahtéal schedule, including determining
chronological order for the trials of the numerseparate cases filed by the plaintiff. In June 2@id Company submitted its Rule 26(a) in
disclosures Default Disclosures, as required bylLiheal Rules. On July 14, 2014, the plaintiff sutied its Initial Identification of Assert
Claims and Accused Products. In total, IWS ideatifB9 categories of products (spanning 110 seppratkict models) as allegedly infring
products. On August 7, 2014, the Company filedFitst Amended Answer in the lawsuit that added Alffrmative Defenses of Licens
Estoppel and Laches, and a reasonable and nonrdisatory licensing (RAND) defense. Discovery hasnenenced.

In a separate case between IWS and Cisco, HewdelalPd, and Ruckus that was proceeding in the DiSrict Court for the Weste
District of Texas, the District Court issued a elatonstruction order that is unfavorable to IWS #mat IWS plans to appeal. While the I
case proceeding in the Western District of Texasegarate from IWS’ lawsuit against the Company in Delaware, thenpati suit are tf
same in the two cases. Thus, the Company and IW$@iscussing a means whereby IW&wsuit against the Company in Delaware wi
stayed until the appeals of the claim constructiater in the Western District of Texas case arepgeta.

It is too early to reasonably estimate any finalniomgpact to the Company resulting from this litiggat matter.
IOdapt LLP v. NETGEAR, Inc.

On March 7, 2014, the Company was sued by a noctipireg entity named 10dapt LLP (“lodaptih the United States District Cot
Eastern District of Texas, Marshall Division. Thdeged infringed patent, 8,402,109 “ entitledViteless Router Remote Firmw.
Upgrade” (the “109 Patent”) purportedly covers tieenote firmware upgrading of wireless routers. THg9 Patent stems from a provisic
patent application submitted in Feb. 2005. Mordipalarly, it is a continuation in part of anothissued patent, U.S. Patent No. 8,326,
which in turn, is a continuation of U.S. Patent N¢®04,518. The Compars/products identified in the complaint as accusextiycts are
AC1900-R7000, N450-WNR2500 and WNDRA4720.

In late April and early May of 2014, the Companymiitted its answer and counterclaims to the complanoved to transfer the cast
the Northern District of California, and moved tsrdiss 10daps willful infringement allegations against the Camp. In response to t
Companys motion to dismiss, 10dapt amended its complantetmove the willful infringement allegations. TEB®mpany then submittec
revised answer and counterclaims with slight adjestts made to account for I0daptamendments to remove references to w
infringement. Cisco, Belkin, and Buffalo were atsgently sued by 10dapt. On June 9, 2014, |0daptndtted its Opposition to the Compasy’
Motion to Transfer. In July of 2014, 10dapt submmittits preliminary infringement contentions andamented them on August 14, 2014.
list of accused products includes the Compari®8000, R7000, R6700, R6300, R6250, AC1450, R6R6200, WNDR4700, WNDR472
WNDR4500, WNDR4300, WNDR3700, WNDR3400, WPR2000, RAS00L, WNR2500, WNR2000, WNR2200, WNR2020, JNR3
WNR1000, and R6050 products.

Without admitting any wrongdoing or violation ofdleand to avoid the distraction and expense of oaeti litigation and the uncertail
of a jury verdict on the merits, on October 24, 20the Company and 10dapt settled the lawsuit fonetime payment from the Company
IOdapt in return for a fully-paid-up license froddapt to the Company to all of IOdapt’s currertsld patents and applications. -
settlement did not have a material financial imga¢che Company.
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SMARTDATA, S.A., v. NETGEAR, Inc.

On April 18, 2014, a non-practicing entity named ARTDATA, S.A. (“SmartData”)sued the Company in the United States Di
Court, Northern District of California alleging nrigement of U.S. Patent No. 7,158,757, entitlecotilar Computer” (the “757 Patent”
SmartData alleges that the Company's various Pusim2dducts - PTV3000, PTVU1000, PTV2000, and PTV10@nfringe the '757 Patel
The claims of the '757 Patent generally requireehtomponents, and it appears that SmartData isngr¢hat infringement occurs when
Company’s Push2TV products are combined with asigten and computer.

Without payment or other consideration from the @any, on September 3, 2014, SmartData filed theidgal of the suit against 1
Company with prejudice, meaning that it can nat fie complaint again. This litigation matter dimt have a material financial impact to
Company.

TQP Development, LLC v. NETGEAR, Inc.

On April 23, 2014, a non-practicing entity namedPrQevelopment, LLC (“TQP"sued the Company and a host of other defendar
United States District Court, Eastern District @&X&s, Marshall Division alleging infringement of3J Patent No. 5,412,730 (the*730 Patgnt”
entitled “Encrypted Data Transmission System EmipipyMeans for Randomly Altering the Encryption Key3here are two claims, o
independent and one dependent, and TQP allegethéh@ompany infringes by using the methods inwoetjon with its website(s). The pat
expired on May 2, 2012, and about 138 cases hase filed by TQP against defendants on the0' Patent, the majority of which were fi
after its expiration.

Shortly after filing the complaint against the Camp, TQP dismissed the complaint against the Cosnpéthout prejudice, meaning tt
it could file a similar complaint again. This liigon matter did not have a material financial ictga the Company.

Olivistar, LLC v. NETGEAR, Inc.

On April 25, 2013, a non-practicing entity namedvi3tar, LLC (“Olivistar”) sued the Company and a host of other defendartts
United States District Court, Eastern District @X&s, Marshall Division alleging infringement of3J Patents Nos. 6,839,731 entitlel/sten
and Method for Providing Data Communication in avide Network” (the “731 Patent”) and 8,239,481 idad “System and Method f
Implementing Open-Control Remote Device Controfie(t’481 Patent”)Olivistar alleges that the Company's various VueZblome Vide
Security Systems infringe the two patents.

On June 30, 2014, the Company submitted its anamgicounterclaims to Olivistar's complaint.

Without admitting any wrongdoing or violation ofsleand to avoid the distraction and expense of ooedl litigation and the uncertail
of a jury verdict on the merits, on November 12120he Company and Olivistar settled the lawsuitsf onetime payment from the Compe
to Olivistar in return for a fully-paid-up licendeom Olivistar to the Company to all of Olivistarurrentlyheld patents and applicatio
Olivistar subsequently dismissed its lawsuit agatine Company with prejudice. The settlement ditlheve a material financial impact to
Company.

Via Vadis v. NETGEAR, Inc.

On August 22, 2014, the Company was sued by Viaisydd.C and AC Technologies, S.A. (“Via Vadis'l the Western District 1
Texas. The complaint alleges that the Company’sdiRéAS and Stora products “with built- BitTorrent software" allegedly infringe thi
related patents of Via Vadis (U.S. Patent Nos. 4,880, RE40,521, and 8,656,125). Via Vadis filedikir complaints against Belkin, Buffa
Blizzard, D-Link, and Amazon.

By referring to “built-in BitTorrent software,the Company believes that the complaint is refgrtm the BitTorrent Sync applicatic
which was released by BitTorrent Inc. in spring26fL4. At a highevel, the application allows file synchronizatiacross multiple devices
storing the underlying files on multiple local dees, rather than on a centralized server. The CompdReadyNAS products do not inch
BitTorrent software when sold. The BitTorrent apation is provided as one of a multitude of potdngiownload options, but the softw
itself is not included on the Compasytlevices when shipped. Therefore, the only viallegation at this point is an indirect infringert
allegation.

On November 10, 2014, the Company answered the laomhgenying that it infringes the patents in s@ant also asserting the affirmat
defenses that the patents in suit are invalid amced by the equitable doctrines of laches, waixed/or estoppel.
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On February 5, 2015, the Court set the claim canstn hearing for December 4, 2015 and allowe@alisry for claim constructic
purposes to commence. At a January 27, 2015 sdhgdidnference, the Company notified the Court thistends to move to transfer the c
to the United States District Court, Northern Dgdtof California. The Company has not yet fileéstmotion to transfer.

It is too early to reasonably estimate any finalniomgpact to the Company resulting from this litigget matter.
SOTA Semiconductor LLC v. NETGEAR, Inc.

On October 20, 2014, the Company was sued by apramticing entity named SOTA Semiconductor LLC. Tdwenplaint includes
number of defendants, and alleges that joindepjsapriate because the allegations against ahefiefendants are based on each deferdat
incorporation of Marvell Semiconductor, Inc.’s (“Me&ll") chips in their products. Marvell is also a nameteddant. Although there are t
patents asserted against some of the defendatiie icomplaint, the Company is only accused on drteeotwo (U.S. Patent No. 5,991,5
entitled ‘Microcomputer Having Variable Bit Width Area Fordplacement And Circuit For Handling Immediate Diagager Than Instructic
Word”). The allegations are based on the Compangk of what the complaint describes as “Marvell mhuProcessors'The complair
alleges that the “infringing devices include withdimitation Netgears ReadyNAS network attached storage devices masebars RN1020
RN10211D, RN10222D, RN10223D, RN10400, RN10421D18M1D and RN10442D and ReadyNAS Business Racknengs netwol
attached storage devices model numbers RN2120, BNZ?Y, RN21242D, RN21241E, RN21242E, RN21243E an@ RM4E.”

On December 12, 2014, the Company answered the laompvith various affirmative defenses and asseiige counterclaims
noninfrigement and invalidity.

On December 16, 2014, the Court set an initial dalveg conference for February 23, 2015. That Caation triggered several deadlir
including the beginning of claim construction digery on March 23, 2015.

At the end of December, 2014, SOTA granted RPX @mtion a license. This is significant becausaletendant Marvell who provid
the chips for the NETGEAR ReadyNAS units that areuged of infringement is an RPX member and RPX beggicustomers are genere
covered by RPX licenses. While Marvell and sevethler defendants have been dismissed from the tbas€ompany has not yet b
dismissed.

It is too early to reasonably estimate any finanioigact to the Company resulting from this litigex matter.

Wetro Lan v. NETGEAR, Inc.

On January 30, 2015, the Company was sued by a-pnaaticing entity called Wetro Lan LLC (“Wetro b'g in United States Distri
Court, Eastern District of Texas, Marshall DivisidWetro Lan alleges direct infringement by the Camp of United States Patent |
6,795,918 (“the ‘918 patent”) entitled “Service leb\Computer Security” based on the Company’s mantufa and selling of theNetgea
WGR614v9 Wireless Router and similarly situateddeéat, Inc. Wireless Routers.”

It is too early to reasonably estimate any finanoigact to the Company resulting from this litiget matter.

R othschild Connected Devices Innovations, LLC v NEAR, Inc..

On February 6, 2015, the Company was sued by apramticing entity called Rothschild Connected Desidnnovations, LL
(“Rothschild”) in United States District Court, Eastern Distri€fT@xas. Rothschild alleges direct or indirect imjement by the Company
United States Patent No. 8,788,090 (“the ‘090 p&temtitled “System and Method for Creating a Peized Consumer Produdtirough th
Company'’s fnaking, using, importing, selling, and/or offerifgy sale a customizable home security camera systarared by one or mc
claims of the ‘090 patent.” The accused devicés@ompany’s Arlo camera system.

It is too early to reasonably estimate any finanioigact to the Company resulting from this litigex matter.

IP Indemnification Claims

In its sales agreements, the Company typically esyte indemnify its direct customers, distributarsd resellers (thelridemnifiec
Parties”) for any expenses or liability resultimgrh claimed infringements by the Company's prodaotsatents,
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trademarks or copyrights of third parties that asserted against the Indemnified Parties, subjecustomary carve outs. The terms of tl
indemnification agreements are generally perpeatfial execution of the agreement. The maximum amotpotential future indemnificatic
is generally unlimited. From time to time, the Canp receives requests for indemnity and may chtmassume the defense of such litige
asserted against the Indemnified Parties.

Environmental Regulation

The European Union (“EU"gnacted the Waste Electrical and Electronic Equigrdérective, which makes producers of electricabds
including home and commercial business networkirglpcts, financially responsible for specified eotion, recycling, treatment and dispt
of past and future covered products. The deadlmettfe individual member states of the EU to trasgpthe directive into law in th
respective countries was August 13, 2004 (suclsletipn, together with the directive, the “WEEE lstgtion”). Producers participating in t
market were financially responsible for implemegtitnese responsibilities under the WEEE Legislateginning in August 13, 2005. T
Company adopted the authoritative guidance fortagtgement and environmental obligations in thad quarter of fiscal 2005 and t
determined that its effect did not have a matémnglact on the Company's consolidated results ofatjpms and financial position for the ye
ended December 31, 2013 and 2012. The WEEE Dieewtas recast on July 24, 2012, published on Aut®,s2012, and was implementec
all member states on February 14, 2014. The Compasydetermined that its effect did not have maltéripact on its consolidated result:
operations and financial positions due to this séng. Similar WEEE Legislation has been or maybacted in other jurisdictions, including
the United States, Canada, Mexico, China, Indiastralia and Japan. The Company continues to moN#BEE Legislation and simil
legislation in other jurisdictions as individualwdries issue their implementation guidance. Then@any believes it has met the applici
requirements of current WEEE Legislation and simiégislation in other jurisdictions, to the extémtplementation requirements has t
published.

Additionally, the EU enacted the Restriction of Hadous Substances Directive (“RoHS Legislatiotiiz REACH Regulation, Packag
Directive and the Battery Directive. EU RoHS Legi&n, along with similar legislation in China, tées manufacturers to ensure cel
substances, including polybrominated biphenyls OPBpolybrominated diphenyl ethers (“PBDE'thercury, cadmium, hexavalent chrom
and lead (except for allowed exempted materialssgpdications), are below specified maximum conegitn values in certain products put
the market after July 1, 2006. The RoHS Directiv@swecast on July 21, 2011 and went into forceamudry 3, 2013. The Company
determined that its effect did not have materigbat on its consolidated results of operationsfarahcial positions due to this recasting.
REACH Regulation requires manufacturers to ensheepublished lists of substances of very high conée certain products are bel
specified maximum concentration values. The Batf@ingctive controls use of certain types of battegghnology in certain products ¢
requires mandatory marking. The Company believhastmet the requirements of the RoHS Directivedlaton, the REACH Regulation a
the Battery Directive Legislation.

Additionally, the EU enacted the Energy Using Prad{EuP”) Directive, which came into force in August 2007.eTEuP Directiv
required manufacturers of certain products to meeimum energy efficiency performance requiremefitese requirements were docume
in EuP implementing measures issued for specifadpet categories. The implementing measures afigdiie Company's products
minimum power supply efficiencies and may incluéguired equipment standby modes, which also reéneegy consumption. The E
Directive was repealed in November 2009 and replaog the Energy Related Products ("ErP") Directivhich includes the sar
implementing measures of the former EuP Directive mew implementing measures applicable to the Goryip products. The Company i
compliance with applicable implementing measurethefErP Directives since it came into force.
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Note 10. Stockholders’ Equity
Common Stock Repurchase Programs

In October 21, 2008, the Company’s Board of Directauthorized management to repurchase up to @liomshares of the Compary’
outstanding common stock. Under this authorizattbe, timing and actual number of shares subjeaepurchase are at the discretior
management and are contingent on a number of factoch as levels of cash generation from opegtmash requirements for acquisitions
the price of the Company’s common stock. On Octdl%r2014, the Board of Directors authorized theagement to repurchase up3d
million shares of the Company's outstanding common stociernental to the remaining shares under the Coygprevious share repurch
program. The Company repurchased, reported bas&ddm date, approximately 2.8 million shares ohown stock at a cost 890.6 millior
under the authorization during the year ended Déeer@l, 2014 . This leaves 3.0 millioghares remaining in the Company's buyl
program. During the year ended December 31, 2Gh& Company repurchased and retired, reported basdérhde date, approximate?yC
million shares of common stock at a cost of $63illian under this authorization. The Company did repurchase any shares during the
ended December 31, 2012 .

The Company repurchased, as reported based onda#eleapproximately 82,000 shares of common stbekcost of $2.6 millionunde
a repurchase program to help administratively itatd the withholding and subsequent remittancpesonal income and payroll taxes
individuals receiving RSUs during the year endedddeber 31, 2014 . Similarly, during the years endedember 31, 2013 ar@kcember 3:
2012 , the Company repurchased approximately 14s880es of common stock at a cost of $0.5 milliod 22,000shares of common stock
a cost of $0.9 million , respectively, under thensgprogram to help facilitate tax withholding fo8Bs.

These shares were retired upon repurchase. The @yrspolicy related to repurchases of its common stedk charge the excess
cost over par value to retained earnings. All repases were made in compliance with Rule 18lmnder the Securities Exchange Act of 1
as amended.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Lo

The following table sets forth the changes in aadated other comprehensive income by componentpfniix, during the years enc
December 31, 2014 and 2013 (in thousands):

Gains and losses on

available for sale Gains and losses on
securities derivatives Total
Balance as of December 31, 2011 $ 17 $ 6 $ 23
Other comprehensive income (loss) beforeassifications 11 164 17t
Amounts reclassified from accumulated otlwnprehensive loss — (194) (1949
Net current period other comprehensive inc@ioss) 11 (30 (29
Balance as of December 31, 2012 $ 28 $ 29 $ 4
Other comprehensive income (loss) beforeassifications (29 77t 751
Amounts reclassified from accumulated otlwnprehensive loss — (686€) (68€)
Net current period other comprehensive incfloss) (29 8¢ 65
Balance as of December 31, 2013 $ 4 $ 6E $ 69
Other comprehensive income (loss) beforeassifications (9) 292 283
Amounts reclassified from accumulated otlwnprehensive loss — (3149 (3149
Net current period other comprehensive loss (9) (22 31
Balance as of December 31, 2014 $ 5 % 43 3 38
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The following tables provide details about sigrafit amounts reclassified out of each componentofiraulated other comprehens
income for the years ended December 31, 2014 ab8 @0 thousands):

Year Ended December 31, 2014 Year Ended December 31, 2013 Year Ended December 31, 2012
Amount Affected Line Item in Amount Affected Line Item in Amount Affected Line Item in
Details about Accumulated Other Reclassified from the Statement of Reclassified from the Statement of Reclassified from the Statement of
Comprehensive Income Components AOCI Operations AOCI Operations AOCI Operations
Gains and losses on cash flow hedg
Foreign currency forward contracts  $ 45¢  Net revenue $ 844 Netrevenue $ 26z Netrevenue
Foreign currency forward contracts 4  Cost of revenue (9) Cost of revenue (1) Cost of revenue
Foreign currency forward contracts (14€) Operating expenses (14€) Operating expenses (67) Operating expenses
314 Total before tax 68€ Total before tax 194 Total before tax
— Tax expense (1) — Tax expense (1) — Tax expense (1)
$ 314  Total, netoftax  $ 68€ Total, netoftax  $ 194 Total, net of tax

(1) Under our tax structure all hedging gains and lp&sen derivative contracts are ultimately bornealggal entity in a jurisdiction with no incomexi

96




Table of Contents
NETGEAR, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)

Note 11. Employee Benefit Plans
2000 Stock Option Plan

In April 2000, the Company adopted the 2000 Stogitidd Plan (the “2000 Plan”)The 2000 Plan provided for the granting of s
options to employees and consultants of the Compapgn the Company's initial public offering in Z0@he 2000 Plan was terminated an
shares that remained reserved but not issued uWhde2000 Plan at the time of its termination weendferred to the 2003 Plan. No furt
equity awards can be granted under the 2000 Platst&hding awards under the 2000 Stock Plan remdiject to the terms and condition:
the 2000 Plan.

2003 Stock Plan

In April 2003, the Company adopted the 2003 Stolek Rthe “2003 Plan”)The 2003 Plan provided for the granting of stockans tc
employees and consultants of the Company. Duriegstétond quarter of 2013, the Company's 2003 Stark expired. No further equ
awards can be granted under the 2003 Plan. Ouistpavards under the 2003 Stock Plan remain sulbjettie terms and conditions of
2003 plan.

2006 Long Term Incentive Plan

In April 2006, the Company adopted the 2006 LongnTéncentive Plan (the “2006 Plan"fhe 2006 Plan provides for the granting
stock options, stock appreciation rights, restdcgtock, performance awards and other stock awands|igible directors, employees
consultants of the Company. Upon adoption of th@g62@lan, the Company reserved 2,500,6l08res of common stock for issuance. Durin
period from 2008 to 2014, the Company adopted aments which increased the number of shares of dmpanys common stock that m
be issued under the 2006 Plan by an additionaimlion shares. In addition, RSUs granted under2Bé6 Plan on or after June 6, 2012
counted against shares authorized under the pldn58sshares of common stock for each share sutgjestich award. As dbecember 3:
2014 , approximately 2.0 million shares were resérfor future grants under the 2006 Plan.

Options granted under the 2006 Plan may be eittoemtive stock options ("ISOs") or nonqualifiedcit@ptions ("NSOs"). ISOs may
granted only to Company employees (including ofcaend directors who are also employees). NSOshaayranted to Company employz
directors and consultants. Options granted genyeaa#l exercisable up to ten years provided, howehat (i) the exercise price of the I1SC
NSO is not less than the estimated fair value efuhderlying stock on the date of grant and (&) éixercise price of the ISO or NSO grante
a 10% shareholder is not less than 11df%he estimated fair value of the underlying stockthe date of grant. Options granted under tt$
Plan generally vest over four years , with thet firanche vesting at the end of 12 mordhd the remaining shares underlying the optionirvg
monthly over the remaining three years .

Stock appreciation rights may be granted under28@6 Plan subject to the terms specified by tha p@ministrator, provided that 1
term of any such right may not exceed (&f) years from the date of grant. The exerciseepgenerally cannot be less than the fair m
value of the Company’s common stock on the datestihek appreciation right is granted.

Restricted stock awards may be granted under t06 Blan subject to the terms specified by the pldministrator. The period o\
which any restricted award may fully vest is getignao less than three years. Restricted stock dsvare nonvested stock awards that n
include grants of restricted stock or grants ofrreied stock units (“RSUs")Restricted stock awards are independent of optiantg and a
generally subject to forfeiture if employment tenaties prior to the release of the restrictions.iriguthat period, ownership of the shares ca
be transferred. Restricted stock has the samegvatihts as other common stock and is considerée tourrently issued and outstanding. R
do not have the voting rights of common stock, thedshares underlying the RSUs are not considesead and outstanding. The Comg
expenses the cost of the restricted stock awarishvis determined to be the fair market valuehef$hares at the date of grant, ratably ove
period during which the restrictions lapse.

Performance awards may be in the form of perforrmatares or performance units. Performance sheeesvards denominated in sh:
of Company common stock and a performance unit iaveard denominated in units having a dollar valuether currency, as determinec
the plan administrator. The plan administrator widitermine the number of performance awards thktbeigranted and will establish
performance goals and other conditions for paynoérstuch performance awards. The period of measuhiagachievement of performai
goals will be a minimum of twelve months.
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Other stock-based awards may be granted underO®@ Rlan subject to the terms specified by the pministrator. Other stodkase:
awards may include dividend equivalents, restristedk awards, or amounts which are equivalenti tora portion of any federal, state, los
domestic or foreign taxes relating to an award, @xay be payable in shares, cash, other securitiasy other form of property as the ¢
administrator may determine.

In the event of a change in control of the Compatiyawards under the 2006 Plan vest in full ah@daistanding performance shares
performance units will be paid out upon transfer.

Any shares of common stock subject to an awardithtdrfeited, settled in cash, expires or is otfise settled without the issuance
shares shall again be available for awards unae@®6 Plan. Additionally, any shares that are ¢eedl by a participant of the 2006 Pla
retained by the Company as full or partial paynenthe Company for the purchase of an award oatisfg tax withholding obligations
connection with an award shall no longer again beleravailable for issuance under the 2006 Plan.

Employee Stock Purchase Ple

The Company sponsors an Employee Stock PurchasgtRa“ESPP”), pursuant to which eligible emplay®eay contribute up td0%
of compensation, subject to certain income lintilspurchase shares of the Company’s common staolpldyees may purchase stock sem
annually at a price equal to 856bthe fair market value on the purchase date.e&Sihe price of the shares is determined at thehasec dat:
the Company recognizes expense based on the 15%udisat purchase. For the years ended Decemb&03%, , 2013 , and 2012the
Company recognized ESPP compensation expense®h#llion , $0.4 million and $0.4 million , respealy. As of December 31, 2014,2
million shares were reserved for future issuanaeuthe ESPP.

Option Activity

Stock option activity during the year ended Decen3de 2014 was as follows:

Weighted
Average
Weighted Average Remaining Aggregate
Number of Exercise Price Per Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Share Term Value
(In thousands) (In dollars) (In years) (In thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 4,165 $ 30.11
Granted 397 32.7i
Exercised (402 24 .8¢
Cancelled (86) 35.22
Expired (13%) 36.52
Outstanding at December 31, 2014 3,93¢ $ 30.5¢ 6.0 $ 20,90
As of December 31, 2014:
Vested and expected to vest 3,82¢ $ 30.51 59 § 20,59¢
Exercisable Options 2,89 % 29.6¢ 51 % 18,122

The aggregate intrinsic values in the table abepeasent the total pre-tax intrinsic values (tHéedince between the Compasylosing
stock price on the last trading day of 2014 andetkercise price, multiplied by the number of shamederlying the in-thenoney options) th
would have been received by the option holdersdiladption holders exercised their options on DelgenB31, 2014 This amount chang
based on the fair market value of the Company’skstdotal intrinsic value of options exercised foe year ended December 31, 2014 , 201
and 2012 was $3.4 million , $4.2 million and $8.dlion , respectively.

The total fair value of options vested during tleans ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 , and 201316 million , $13.0 millioranc
$11.1 million , respectively.
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The following table summarizes significant rangésutstanding and exercisable stock options asexfelinber 31, 2014 :

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Average
Remaining Exercise Exercise
Shares Contractual Price Per Shares Price Per
Range of Exercise Prices QOutstanding Life Share Exercisable Share
(In thousands) (In years) (In dollars) (In thousands) (In dollars)
$10.69 - $27.70 78¢ 3.89 $ 19.1¢ 77t $ 19.0¢
$28.79 - $32.30 80¢ 4.97 30.4( 634 30.11
$32.52 - $33.65 81¢ 8.05 32.6i 25¢ 32.71
$33.75 - $33.92 795 6.80 33.8¢ 597 33.87
$33.99 - $40.01 73€ 5.95 37.1: 627 37.0%
$10.69 - $40.01 3,93¢ 595 $ 30.5¢ 2,89: g 29.6¢

RSU Activity

RSU activity during the year ended December 314204s as follows:

Weighted
Weighted Average Average
Grant Date Fair Value Remaining Aggregate
Number of Per Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Share Term Value
(In thousands) (In dollars) (In years) (In thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 731 % 29.4(
RSUs granted 46¢ 33.1:
RSUs vested (279 29.97
RSUs cancelled (62 30.07
Outstanding at December 31, 2014 85t g 30.6¢ 153 $ 30,53t

Total intrinsic value of RSUs, or the release datevalue of RSUs, vested during the years endedeimber 31, 2014 , 2013 apd1:
was $9.0 million , $2.9 million and $3.7 milligrrespectively. The total fair value or RSUs, @& trant date fair value of RSUs, vested dt
the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 284384 million , $2.3 million and $3.0 millionegpectively.

Valuation and Expense Information

The Company measures stdehksed compensation at the grant date based onstimated fair value of the award. Estime
compensation cost relating to RSUs is based ortltsing fair market value of the Compasytommon stock on the date of grant. The
value of Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESR$Yased on the 15% discount at purchase, sincpribe of the shares is determined ai
purchase date. The fair value of each option avses$timated on the date of grant using a BlackelesiMerton option valuation model tt
uses the assumptions noted in the following tabhe estimated expected term of options grantee@iived from historical data on emplo
exercise and postesting employment termination behavior. The rigefinterest rate is based on the implied yielderily available on U.:
Treasury securities with a remaining term commeatsuwith the estimated expected term. Expectediliglas based on historical volatili
over the most recent period commensurate with stismated expected term.
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The following table sets forth the weightaderage assumptions used to estimate the fair wabek option grants during the years er
December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 :

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Expected life (in years) 4.5 4.4 4.4
Risk-free interest rate 1.4%% 0.72% 0.62%
Expected volatility 42.6% 48.0%% 52.09%

Dividend yield — — —

The weighted average estimated fair value of optigranted during the years ended December 31, 20043 and 2012 was $12.04
$13.29 and $13.99, respectively.

The following table sets forth stodlased compensation expense resulting from stod&raptrestricted stock awards, and the Empl
Stock Purchase Plan included in the Company’s dimtated statements of operations (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Cost of revenue $ 2,037 $ 1577 $ 1,347
Research and development 4,91¢ 3,94: 2,781
Sales and marketing 6,16¢ 5,37¢ 4,751
General and administrative 6,89: 6,56: 5,481
Total $ 20,01 $ 17,46: $ 14,37

The Company recognizes these compensation costd tiet estimated forfeitures on a straigjhe basis over the requisite service pe
of the award, which is generally the option vestgn of four years .

Total stock-based compensation cost capitalizedvantory was less than $0.5 million in each of ylears ended December 31, 2014
2013 and 2012 .

As of December 31, 2014 , $11.0 milliohunrecognized compensation cost related to stptions, adjusted for estimated forfeiture
expected to be recognized over a weighted-averagedoof 2.3 years . As of December 31, 2014 , &iillion of unrecognized compensat
cost related to unvested RSUs, adjusted for estuifatrfeitures, is expected to be recognized oveeighted-average period of 2.7 years .

401(k) Plan

In April 2000, the Company adopted the NETGEAR 4)XRlan to which employees may contribute up t0%@d salary subject to tl
legal maximum. In the first quarter of 2012, then@any began matching 508§ contributions for employees that remain activighvihe
Company through the end of the fiscal year, upnmaaimum of $6,000 in employee contributions. Dgrihe years ended December 31, 201~
2013 and 2012 the Company recognized $1.0 mill®h0Q million and $0.7 million , respectively, irnpenses related to the 401(k) match.

Note 12. Segment Information, Operations by Geogrdpc Area and Customer Concentration

Operating segments are components of an entegisat which separate financial information is aafali and is regularly evaluated
management, namely the Chief Operating Decision éigkCODM”) of an organization, in order to determine operatamgl resourc
allocation decisions. By this definition, the Compaas identified its CEO as the CODM and operatethreespecific business units: ret:
commercial, and service provider. The retail bussnenit consists of high performance, dependabdeeasy-tadse home networking, hoi
video security, storage and digital media produtke commercial business unit consists of businessorking, storage and security soluti
that bring enterprise class functionality downhe small and mediursized business at an affordable price. The sepriceider business ul
consists of made-torder and retail proven, whole home networking heare and software solutions as well as 4G LTE taitspold to servic
providers for sale to their
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subscribers. Each business unit is managed byiarSéne President/General Manager. The Companigbes this structure enables it to be
focus its efforts on the Company's core customgmsats and allows it to be more nimble and oppdstinas a company overall.

The Company's CEO began temporarily serving asiintgeneral manager of the retail business urifamch 2014 and as interim gen
manager of the service provider business unit ibrirary 2015, due to the previous general managdegsartures from the Company. -
Company's CEO continued to serve as interim gemeaalager of both business units as of the filing dd this Annual Report on Form X0O-
and will do so until replacements for the positians appointed.

The results of the reportable segments are dediredtly from the Compang’ management reporting system. The results arel logsthe
Companys method of internal reporting and are not necdgsiar conformity with accounting principles gen#iyaaccepted in the Unite
States. Management measures the performance ofegoent based on several metrics, including dmritdn income. Segment contribut
income includes all product line segment reveness khe related cost of sales, research and dewefdpand sales and marketing cc
Contribution income is used, in part, to evaluate performance of, and allocate resources to, efittte segments. Certain operating expe
are not allocated to segments because they areasglgananaged at the corporate level. These wetld indirect costs include corpol
costs, such as corporate research and developroemiorate marketing expense and general and admaiive costs, amortization
intangibles, stock-based compensation expenseucasing and other charges, acquisitietated expense, impact to cost of sales
acquisition accounting adjustments to inventomygdition reserves, net, impairment charges, aretést andther income (expense), net.
Company does not evaluate operating segments disagete asset information.
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Financial information for each reportable segment a reconciliation of segment contribution incaiméncome before income taxes it
follows (in thousands, except percentdge):

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Net revenue:
Retail $ 508,100 $ 509,92: $ 504,79°
Commercial 305,67 311,26: 307,94!
Service provider 579,73t 548,44 459,17¢
Total net revenues $ 1,393,51! $ 1,369,63: $ 1,271,92:
Contribution income:
Retail $ 76,26¢ % 73,41¢  $ 86,80¢
Retail contribution margin 15.0% 14.4% 17.2%
Commercial 70,81( 66,50¢ 67,82¢
Commercial contribution margin 23.2% 21.4% 22.0%
Service Provider 47,54 51,62( 40,79+
Service Provider contribution margin 8.2% 9.4% 8.9%
Total segment contribution income 194,62 191,54« 195,42¢
Corporate and unallocated costs (53,58) (51,629 (47,766
Amortization of intangibles (1) (17,577 (15,217 (4,767)
Stock-based compensation expense (20,019 (17,467 (14,377
Restructuring and other charges (2,209 (5,335 (2,290
Acquisition-related expense (2) (8) (940 (8393
Impact to cost of sales from acquisition accountidgistments to inventory — (56€) —
Litigation reserves, net 1,011 (5,359 (390
Goodwill impairment charges (74,196 — —
Intangibles impairment charges — (2,000 —
Interest income 258 40C 49¢
Other income (expense), net 2,45¢ (457) 2,67(
Income before income taxes $ 30,761  $ 92,98: $ 129,28:

(1) Amount excludes amortization expense related terpstwithin purchased intangibles in costs of rees

(2) These acquisition-related charges were expeinse period incurred and reported in the Corgjsaconsolidated statements of operations withgt obrevenues and
operating expense.
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The Company conducts business across three gedgraplions: Americas, Europe, Middle-East and AfrftEMEA”) and Asia Pacifi
("APAC"). Net revenue by geography comprises gresenue less such items as ersér customer rebates and other sales incentivesatkt
be a reduction of net revenue per the authoritajividance for revenue recognition, sales returmspaite protection. For reporting purpa
revenue is attributed to each geographic regiordas the location of the customer.

The following table shows net revenue by geogrdphyhe periods indicated (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
United States $ 750,93: $ 769,35 $ 660,99¢
Americas (excluding U.S.) 19,957 19,96 18,42:
United Kingdom 154,50: 142,72¢ 184,40«
EMEA (excluding U.K.) 267,38 269,95¢ 273,32
APAC 200,73t 167,62 134,77¢
Total net revenue $ 1,393,51 $ 1,369,63. $ 1,271,92

No single customer accounted for 10% or more ofeetnue in the years ended December 31, 2014, 2@1.2012.

Long{ived assets include purchased intangibles, goddwiti property and equipment. The Company's prgpend equipment a
located in the following geographic locations (tsands):

As of
December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
United States (U.S.) $ 12,45 $ 10,27
Canada 4,37¢ 2,13
Americas (excluding U.S. and Canada) — 28
EMEA 657 914
China 10,78t¢ 11,90¢
APAC (excluding China) 1,42 1,94:
$ 29,69 $ 27,19

Note 13. Fair Value Measurements (in thousands)

The Company determines the fair values of its fol@nnstruments based on a fair value hierarchyictvrequires an entity to maxim
the use of observable inputs and minimize the dissmobservable inputs when measuring fair values Glassification of a financial asse
liability within the hierarchy is based upon thevkst level input that is significant to the fairlva measurement. The fair value hiera
prioritizes the inputs into three levels that mayused to measure fair value:

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markiets are accessible at the measurement date daticdl, unrestricted assets
liabilities;

Level 2: Quoted prices in markets that are notvectdbr inputs which are observable, either direotlyndirectly, for substantially tl
full term of the asset or liability;

Level 3: Prices or valuation techniques that regjiniputs that are both significant to the fair walneasurement and unobservable
supported by little or no market activity).
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The following tables summarize assets and liabgitneasured at fair value on a recurring basi$ Be@ember 31, 2014 and 2013 :

As of December 31, 2014

Significant
Quoted market other Significant
prices in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalents-money-market funds $ 4,40¢ % 4,40¢ $ — 3 —
Available-for-sale securities- U.S. treasuries (1) 114,93 114,93 — —
Available-for-sale securities-certificates of deip¢s) 15¢ 15¢ — —
Trading securities - mutual funds (1) 802 802 — —
Foreign currency forward contracts (2) 2,41¢ — 2,41¢ —
Total assets measured at fair value $ 122,71¢  $ 120,300 $ 2,41¢  $ —
(1) Included in shorterm investments on the Company's consolidatedbalshee
(2) Included in prepaid expenses and other currentsasaghe Company's consolidated balance ¢
As of December 31, 2014
Significant
Quoted market other Significant
prices in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Foreign currency forward contracts (3) $ 447  $ — 3 447  $ =
Total liabilities measured at fair value $ 4471 — § 447 $ —
(3) Included in other accrued liabilities on the Compsigonsolidated balance sh
As of December 31, 2013
Significant
Quoted market other Significant
prices in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalents-money-market funds $ 31,29F $ 31,29 $ — 9 =
Available-for-sale securities-U.S. treasuries (1) 104,60: 104,60: — —
Available-for-sale securities-certificates of deip¢s) 15¢ 15¢ — —
Trading securities-mutual funds (1) 38t 38t — —
Foreign currency forward contracts (2) 90t — 90t —
Total assets measured at fair value $ 137,34 $ 136,44 $ 90t $ —

(1) Included in shorterm investments on the Company's consolidatedhbalshee
(2) Included in prepaid expenses and other currentsasaghe Company's consolidated balance ¢
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As of December 31, 2013

Significant
Quoted market other Significant
prices in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Foreign currency forward contracts (3) $ 381 % — 381 $ —
Total liabilities measured at fair value $ 381 § — § 381 § —

(3) Included in other accrued liabilities on the Compsigonsolidated balance sh

The Company's investments in cash equivalents aaidhble-forsale securities are classified within Level 1 of thir value hierarct
because they are valued based on quoted markespni@ctive markets. The Company enters intodoreurrency forward contracts with o
those counterparties that have long-term credihgatof A-/A3 or higher. The Company's foreign currency fomvaontracts are classifi
within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy as thane valued using pricing models that take into antthe contract terms as well as curre
rates and counterparty credit rates. The Companfiegthe reasonableness of these pricing modsatsguwbservable market data for rel:
inputs into such models. Additionally, the Compamgludes an adjustment for n@erformance risk in the recognized measure ofVaine o
derivative instruments. At December 31, 2014 anddbber 31, 2013 , the adjustment for mpanmformance risk did not have a material im
on the fair value of the Company's foreign currefaryvard contracts. The carrying value of riamancial assets and liabilities measured a
value in the financial statements on a recurringidhancluding accounts receivable and accountslgay approximate fair value due to tl
short maturities.

Note 14. Subsequent Event

On February 5, 2015, the Company announced a ctsting plan to reduce the cost structure of theise provider business unit ¢
supporting functions, to match the reduced revemuttook and concentrate resources on lergs and profitable accounts. The Comg
estimates its cost will be between approximately $fillion and $9.0 million during the first half @015. These charges are primarily casl
based and include severance, othertime-benefits, lease termination costs, and otesocated costs. The Company expects to comple
restructuring by the second quarter of 2015. As @ithe restructuring plan, on February 10, 2ah6,company and Michael Clegg, the for
senior vice president and general manager of theceeprovider business unit, entered into a sdmaragreement regarding his departur
February 6, 2015 from the company. Per the separaigreement, Mr. Clegg will receive continued bsalary payments through Decerr
31, 2015 and 14-months of accelerated vestingsoétuity awards.
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QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

The following table presents unaudited quartemaficial information for each of the Companiast eight quarters. This information
been derived from the Compasyinaudited financial statements and has beenngepa the same basis as the audited consolidiai@ucfa
statements appearing elsewhere in this Annual RemoForm 10K. In the opinion of management, all necessary stdjents, consisting or
of normal recurring adjustments, have been includestate fairly the quarterly results.

December 31, September 28, June 29, March 30,
2014 @) 2014 2014 2014
Net revenue $ 353,18 $ 353,33t $ 337,60 $ 349,39:
Gross profit $ 100,47 $ 102,330 $ 97,18¢ $ 97,92¢
Provision (benefit) for income taxes $ (5,609 $ 8,847 $ 9,69¢ $ 9,031
Net income (loss) $ (40,359 $ 20,02t $ 14,70t $ 14,41
Net income (loss) per share—basic $ (1.1¢) $ 0.5¢ $ 041 $ 0.3¢
Net income (loss) per share—diluted $ (1.1¢) $ 0.5t $ 0.4C $ 0.3¢
December 31, September 29, June 30, March 31,
2013 2013 2013 2013
Net revenue $ 356,62 $ 361,89 $ 357,71¢ $ 293,39¢
Gross profit $ 100,78! $ 101,65¢ $ 103,43( $ 87,731
Provision for income taxes $ 11,71: $ 10,36¢ $ 7,14¢ $ 8,54t
Net income $ 11,43: $ 14,457 $ 13,98t $ 15,34:
Net income per share—basic $ 0.3C $ 037 $ 0.3¢ $ 0.4C
Net income per share—diluted $ 0.3( $ 037 $ 0.3¢ $ 0.3¢

(a) Net loss includes a non-cash goodwill impairtregrarge of $74.2 million relating to the servigeypder business unit.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants orcdunting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Managemen's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Repdrtg

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting (as defined in Rule 13a-
15(f) under the Exchange Act). Because of its iehedimitations, internal control over financialparting may not prevent or det
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatibeffectiveness to future periods are subjecheortsk that controls may become inadeqg
because of changes in conditions, or that the degfreompliance with the policies or procedures metgriorate.

Our management, including our Chief Executive @iffiand Chief Financial Officer, conducted an eviiduaof the effectiveness of ¢
internal control over financial reporting as of Bawer 31, 2014 In making this assessment, our management usecriteria established
Internal Contro—Integrated Framework (2013)ssued by The Committee of Sponsoring Organinataf the Treadway Commission (COS
Based on managemesitassessment using those criteria, our managemoaciuded that our internal control over financiaporting wa
effective as of December 31, 2014 . The effectigsraf our internal control over financial reportiag of December 31, 20hés been audit
by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independentteegis public accounting firm, as stated in thepomt which is included in this Annt
Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reportm

There was no change in our internal control ovearitial reporting that occurred during the fourtlader of fiscal year 201that ha
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to evélly affect, our internal control over financigporting.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedur

Based on an evaluation under the supervision atid twé participation of our management (including €hief Executive Officer at
Chief Financial Officer), our Chief Executive Officand Chief Financial Officer have concluded that disclosure controls and procedure
defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 158e) under the Exchange Act were effective ahefend of the period covered by this Annual Repo
Form 10K to ensure that information required to be disetb®y us in reports that we file or submit under Exchange Act is (i) recordt
processed, summarized and reported within the gier®ds specified in the SE€tules and forms and (ii) accumulated and comnatiedt tc
our management, including our Chief Executive @ifiand Chief Financial Officer, as appropriateltovatimely decisions regarding requil
disclosure.

Item 9B. Other Information
None.
PART IlI

Certain information required by Part IIl is incorpted herein by reference from our proxy statemelated to our 2015 Annual Meet
of Stockholders, which we intend to file no latean 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ey this Form 10-K.

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govente

The information required by this Item concerningr alirectors, executive officers, standing commagtend procedures by wh
stockholders may recommend nominees to our BoaRirettors, is incorporated by reference to theiges of our Proxy Statement under
headings “Information Concerning the Nominees amcuibent Nominees,” “Board and Committee Meetindg\tdit Committee” anc
“Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Coiaupte,” and to the information contained in thetiseccaptioned Executive Officers ¢
the Registrant” included under Part | of this AninReport on Form 10-K.
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We have adopted a Code of Ethics that applies taChief Executive Officer and senior financial offrs, as required by the SEC.
current version of our Code of Ethics can be foandur Internet site at http://www.netgear.com. i#iddal information required by this Ite
regarding our Code of Ethics is incorporated bgmefice to the information contained in the seatimptioned Corporate Governance Polic
and Practices” in our Proxy Statement.

We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirementenritem 5.05 of Form & regarding an amendment to, or waiver from, a sion of

our Code of Ethics by posting such information om website at http://www.netgear.com within foursmess days following the date of s
amendment or waiver.

ltem 11. Executive Compensation
The information required by this Item is incorpa@tby reference to the sections of our Proxy Staténunder the headir

“Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Execut@empensation,” “Director Compensation,” “Fiscal Y&914 Director Compensation,”
“Compensation Committee Interlocks and InsideriBigetion,” and “Report of the Compensation Comeagtbf the Board of Directors.”

ltem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners ainagement and Related Stockholder Matters

The additional information required by this Itenirisorporated by reference to the information ciore@d in the section captione&dquity
Compensation Plan Information” in our Proxy Statame

The additional information required by this Itemimcorporated by reference to the information coa in the section caption
“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Ownersladanagement” in our Proxy Statement.

ltem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, abatector Independence

The information required by this Item is incorpedtby reference to the information contained in $ketion captionedElection o
Directors” and “Related Party Transactions” in Buoxy Statement.

ltem 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item related taliddees and services is incorporated by referégadde information contained in t
section captioned “Ratification of Appointment aflependent Registered Public Accounting Firm” agpgan our Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

ltem 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule
(a) The following documents are filed as part @ tieport:
(1) Financial Statements.

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfinm 55
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&012013 56
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the theees ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 57
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incomthéothree years ended December 31, 2014, 2013Gi#] 58
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equitytlierthree years ended December 31, 2014, 2013GI# 59
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the theaes ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 60
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 61
Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited) 106
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Fiarigeporting 37

(2) Financial Statement Schedule.

The following financial statement schedule of NETAFE Inc. for the fiscal years ended December 314202013 and 2012 is filed as part of
this Form 10-K and should be read in conjunctiothulie consolidated financial statements of NETGEKR.

Schedule llI—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
(In thousands)

Balance at Balance
Beginning at End of
of Year Additions Deductions Year

Allowance for doubtful accounts:
Year ended December 31, 2014 $ 1,258 % 18¢ $ (189 % 1,25¢
Year ended December 31, 2013 1,25¢€ 271 (27¢) 1,25¢
Year ended December 31, 2012 1,33¢ 43 (122 1,25¢
Allowance for sales returns and warranty:
Year ended December 31, 2014 66,22: 97,54¢ (101,39) 62,37¢
Year ended December 31, 2013 63,69( 104,811 (102,279 66,22:
Year ended December 31, 2012 58,20¢ 100,80t (95,327 63,69(
Allowance for price protection:
Year ended December 31, 2014 4,27: 7,53¢ (10,009 1,80¢
Year ended December 31, 2013 1,78: 8,35 (5,862) 4,27:
Year ended December 31, 2012 3,93( 9,92¢ (12,077 1,78:

(3) Exhibits.
The exhibits listed in the accompanying Index tdibits are filed or incorporated by reference as pfthis report.
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 16{dhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regidthas duly caused this Ann
Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigtieereunto duly authorized, in the City of Sase]dtate of California, on the 20th da
February 2015.

NETGEAR, INC.
By: /s/ PATRICK C.S. LO
Patrick C.S. Lo
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executivédef
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each penstiose signature appears below constitutes andirgppPatrick C.¢
Lo and Christine M. Gorjanc, and each of them,dtiesrneys-infact, each with the power of substitution, for himany and all capacities,
sign any and all amendments to this Report on Fdi#d and to file the same, with exhibits thereto arileo documents in connect
therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Comianis$hereby ratifying and confirming all that eawfsaid attorneys-iffiact, or his substitu
or substitutes, may do or cause to be done byevirereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on bef
of the Registrant and in the capacities and ord#tes indicated:

Signature Title Date
/SI PATRICK C.S. LO Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer February 20, 2015
Patrick C.S. Lo (Principal Executive Officer)
/SI CHRISTINE M. GORJANC Chief Financial Officer February 20, 2015
Christine M. Gorjanc (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
/S/ JOCELYN CARTER-MILLER Director February 20, 2015

Jocelyn Carter-Miller

/S/ RALPH E. FAISON Director February 20, 2015

Ralph E. Faison

/S/ A. TIMOTHY GODWIN Director February 20, 2015
A. Timothy Godwin

IS/ JEF GRAHAM Director February 20, 2015
Jef Graham
/S/ LINWOOD A. LACY, JR. Director February 20, 2015

Linwood A. Lacy, Jr.

/S| GREGORY J. ROSSMANN Director February 20, 2015

Gregory J. Rossmann

/SI BARBARA V. SCHERER Director February 20, 2015

Barbara V. Scherer

/S/ JULIE A. SHIMER Director February 20, 2015
Julie A. Shimer
/S/ THOMAS H. WAECHTER Director February 20, 2015

Thomas H. Waechter
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit
Number Filed
Exhibit Description Form Date Number Herewith
2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July2@66, by and among the registrant, SKIM HoldinggpGtion, 8-K 7/27/2006 2.1
SkipJam Corp., Michael Spilo, Jonathan Daub, FeaReifol, Dennis Aldover and Zhicheng Qiu
2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of May @72By and among the registrant, NAS Holdings Cratfion, 8-K 5/3/2007 2.1
Infrant Technologies, Inc., certain Infrant shardees thereof, and Paul Tien as the Holders Reptatee
2.3 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of Septemb20@2, by and among CP Secure International Holdingted, 8-K 9/23/2008 2.1
the stockholders thereof and the registrant
2.4 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of January28, By and among the registrant, NETGEAR Holdihigsited, 10-K 2/26/2013 10.35
NETGEAR International Limited, NETGEAR Canada Ligd{ NETGEAR Australia PTY, LTD, Sierra Wireless¢.In
Sierra Wireless, Inc., Sierra Wireless America, Bred Sierra Wireless (Australia) PTY LTD
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatibthe registrant S-1 7/30/2003 3.3
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the registrant S-1 7/30/2003 35
4.1 Form of registrant's common stock certificate S-1 7/30/2003 4.1
10.1 Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors afticers S-1 7/30/2003 10.1
10.2# 2000 Stock Option Plan and forms of agreement&timeter S-1 7/30/2003 10.2
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NETGEAR, INC .

AMENDED AND RESTATED
CHANGE OF CONTROL AND SEVERANCE AGREEMENT

This Amended and Restated Change of Control andr@ege Agreement (theAgreement’) is entered into

of September 18, 2014, (thé&ffective Date”) by and betweemNETGEAR, Inc. (the “Company”), and Jeff Capone
(* Executive”).

WHEREAS, Executive had previously been a filte employee and, as of the Effective Date, wahsition tc

a reduced work schedule of thirty (30) hours peekvand Executive employment pursuant to this reduced \
schedule is scheduled to end on the six month arsavy of the Effective Date at which time his eoyphent with th
Company will terminate, unless it has been terneid&arlier as set forth in the Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the Company and Executive desire to amemdl restate the Agreement consistent witk

Executive’s revised transitional role.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual cev@s contained herein, the parties hereto agt

follows:

1. Duties and Scope of Employment

(@) Positions and DutiesAs of the Effective Date, Executive is servingGisef
Technology Officer of the Company. Executive wdhder such business and professional serviceg in th
performance of his duties, consistent with Exe@&iiposition within the Company, as shall reasonabl
assigned to him by the Company’s Chief Executiviec®f and/or Board of Directors (theBoard”). As of the
Effective Date, Executive will be expected to pa®/services to the Company for at least thirty (8@)rs per
week. This Agreement will have a term of six mortbexmencing upon the Effective Date (th€ransition
Term”), but may be terminated earlier by either pastybject to payment of applicable severance bengjivs
qualified terminations of employment in accordanai Section 6. Executive agrees and acknowledugsthe
termination of his employment on the anniversarthefEffective Date will not entitle him to any seance
benefits under Section 6.

(b) Obligations During the Transition Term, Executive will pemohis duties faithfully
and to the best of his ability and will devote bissiness efforts and time to the Company as negesa
perform his duties hereunder. For the duratiorheffransition Term, Executive agrees not to actieelgage in
any other employment, occupation or consultingvétgtihat would be competitive with the Company’s
businesses. Notwithstanding any provisions indlgieement, the Company acknowledges and agrees that
Executive will conduct business activities outdide 30 hours per week limit set forth in this Agrest ("
Extracurricular Time ). Executive shall conduct activities in the Edurricular Time exclusively outside of
working hours for the Company, and without any els€ompany time, equipment, resources, or facditidny
activities in the Extracurricular Time, includingtimot limited to business activities, consultingriy advising
companies, investing in companies, and researohtes (" Extracurricular Activities ") becomes the sole and
unencumbered intellectual property of Executivéosig as such work (1) does not use the Companys, ti
equipment, supplies, facilities, or other prope(B);does not use the Company’s intellectual priyparcluding
trade secrets; (3) does not relate to the Companyient business or to its




demonstrably anticipated research and developraadt(4) does not directly compete with productseswices
offered by the Company. Such Extracurricular A¢a will include inventions, reducing to practiogentions,
improvements, developments, ideas or discoveriestiveln patentable or unpatentable (collectively inefeer
referred to as'Inventions”) , and shall be the sole intellectual property oé&ixive.

2. At-Will Employment. T he parties agree that Executive’s employmetit thie Company will be “at-
will” employment and may be terminated at any timth or without cause or notice. Executive underdsaand
agrees that neither his job performance nor pransticommendations, bonuses or the like from thegaoy
give rise to or in any way serve as the basis fodification, amendment, or extension, by implicatay
otherwise, of his employment with the Company.

3. Compensation

@) Base SalaryDuring the Transition Term, the Company will fayecutive as
compensation for his services a base salary arthealized rate ofwo Hundred Six Thousand Two
Hundred Fifty Dollars and Thirty-Three Cents ($206250.33)(the “Base Salary’) (for clarity, this is
seventy-five (75%) of Executive’s annual base galamediately prior to the Effective Date). The B&alary
will be paid periodically in accordance with ther@@any’s normal payroll practices and be subjethéousual,
required withholding.

(b) MBO Bonus. Executive will be eligible to receive an annwabet bonus for fiscal
2014. The annual bonus opportunity will equal fifigrcent (50%) of Executive’s actual base salargezhin
fiscal 2014. For clarity, the annual bonus oppatyuwill be up to fifty percent (50%) of (i) the ba salary
earned in 2014 prior to the Effective Date as htile employeeplus(ii) the Base Salary earned in 2014
during the Transition Term. Payment of the annwalus will be based upon the Company’s achieventent o
various financial and/or other goals establishethieyBoard. All MBO bonuses will be subject to apglble
withholding and taxes. If the Transition Term epdsr to the end of fiscal 2014, then Executivel wiintinue tc
be eligible to receive a portion of the bonus fecdl 2014 determined in accordance with the sammest and
conditions that apply to other senior executivesept for continued employment through the endhef t
performance period or payment date, and pro-raasddon the actual base salary earned in 2014ufixes
annual bonus will be paid at the same time as aiiyikituated Company executives and no later March 15,
2015. Executive will not be eligible for a bonus fiscal 2015.

(c) Equity Awards. Executive has been granted (i) options to pureisasres of the
Company’s common stock under the Company’s 200&yJ@rm Incentive Plan (the2006 Plan”) (the “
Options”); and (ii) awards of restricted stock units, eactit representing the right to receive a share of
Company common stock on the date it becomes vésited RSU Awards’). The Options will continue to be
subject to the terms, definitions and provisionthef 2006 Plan and the stock option agreement(antdy
between Executive and the Company (tl@ption Agreement(s)), which are incorporated herein by reference
The RSU Awards will continue to be subject to therts, definitions and provisions of the 2006 Plad the
RSU Award grant agreement(s) between Executivatem@€ompany (the RSU Agreement(s)), which are
incorporated herein by reference. Executive shsdl Be subject to the Company’s Director and Offgteck
ownership guidelines, which is also incorporateddfgrence hereto. Executive’s Options and RSU Awauill
continue to vest on the same vesting scheduldeatgbrior to the




Effective Date during the Transition Term. Execatinderstands and agrees that the Company doexpueiit
to grant him any additional equity awards.

(d) Retention BonusIn consideration for Executive’s continued emph@nt with the
Company, Executive will be eligible to earn a réimmbonus ofSixty Three Thousand Four Hundred Sixty
One and 64/100 Dollars ($63,461.64the “Retention Bonus) on the six month anniversary of the Effective
Date provided that Executive has been continuoesigloyed with Company since the Effective Date.

4. Employee Benefits During the Transition Term, Executive will be iled to participate in the employee
benefit plans currently and hereafter maintainethieyCompany of general applicability to other seexecutives of
the Company, including, without limitation, the Cpamy’'s group medical, dental, vision, and disabilitynslasubject t
Executive’s continuing to satisfy the eligibilityiteria of such benefit plans. The Company resetivesight to cancel
or change the benefit plans and programs it ofteits employees at any time.

5. Expenses The Company will reimburse Executive for reasd@atavel, entertainment or other expenses
incurred by Executive in the furtherance of or amgection with the performance of Executive’s dutereunder, in
accordance with the Company’s expense reimbursepadioy as in effect from time to time.

6. Severance

@) Involuntary TerminationIf Executive’s employment with the Company teratas
other than voluntarily, or for death, disabilityfor “Cause” (as defined in Paragraph 9 of thise&gmnent), and
Executive signs and does not revoke a standardselef claims (as described further in Section B&w)
with the Company, then Executive shall be entittececeive severance payments at Executive’s fiagae
salary rate, less applicable withholding, for agetequal to the lesser of: (i) three months; Drtifie remainder
of the Transition Term (such lesser period, ti8eVerance Periot). Severance payments will be made in
accordance with the Company’s normal payroll proces. During the Severance Period, Company will
reimburse Executive and his family for COBRA premgj assuming Executive remains eligible during the
entire Severance Period and Executive has timelited COBRA coverage. In addition, if Executive’s
employment terminates other than voluntarily or‘fdause” (as defined herein), Executive’s time-lasguity
awards will accelerate as to shares that would kasted had Executive remained continuously employe
through the end of the Transition Term.

(b) Timing of ReleaseThe receipt of any severance benefits pursuaiettion 6(a) will
be subject to Executive signing and not revokistgadard release of claims agreement (tReleas€), and
provided that such Release is effective withinys{g0) days following the termination of employmentsuch
earlier period as required by the Release. To becsffactive, the Release must be executed by theliixe
and any revocation periods (as required by statetgilation, or otherwise) must have expired withtbe
Executive having revoked the Release. In additionseverance will be paid or provided until thedrsk
actually becomes effective.

7. Voluntary Termination; Termination for Causié Executive’s employment with the Company teratas voluntarily
by Executive or for Cause by the Company, themedting of Options, RSU Awards, and all other amiand
restricted stock awards granted to Executive wiiiinate immediately and all payments of compeasdiy the
Company to Executive hereunder and all




obligations with respect thereto (including, withdmitations, with respect to base salary, bonusegloyee benefits,
relocation and temporary living reimbursements atineér expense reimbursements) will terminate imatet (except
as to amounts already earned).

8. Intentionally Omitted.

9. Definition of Cause For purposes of this AgreemenCéause” is defined as (i) an act of dishonesty made
by Executive in connection with Executive’s respbilisies as an employee, (ii) Executive’s conwvigtiof, or plea of
nolo contender#o, a felony, (iii) Executive’s gross misconduat,(iv) Executive’s continued violation of his
employment duties after Executive has receivedittenrdemand for performance from the Company wkmécifically
sets forth the factual basis for the Company’sebétiat Executive has not substantially performiscdities.

10. Confidential Information Executive has entered into the Company’s stan@ardidential Information
and Invention Assignment Agreement (th€dnfidential Information Agreement) upon commencing employment,
and Executive agrees to continue to abide byiitedaluring and after his employment with the Conypan

11. Non-Solicitation. Until the date one (1) year after the terminatbiExecutive’s employment with the
Company for any reason, Executive agrees and adkdges that Executive’s right to receive the sevaegpayments
set forth in Section 6 (to the extent Executivettserwise entitled to such payments) shall be d¢ardid upon
Executive not either directly or indirectly soliag, inducing, attempting to hire, recruiting, encaging, taking away,
hiring any employee of the Company or causing apleyee to leave his or her employment either foedtsive or for
any other entity or person.

12. Assignment This Agreement will be binding upon and inurefte benefit of (a) the heirs, executors and
legal representatives of Executive upon Executideath and (b) any successor of the Company. Acly successor of
the Company will be deemed substituted for the amgpunder the terms of this Agreement for all psgso For this
purpose, “successor” means any person, firm, catjgor or other business entity which at any timeetlier by
purchase, merger or otherwise, directly or indlyeatquires all or substantially all of the ass@tbusiness of the
Company. None of the rights of Executive to receimg form of compensation payable pursuant toAlgieement ma
be assigned or transferred except by will or theslaf descent and distribution. Any other attempssignment,
transfer, conveyance or other disposition of Exgeld right to compensation or other benefits Wwal null and void.

13. Noatices. All notices, requests, demands and other commatiaits called for hereunder shall be in writing
and shall be deemed given (i) on the date of delifalelivered personally, (ii) one (1) day aftezing sent by a well
established commercial overnight service, or {@yr (4) days after being mailed by registeredeatified mail, return
receipt requested, prepaid and addressed to thiegar their successors at the following addressest such other
addresses as the parties may later designatetingvri

If to the Company:

NETGEAR, Inc.

350 East Plumeria Drive
San Jose, CA 95134
Attn : Legal Department




If to Executive:
at the last residential address known by the Compan

14. Severability. In the event that any provision hereof becomes declared by a court of competent
jurisdiction to be illegal, unenforceable or vaiklis Agreement will continue in full force and eftavithout saic
provision.

15. Arbitration.

(@) General In consideration of Executive’s service to then@any, its promise to arbitrate all
employment related disputes and Executive’s readifiie compensation, pay raises and other bengitsto
Executive by the Company, at present and in theduiExecutive agrees that any and all controversiaims, or
disputes with anyone (including the Company andemployee, officer, director, shareholder or ben@én of the
Company in their capacity as such or otherwisejragiout of, relating to, or resulting from Exeeets service to the
Company under the Agreement or otherwise or thritettion of Executive’s service with the Compamgluding any
breach of this Agreement, shall be subject to Inigdirbitration under the Arbitration Rules setlidrt California Code
of Civil Procedure Section 1280 through 1294.2ludimg Section 1283.05 (theRules”) and pursuant to California
law. Disputes which Executive agrees to arbitratel thereby agrees to wave any right to a trigliby, include any
statutory claims under state or federal law, inclgdbut not limited to, claims under Title VII die Civil Rights Act o
1964, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1999 age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967 Older
Workers Benefit Protection Act, the California FEmployment and Housing Act, the California Lab@d€, claims of
harassment, discrimination or wrongful terminatéon any statutory claims. Executive further underds that this
Agreement to arbitrate also applies to any dispitasthe Company may have with Executive.

(b) Procedure Executive agrees that any arbitration will be adstered by the American Arbitration
Association (“AAA ") and that a neutral arbitrator will be selecteciimanner consistent with its National Rules lier t
Resolution of Employment Disputes. The arbitrapooceedings will allow for discovery according be trules set fort
in the California Code of Civil Procedure. Execatagrees that the arbitrator shall have the posvdetide any
motions brought by any party to the arbitratiorejuiling motions for summary judgment and/or adjatdan and
motions to dismiss and demurrers, prior to anytation hearing. Executive agrees that the arlitrsthall issue a
written decision on the merits. Executive also agrdat the arbitrator shall have the power to dway remedies,
including attorneys’ fees and costs, available umagplicable law. The Parties understand that thetrator shall issue
a written decision in support of his award. Exeautinderstands the Company will pay for any adrtratise or
hearing fees charged by the arbitrator or AAA exdtlat Executive shall pay the first $200.00 of éifigg fees
associated with any arbitration Executive initiatesecutive agrees that the arbitrator shall adsténiand conduct any
arbitration in a manner consistent with the Rules @at to the extent that the AAA’s National Rulesthe Resolution
of Employment Disputes conflict with the Rules, Rgles shall take precedence.

(c) Remedy. Except as provided by the Rules, arbitrationldb&the sole, exclusive and final remedy
for any dispute between Executive and the Compaogordingly, except as provided for by the Rulesthner
Executive nor the Company will be permitted to persourt action regarding claims that are subjeetbitration.
Notwithstanding, the arbitrator will not have thdlzority to disregard or refuse to enforce any ldW@ompany policy
and the arbitrator shall not order or require tloenPany to adopt a policy not otherwise requiredalgywhich the
Company has not adopted.




(d) Availability of Injunctive Relief. In addition to the right under the Rules to petithe court for
provisional relief, Executive agrees that any pamgy also petition the court for injunctive rehehere either party
alleges or claims a violation of this Agreementra Confidentiality Agreement or any other agreeimegarding trade
secrets, confidential information, nonsolicitatmmLabor Code §2870. In the event either party ségkinctive relief,
the prevailing party shall be entitled to recowssonable costs and attorneys fees.

(e) Administrative Relief Executive understands that this Agreement doepnobibit Executive fror
pursuing an administrative claim with a local, stat federal administrative body such as the Degant of Fair
Employment and Housing, the Equal Employment Oppatrg Commission or the workers’ compensation boa@kds
Agreement does, however, preclude Executive fromypng court action regarding any such claim.

() Voluntary Nature of AgreementExecutive acknowledges and agrees that Execigtigeecuting
this Agreement voluntarily and without any duressindue influence by the Company or anyone elsecéie furthe
acknowledges and agrees that Executive has caredaltl this Agreement and that Executive has ashgdjuestions
needed for Executive to understand the terms, cuesees and binding effect of this Agreement atig éuinderstand
it, including that Executive is waiving Executigeight to a jury trial Finally, Executive agrees that Executive has
provided an opportunity to seek the advice of &mrae¢y of Executive’s choice before signing thiségment.

17. Integration. This Agreement, together with the 2006 Plan, @pAgreement(s), RSU Agreement(s) and
the Confidential Information Agreement represehésdntire agreement and understanding betweerattiepas to the
subject matter herein and supersedes all priooteenporaneous agreements whether written ordoaaiver,
alteration, or modification of any of the provissoof this Agreement will be binding unless in wrgiand signed by
duly authorized representatives of the partiestbere

18. Tax Withholding. All payments made pursuant to this Agreement lsubject to withholding of
applicable taxes.

19. Governing Laws This Agreement will be governed by the laws & 8tate of California.

20. Section 409A

(@) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in thisr&gment, no Deferred Payments (as defined
below) shall be payable until Executive has a “safpan from service” within the meaning of Secti#®PA of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (@wde”) and the final regulations and official guidartbereunder (“
Section 409/4"). Similarly, no severance payable to Executif@ny, pursuant to this Agreement that would othgsew
be exempt from Section 409 pursuant to TreasuryiRégn Section 1.409A-1(b)(9) shall be payablalugtecutive
has a “separation from service” within the mearoh&ection 409A.

(b) Any severance payments or benefits under this Agesé that would be considered Deferred
Payments will be paid on, or, in the case of ifistahts, will not commence until, the sixtieth (60day following
Executive’s separation from service, or, if lagrch time as required by Section 20(c). Any ingtaiit payments that
would have been made to Executive during the 6@ day period immediately following Executigeseparation fror
service but for the preceding sentence will be paiEixecutive on the sixtieth (60 day following the Executive’s
separation from service and the remaining paynshd be made as provided in this Agreement.




(c) Further, if Executive is a “specified employee” it the meaning of Section 409A at the time of
Executive’s separation from service (other thantdudeath), and the severance payments and bepayi&ble to
Executive, if any, pursuant to the Agreement, wbamsidered together with any other severance pageerseparatic
benefits, are considered deferred compensationr  Betdion 409A (together, theDeferred Paymenty), such
Deferred Payments that are otherwise payable wilt@riirst six (6) months following Executive’s seption from
service will become payable on the first payrolied#nat occurs on or after the date six (6) moatisone (1) day
following the date of Executive’s separation froemgce. All subsequent Deferred Payments, if anif,be payable in
accordance with the payment schedule applicalda¢h payment or benefit. Notwithstanding anythiage to the
contrary, if Executive dies following Executive’sgaration from service but prior to the six (6) ttoanniversary of
Executive’s separation from service (or any latlag date), then any payments delayed in accordaitbehis
paragraph will be payable in a lump sum as soadasnistratively practicable after the date of Exe®’s death and
all other Deferred Payments will be payable in adance with the payment schedule applicable to pagment or
benefit. Each payment and benefit payable undeAgnieement is intended to constitute a separatmpayfor
purposes of Section 1.409A-2(b)(2) of the Treafkegulations.

(d) Any amount paid under this Agreement that satishesequirements of the “short-term deferral”
rule set forth in Section 1.409A-1(b)(4) of the dsary Regulations will not constitute Deferred Payits for purposes
the Agreement. Any severance payment that quabfses payment made as a result of an involuntgrgragon from
service pursuant to Section 1.409A-1(b)(9)(iiixle¢ Treasury Regulations that does not exceeddbgof 409A Limit
shall not constitute Deferred Payments for purposdéise Agreement. For purposes of this section®(&ection 409A
Limit ” will mean the lesser of two (2) times: (i) Exeiwets annualized compensation based upon the annaalfrpty
paid to Executive during the taxable year precethiegaxable year of Executive’s separation fromise as
determined under Treasury Regulation Section 1.40@)(9)(iii))(A)(1) and any Internal Revenue Seeviguidance
issued with respect thereto; or (ii) the maximunoant that may be taken into account under a qadlilan pursuant
to Section 401(a)(17) of the Code for the year Imclv Executive’s employment is terminated.

(e) The foregoing provisions are intended to complyhwiite requirements of Section 409A so that
none of the severance payments and benefits toovepd under the Agreement will be subject todlditional tax
imposed under Section 409A, and any ambiguitiesiheavill be interpreted to so comply. Executive dned Company
agree to work together in good faith to consideeadments to the Agreement and to take such reasoaeions
which are necessary, appropriate or desirabledaamposition of any additional tax or income rgadion prior to
actual payment to Executive under Section 409A.

21. Acknowledgment Executive acknowledges that he has had the aputytto discuss this matter with a
obtain advice from his private attorney, has hdticsent time to, and has carefully read and fullyderstands all the
provisions of this Agreement, and is knowingly atuntarily entering into this Agreement.




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties has exettitess Agreement, in the case of the Company by thay
authorized officers, as of the day and year fipstve written.

COMPANY:
NETGEAR, INC.

/s/ Patrick Lo
Patrick Lo Date: September 18, 2014
Chief Executive Officer

EXECUTIVE:

/sl Jeff Capone Date: September 18, 2014
Jeff Capone




Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referéndbe Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N88-1307718, 333-136892, 3336895
333-151638, 333-160869, 333-168349, 333-181892383d196579) of NETGEAR, Inc. of our report datedifeary 20, 2015elating to th

financial statements, financial statement schedntthe effectiveness of internal control over fiicial reporting, which appears in this F
10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California
February 20, 2015



EXHIBIT 31.1
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER CERTIFICATION

I, Patrick C.S. Lo, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fKIETGEAR, Inc. (the “Registrant’

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtéde a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts under which such statements were made, nt#adisg with respect to t
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements,aher financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andlfie@ periods presented in this rep

4. The Registrant's other certifying officer(s) anar¢ responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange /
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrard have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaused such disclosure controls and procedurég tesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhsubsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being preszh

b. Designed such internal control over financial répgr; or caused such internal control over finahoiporting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable amsaraegarding the reliability of financial repogirand the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in atmuoce with generally accepted accounting princjples

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrantdasre controls and procedures and presentedsimeort our conclusions abi
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls armteutures, as of the end of the period covered tsyréport based on st
evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the Regisganternal control over financial reporting tleaicurred during the Registral
most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant's fofigbal quarter in the case of an annual repodj Has materially affected, or
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Regisit's internal control over financial reportingdan

5. The Registrant's other certifying officer(s) anave disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorternal control over financi
reporting, to the Registrant's auditors and theitacminmittee of the Registrant's board of direct¢ws persons performing t
equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contratiofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regigtsaability to record, process, summarize and riefpmaincial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmagement or other employees who have a significd@atin the Registran
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 20, 2015

/s/ PATRICK C.S. LO
Patrick C.S. Lo
Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer
NETGEAR, Inc.




EXHIBIT 31.2

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER CERTIFICATION

[, Christine M. Gorjanc, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fKIETGEAR, Inc. (the “Registrant’

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not comtaynuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtéde a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts under which such statements were made, nt#adisg with respect to t
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements,aher financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andlfie@ periods presented in this rep

4. The Registrant's other certifying officer(s) anar¢ responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange /
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrard have:

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresawsed such disclosure controls and proceduré tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhsubsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being preszh

Designed such internal control over financial réipgr; or caused such internal control over finahoigorting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable amsaraegarding the reliability of financial repogirand the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in atmuoce with generally accepted accounting princjples

Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrantdalisre controls and procedures and presentedsimeport our conclusions ab:
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls armteutures, as of the end of the period covered tsyréport based on st
evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the Regisganternal control over financial reporting tleaicurred during the Registral
most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant's fofigbal quarter in the case of an annual repodj Has materially affected, or
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Regisit's internal control over financial reportingdan

5. The Registrant's other certifying officer(s) dnidave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuaf internal control over financ
reporting, to the Registrant's auditors and theitacmimmittee of the Registrant's board of direct¢ws persons performing t
equivalent functions):

a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regigtsaability to record, process, summarize and riefpmaincial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmagement or other employees who have a significd@tin the Registran
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 20, 2015
By: /s/ CHRISTINE M. GORJANC
Christine M. Gorjanc
Chief Financial Officer
NETGEAR, Inc.




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEYACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of NETGEARgc.Iifthe “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year end®stember 31, 2014as filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#te hereof (the “Report”), Patrick C.S. Lo, Chairman and Chief Executivéi€f of the

Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section0l 2 adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sasb@mley Act of 2002 (“Section 908"
that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934, as amended; ¢

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly prets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operations of
Company.

Date: February 20, 2015

By: /sl PATRICK C.S. LO
Patrick C.S. Lo
Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

This certification accompanies the Form KGe which it relates, is not deemed filed with Securities and Exchange Commission a
not to be incorporated by reference into any filoighe Company under the Securities Act of 198%mended, or the Securities Exchange

of 1934, as amended (whether made before or dfeedate of this Form 1B, irrespective of any general incorporation large contained |
such filing.



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEYACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of NETGEARg Iifthe “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year enddetember 31, 2014as filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission onddwe hereof (the “Report”), Christine M. Gorjanc, Chief Financial Officer tifie

Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section0l 2 adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sasb@mley Act of 2002 (“Section 908"
that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeatsSection 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Ac384, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Reportlfapresents, in all material respects, the finahcbndition and results of operations of
Company.

Date: February 20, 2015

By: /s/ CHRISTINE M. GORJANC
Christine M. Gorjanc
Chief Financial Officer
NETGEAR, Inc.

This certification accompanies the Form KGe which it relates, is not deemed filed with 8exurities and Exchange Commission and is 1
be incorporated by reference into any filing of iempany under the Securities Act of 1933, as astirat the Securities Exchange Ac

1934, as amended (whether made before or aftedale of this Form 1), irrespective of any general incorporation larage contained |
such filing.



